# Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

Scienze Veterinarie

Ciclo XXXII

Settore Concorsuale: **07/H2** Settore Scientifico Disciplinare: **VET/04** 

# Phenotypic and genotypic characterisation of antimicrobial resistance in *Escherichia coli* indicator of animal, food and human origin.

Presentata da: Elisa Massella

Coordinatore Dottorato

Prof. Arcangelo Gentile

Supervisore

Prof. Andrea Serraino

Esame finale anno 2020

# Table of contents

Abbreviations	3
1. Introduction	6
1.1 Antimicrobial resistance: a global One Health Problem	7
1.2 AMR diffusion	7
1.3 The importance of AMR monitoring	9
1.4 E. coli as AMR barometer	9
1.5 AMR in <i>E. coli</i> indicator in Europe.	10
1.5.1 Food-producing animals and related food	11
1.5.2 Vegetables	14
1.5.3 Companion animal	15
1.5.4 Wild animal	15
1.5.5 Human	16
1.6 The genetic basis of AMR	17
1.6.1 Plasmids	23
1.6.2 Class 1 integron	24
1.6.3 Insertion sequences	27
1.6.4 Transposons	27
1.7 References	29
2. Aim of the study	48
3. AMR phenotypic characterisation	50
3.1 Materials and Methods	51
3.1.1 Sampling	51
3.1.2 Strain Isolation	52
3.1.3 Strain molecular characterization	53
3.1.4 Phylotyping	54
3.1.5 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing	57
3.2 Results	60
3.2.1 Antimicrobial resistance phenotypes	60
3.2.2 Phylogroups	62
3.3 Discussion	64
3.3.1 Collective findings	65
3.3.2 Rabbit	69
3.3.3 Poultry	69
3.3.4 Beef	70

3.3.5 RTE vegetable
3.3.6 Wildlife
3.3.7 Companion animals
3.3.8 Human
3.4 References
4. AMR genotypic characterisation
4.1 Paper: <i>Escherichia coli</i> from companion animals, livestock, wildlife and food as potential sources of
A 1 1 A betweet
4.1.1 Abstract
4.1.2 Introduction
4.1.3 Materials and methods
4.1.4 Results
4.1.5 DISCUSSION
4.2. Phylo-typing methods in comparison120
4.3. Agreement between phenotypic resistance and ARGs identification
4.4 References
5. Conclusion
6. Supplementary Material

# Abbreviations

(3-4-5)-GC	(3 <sup>d</sup> -4 <sup>th</sup> -5 <sup>th</sup> )-Generation cephalosporin
ABC	ATP binding cassette efflux pump superfamily
AMP	Ampicillin
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
ARG	Antimicrobial resistance gene
bp	Base pair
BSI	Bloodstream infection
С	Chloramphenicol
CAZ	Ceftazidime
CIA	Critically important antimicrobial
CLSI	Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
CN	Gentamicin
CS	Conserved sequence
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
E. coli	Escherichia coli
ECOFF	Epidemiological cut-off
EFT	Ceftiofur
EHEC	Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli
EMA	European Medicine Agency
ENR	Enrofloxacin
ESBL	Extended spectrum beta-lactamase
ESVAC	European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption
EU	European Union
EUCAST	European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
ExPEC	Extraintestinal Pathogenic Escherichia coli
FPA	Food-producing animal
HGT	Horizontal gene transfer
HP-CIA	Highest priority critically important antimicrobial
In	Integron
Inc	Incompatibility group

intI1 <sup>+ve</sup>	<i>intl1</i> positive strain
intl1 <sup>-ve</sup>	<i>intl1</i> negative strain
IPEC	Intestinal Pathogenic Escherichia coli
IR	Inverted repeat sequence
IS	Insertion Sequence
MATE	Multidrug and toxic compound extrusion efflux pump family
MDR	Multidrug resistance
MEM	Meropenem
MFS	Major facilitator efflux pump superfamily
MGE	Mobile genetic element
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
MLST	Multi-locus sequence typing
MS	Member state
NA	Nalidixic acid
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
ORF	Open reading frame
Pc	Promoter
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
QAC	Quaternary ammonium compound
R	Resistant
RND	Resistance nodulation division efflux pump family
RTE	Ready-to-eat
S	Streptomycin
SMR	Small multidrug resistance efflux pump family
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
ST	Sequence Type
ST	Sulfisoxazole
STEC	Shiga toxigenic Escherichia coli
SXT	Sulfamethozaxole/trimethoprim
TE	Tetracycline
Tn	Transposon
tnp	Transposease

TSA	Tryptone soya agar
UTI	Urinary tract infection
VAG	Virulence associated gene
VGT	Vertical gene transfer
WGS	Whole Genome Sequence/Sequencing
WT	Wild type

# 1. Introduction

## 1.1 Antimicrobial resistance: a global One Health Problem

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is considered a critical and ever-growing threat to human and animal health (WHO, 2018a). In the last decades we have witnessed a dramatic spread and diffusion of multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacterial pathogens, unsusceptible to various antimicrobial classes. In particular, resistance to critically important antimicrobials (HP-CIAs) (including 3<sup>d</sup>-4<sup>th</sup>-5<sup>th</sup> generation cephalosporins, quinolones, macrolides and polymyxins) and diffusion of extended spectrum beta-lactamases (ESBL) producers is of main concern in human medicine (Roca *et al.*, 2015). MDR bacterial infections are particularly worrisome, leading to an increase in treatment failure and hospitalization. AMR claims 700.000 victims globally every year (EFSA, 2018). Future prospects are even worse, attributing to AMR by 2050 an estimated 10 million deaths per year globally, with an economic cost of US \$100 trillion (Tang *et al.*, 2017).

*Enterobacteriaceae* (especially *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae*) represent some of the most important organisms involved in serious human infections in both hospital and community settings (Bortolami *et al.*, 2019). Their frequent and increasing association with ESBL production (McNulty *et al.*, 2018) and carbapenemase resistance (Rodriguez-Bano *et al.*, 2018) is of remarkable concern, limiting therapeutic options and influencing patient outcomes.

## 1.2 AMR diffusion

Antimicrobial resistance arises from selective pressure induced by antimicrobial treatments in human and agricultural systems and environmental pollution with antimicrobial residues. Overall antimicrobial consumption in the European Union (EU) is mostly associated to food-producing animals (FPAs), playing an essential role in AMR emergence and diffusion (EFSA, 2017a). Antimicrobial use (and related selective pressure) is the primary driver allowing AMR spread. However, resistant bacteria and genes have also been identified in ecosystems with a rare or absent direct exposure to antimicrobials. In particular, AMR has been reported in wildlife in different studies (Guenther *et al.*, 2010a; Guenther *et al.*, 2011; Carroll *et al.*, 2015; Vittecoq *et al.*, 2016; Wang *et al.*, 2017). The geographical distribution of AMR bacteria and genes, also in remote areas, derived from the strict interconnection between different environments, sharing habitats and water sources. In this context, soil and water faecal contamination plays a primary role in AMR diffusion between ecosystems (Guenther *et al.*, 2011; Singer *et al.*, 2016). The link between human, animal and environment turns AMR into a global problem, which needs to be faced with a "One Health" approach.



(https://www.ausgem.net)

Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of environments and different potential pathways involved in AMR bacteria and genes diffusion.

## 1.3 The importance of AMR monitoring

AMR data collection from different environments is essential to perform epidemiological evaluations, understand the current state of the AMR problem, develop strategies to promote proper use of antimicrobials in order to reduce their consumption (Fuhrmeister and Jones, 2019). The result of these combined actions should lead to a progressive decrease of antimicrobial selective pressure, hence reducing AMR emergence. Subsequently, antimicrobial treatment efficacy should increase, reducing infection severity, therapeutic failures and health care costs.

Globally, different regional AMR surveillance programs and related databases have been implemented (ECDC - European Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Network, EARS-Net; Central Asian and Eastern European Surveillance of Antimicrobial Resistance, CAESAR; Rede Latinoamericana de Vigilancia de la Resistencia a los Antimicrobianos, ReLAVRA) (WHO, 2018a).

In Europe, constant AMR monitoring of different zoonotic and AMR indicator bacteria in foodproducing animals and related food has been mandatory since 2014. Results are regularly published in the "European Union Summary on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food" by EFSA Authority (EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019).

### 1.4 E. coli as AMR barometer

*Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) is a rod-shaped, Gram-negative, facultative anaerobic bacterium of the family *Enterobacteriaceae*. Usually, it is a commensal colonizer of gut (especially large intestine) in warmblooded animals, representing the prevailing aerobic organism in the gastrointestinal microbiota (Tenaillon *et al.*, 2010). However, it could also arise as an important pathogen, showing an incredible variability in virulence traits. Pathogenic *E. coli* could be divided into 2 main groups: intestinal pathogenic *E. coli* (IPEC), responsible for intestinal infections, and extra-intestinal pathogenic *E. coli* (ExPEC), mainly associated to urinary tract infections (UTIs), meningitis and septicaemia (Kaper *et al.*, 2004). *E. coli* is one of the most common causes of bloodstream infections (BSIs) and community/ hospital associated UTIs worldwide (Ecdc, 2018; WHO, 2018b). Commensal *E. coli* is considered an AMR indicator in Gram-negative bacteria, because of 2 important features, namely its ubiquity and genomic plasticity.

*E. coli* is a common inhabitant of animal and human intestine, but it also represents a widespread environmentally adapted bacteria, widespread in various ecosystems through faecal contamination (Jang *et al.*, 2017). Its genomic plasticity allows frequent and efficient exchange of different genes (including antimicrobial resistance and virulence ones) with other enteric bacteria and the environment. Hence, AMR data obtained from *E. coli* indicator are considered representative of the overall bacterial population and are important to understand the evolution in AMR phenotypic and genotypic pattern (EFSA, 2019). Commensal *E. coli* has been used as AMR indicator in the European AMR monitoring plan (EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019) and in various other studies (Kaesbohrer *et al.*, 2012; Wasyl *et al.*, 2013; Hanon *et al.*, 2015; Osterberg *et al.*, 2016; Lambrecht *et al.*, 2018; Gay *et al.*, 2019).

## 1.5 AMR in *E. coli* indicator in Europe.

The rise of AMR is a public health concern that has led to increased interest in understanding the epidemiological aspects related to its emergence and diffusion. However, limited European AMR data in *E. coli* indicator are currently available.

AMR trend in EU-MSs are regularly published only for limited sources (cattle, poultry and pig), included in the European AMR monitoring plan. Instead, AMR knowledge in other niches is often fragmented and seldom. Moreover, most studies focus on AMR phenotypic evaluation. Furthermore, assessment of AMR genetic determinants is mainly performed with PCR and generally lacks the evaluation of the complex AMR genetic structures involved. This trend is particularly evident in Italian investigations.

Hereafter is a brief summary of the main phenotypic and genetic AMR profile identified in animals (livestock, companion animals, wild animals), food and human in *E. coli* indicator in Europe.

#### 1.5.1 Food-producing animals and related food

Livestock represent an important driver of AMR diffusion, which could occur by direct/indirect contact with humans, related food and environmental (land and water) manure contamination (Seiffert *et al.*, 2013; Blaak *et al.*, 2014a; Dahms *et al.*, 2015; Economou and Gousia, 2015; Fletcher, 2015). Moreover, these sources could represent an important AMR reservoir, where foodborne pathogens could pick up new antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs), hence acquiring new antimicrobial resistant traits (Verraes *et al.*, 2013).

High population size and high demand for meat coming from food-producing animals in the EU Member States (MSs) (http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/, last accessed October 2019) are driving European AMR monitoring, focused on limited AMR reservoirs (cattle, pig, turkey and chicken) for human (EFSA, 2014; EFSA, 2015; EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019). Antimicrobial usage and selective pressure associated with these breeding species may play a primary role in AMR spread, if compared to those of other livestock categories, less represented in the European FPA system.

The last EFSA report shows variability in AMR occurrence in pigs and veal calves under one year in the EU-MSs. However, phenotypic AMR similarities have been identified. In both sources, overall resistance to tetracycline, sulfamethoxazole, ampicillin and trimethoprim was high. Chloramphenicol resistance was detected at a moderate level, meanwhile gentamicin, nalidixic acid, 3<sup>d</sup> generation cephalosporins (3-GCs) (ceftazidime and cefuroxime), azithromycin and colistin resistance was overall low. Meropenem resistance was not observed. Ciprofloxacin resistance was detected at a low and moderate level in pig and veal calves under one year respectively (EFSA, 2019). A similar AMR profile has also been reported in pig and cattle meat, with the exception of chloramphenicol, whose resistance was rarely observed in both sources (EFSA, 2014).

Broiler and turkey also presented similar phenotypic AMR profile, despite variation have been observed in EU-MSs. Resistance to tetracycline, quinolones (nalidixic acid and enrofloxacin), ampicillin, sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim has been frequently reported. Moderate chloramphenicol

11

resistance has been observed, meanwhile resistance to gentamicin, 3-GCs (ceftazidime and cefuroxime) and colistin was overall low. Meropenem resistance was observed only in one broiler isolates from Cyprus (EFSA, 2018). For these sources, AMR data from related meat were reported voluntarily from a limited number of EU-MSs (3) and were generally concordant with those identified in animals (EFSA, 2018).

AMR data observed in swine, calves and poultry animals were similar to those of the previous EFSA reports (EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b), despite higher variability in chloramphenicol and quinolones resistance was reported in pig/poultry and pig/cattle respectively among EU-MSs.

Different European studies are generally in accordance with EFSA findings, reporting tetracycline, sulfamethoxazole, ampicillin and trimethoprim as common AMR resistant profiles in poultry, veal calves/beef cattle and pig (Bywater *et al.*, 2004; Szmolka *et al.*, 2011; Chantziaras *et al.*, 2014; Borjesson *et al.*, 2016; Osterberg *et al.*, 2016) and high quinolone resistance in poultry farms (de Jong *et al.*, 2012; Literak *et al.*, 2013; Hricova *et al.*, 2017). However, variations in AMR profile have been observed and probably derived from the different antimicrobial usage in livestock categories in each country.

Another important food-producing sector is represented by dairy farms. Europe is the first region for global milk production (http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/, last accessed October 2019). Most studies are focused on the pathogen *E. coli* and related AMR in dairy cattle (Orden *et al.*, 2000; Hendriksen *et al.*, 2008; Bengtsson *et al.*, 2009; Ruusunen *et al.*, 2013; de Jong *et al.*, 2018), given the high economic costs and the potential transmission of zoonotic pathogen to workers and surrounding environment. The risk related to foodborne pathogen diffusion trough dairy products is rare. Dairy products usually undergo treatments such as heating, acidification and fermentation that reduce or remove bacterial contamination altogether (Little *et al.*, 2008; Dehkordi *et al.*, 2014). However, inadequate milk pasteurization or post-processing bacterial contamination could be responsible for pathogen recovery in milk and related product (Little *et al.*, 2008). Dietary habits have changed in the last few years, determining an increase in demand of raw milk and raw milk products, which potentially are

important pathogen and AMR bacteria carriers (in particular Shiga toxin Escherichia coli - STEC)

(Baylis, 2009; Oliver *et al.*, 2009; Trevisani *et al.*, 2014). Raw dairy products may pose a risk to public health and need to be monitored. Nowadays limited AMR studies are available in *E. coli* indicator isolated from dairy animal and related products in Europe.

Beta-lactams (penicillin, ampicillin, amoxicillin, cephalothin), tetracycline, aminoglycosides (streptomycin) and sulfonamides (sulfamethoxazole, sulfisoxazole, sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim) resistance is reported as the most common type despite variation in phenotypic antimicrobial profile. Resistance to quinolones varied from low to moderate among European countries (Miranda *et al.*, 2009; Dehkordi *et al.*, 2014; Duse *et al.*, 2015; Nobili *et al.*, 2016). Various studies associated dairy source to carriage of ESBL genes (Gonggrijp *et al.*, 2016; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016; Odenthal *et al.*, 2016; Heuvelink *et al.*, 2019), suggesting its potential role in ESBL genes diffusion even though resistance to 3-GCs was rarely reported (Miranda *et al.*, 2009; Dehkordi *et al.*, 2014; Nobili *et al.*, 2009; Dehkordi *et al.*, 2015; Nobili *et al.*, 2014; Duse *et al.*, 2009; Dehkordi *et al.*, 2015; Nobili *et al.*, 2016; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016; Odenthal *et al.*, 2016; Heuvelink *et al.*, 2019), suggesting its potential role in ESBL genes diffusion even though resistance to 3-GCs was rarely reported (Miranda *et al.*, 2009; Dehkordi *et al.*, 2014; Duse *et al.*, 2015; Nobili *et al.*, 2016).

New food-producing systems such as rabbit, fishery and mollusc productions have become increasingly important in UE-MSs in the last few decades.

Rabbit farms have drawn little attention despite Europe being the second region after Asia for rabbit and hares production (with Italy in the top 5 producer list in 2017) (http://www.fao.org/faostat; accessed October 2019). Indeed, rabbit production has been rarely associated to foodborne pathogens and therefore it has been perceived as a "safe" food-producing sector. Only fragmented European data about AMR in breeding rabbits and related meat are available, describing resistance to tetracyclines (tetra-doxycycline), penicillins/aminopenicillins (ampicillin, amoxicillin), aminoglycosides gentamicin), quinolones (ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid) and sulfonamides (streptomycin, (sulphadiazine, sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim) as common phenotypic AMR resistance profile (Blanco et al., 1994; Dotto et al., 2014; Medina et al., 2015; Freitas-Silva et al., 2018). Moreover, rabbit has been recently associated with colistin resistance gene mcr1 carriage (Agnoletti et al., 2018; Freitas-Silva *et al.*, 2018), suggesting its potential role in *mcr1* diffusion.

Aquaculture is a growing breeding system, whose production is estimated to reach 4 million tonnes by 2030 (FAO, 2016). Antimicrobials use in aquaculture is rare (FVE, 2016) and this could be the reason

13

behind the scarcity of data we have regarding the use of antimicrobials and AMR resistance in this production system.

Aquaculture usually undergoes a low direct antimicrobial selective pressure. Therefore, AMR identified in this ecosystem usually derives from AMR environmental pollution associated to other sources (human, animal) (Baquero *et al.*, 2008) and usually spreads through faecal contamination (Guenther *et al.*, 2011). Sewage and runoff from land have been hypothesised as the main carrier of AMR bacteria and genes (Martinez, 2009; Alves *et al.*, 2014; Baliere *et al.*, 2015).

To the best of our knowledge only limited phenotypic antimicrobial resistance studies in *E. coli* indicator have been performed in aquaculture in Europe (Sousa *et al.*, 2011; Grevskott *et al.*, 2017). These investigations reported beta-lactams (amoxicillin, ampicillin, 3d generation cephalosporins), aminoglycosides (streptomycin, gentamicin), tetracyclines (tetracycline, doxycycline) and sulfonamides (sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim) resistance as the most common. Third-generation cephalosporin, amphenicol, nitrofuran and quinolone resistance were observed less frequently (Grevskott *et al.*, 2017).

#### 1.5.2 Vegetables

Vegetables are essential for a healthy human diet. They are rich in micro/macro- nutrients that help us against a wide range of diseases (Dehghan *et al.*, 2013; Aliasgharzadeh *et al.*, 2015; Farhangi *et al.*, 2016). However, vegetables also represent an important source of AMR bacteria and genes, acquired from contaminated manure or irrigational water in primary production (Mercanoglu Taban and Halkman, 2011; Schwaiger *et al.*, 2011) or during food processing (Rasheed *et al.*, 2014).

In particular, ready-to-eat (RTE) products could pose a higher risk to public health compared to traditional vegetables. Producers normally guarantee RTE product standards, therefore no additional washing step is recommended before their consumption (Rodriguez-Caturla *et al.*, 2012). Unfortunately previous food processing steps could make RTE-vegetables a highly risky carrier of AMR and pathogenic bacteria.

Vegetables have been rarely investigated in Europe despite the growing demand for vegetables and their potential role in human exposure to AMR (Campos *et al.*, 2013).

Generally, resistance to ampicillin, tetracycline, aminoglycosides, sulfonamides has been widely reported in vegetables (Ruimy *et al.*, 2010; Campos *et al.*, 2013; Holvoet *et al.*, 2013; Jensen *et al.*, 2013). Chloramphenicol, 3-GC and quinolone resistance was reported at low levels (Campos *et al.*, 2013; Holvoet *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, different studies evaluated the role of vegetables as a possible reservoir of ESBL producers, identifying in many cases ESBL strains and genes associated to these food products (Egea *et al.*, 2011; Holvoet *et al.*, 2013; Reuland *et al.*, 2014; van Hoek *et al.*, 2019).

#### **1.5.3 Companion animal**

AMR data of commensal *E. coli* in companion animals is limited in Europe. Generally, low levels of resistance have been identified, with ampicillin, streptomycin, tetracycline and sulfonamide resistance as the most common phenotypic AMR profile. Phenotypic resistance to fluoroquinolones and 3-GCs was usually not observed or identified at a low level (Costa *et al.*, 2008a; Damborg *et al.*, 2008). However, different studies identified companion animals as carriers of ESBL and AmpC genes, conferring potential resistance to most beta-lactams antimicrobials (Costa *et al.*, 2004; Carattoli *et al.*, 2005; Ewers *et al.*, 2012; Belas *et al.*, 2014). These data are particularly worrisome considering that nowadays cats and dogs live in strict relationships with human, with frequent physical contacts (by touching, petting and licking) and sharing the same household (Guardabassi *et al.*, 2004a). This could allow transmission of AMR (but also pathogen) bacteria between pets and human (Guardabassi *et al.*, 2004a; Reeves *et al.*, 2011; Martins *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.5.4 Wild animal

Wild animals have received increasing attention in the last few years because of their potential role as AMR reservoir, carriers and bioindicators (Dolejska *et al.*, 2007; Literak *et al.*, 2010). Wildlife is considered as a "free-antimicrobials" environment, where the emergence of resistance is strictly related to AMR pollution from human-related environments. The remoteness of the area, livestock and

human density, and association degree with human activity (Skurnik et al., 2006; Allen et al., 2010) represent the most important parameters, influencing bacterial resistance observed in wild animals. Streptomycin, ampicillin/amoxicillin, tetracycline and sulfonamides represented the most common phenotypic resistant profile in E. coli indicator and Enterobacteriaceae (Costa et al., 2008b; Guenther et al., 2010b; Literak et al., 2010; Giacopello et al., 2016), despite variations in AMR profile in wildlife were observed in different studies. HP-CIAs (3-GCs, quinolones, meropenem and colistin) resistance was overall low or absent (Costa et al., 2008b; Guenther et al., 2010b; Literak et al., 2010; Giacopello et al., 2016), except in one study where resistance to 3-GC was observed at a moderate level (Costa, Poeta et al. 2008). Notably, various studies reported ESBL (Simões et al., 2010; Garmyn et al., 2011; Wallensten et al., 2011; Stedt et al., 2015; Alcala et al., 2016; Atterby et al., 2017; Oteo et al., 2018) and carbapenem (Fischer et al., 2013; Dolejska et al., 2015; Giacopello et al., 2016; Vergara et al., 2017; Vittecoq et al., 2017; Bouaziz et al., 2018) genetic determinants in Enterobacteriaceae isolated from wild birds worldwide, suggesting their potential role as reservoir and carriers of HP-CIAs resistant bacteria. Presumably, wild birds acquire these AMR profiles from human and agricultural environments, which they attend for better living conditions (availability of food source and refuges, absence of natural predators). However, their migratory movements could determine dissemination of the acquired AMR profile in other human-related environments or remote areas (Bonnedahl and Järhult, 2014), allowing an alarming spread of AMR to HP-CIAs.

#### 1.5.5 Human

Most human studies focus on *E. coli* pathogens and their AMR profile (Bielaszewska *et al.*, 2011; Frank *et al.*, 2011; Kappeli *et al.*, 2011; Beutin and Martin, 2012; Fruth *et al.*, 2015; Januszkiewicz *et al.*, 2015), attempting to obtain valuable epidemiological AMR data associated to clinical settings. However, gut microbiota could represent a perfect environment for emergence and diffusion of AMR, due to the high bacterial population and the important selective pressure associated to antimicrobial treatments. Moreover, it could represent an important AMR source of human pathogens (Penders *et al.*, 2013; Brinkac *et al.*, 2017). Actual data report ampicillin, tetracycline and sulfonamides resistance as the most common AMR phenotypic profile in human commensal *E. coli*. Resistance rate to chloramphenicol and streptomycin was variable (Pallecchi *et al.*, 2007; Skurnik *et al.*, 2008; Bailey *et al.*, 2010; Johnson *et al.*, 2012; Tadesse *et al.*, 2012), meanwhile 3-GCs and quinolone resistance was generally not observed (Skurnik *et al.*, 2008; Bailey *et al.*, 2010; Johnson *et al.*, 2012; Tadesse *et al.*, 2012). To the best of our knowledge, phenotypic colistin and carbapenem resistance were never reported in commensal *E. coli* from human origin.

Notably, different studies observed ESBL genes carriage in human commensal *E. coli* (Rodríguez-Baño *et al.*, 2008; Guimaraes *et al.*, 2009; Vinué *et al.*, 2009; Hammerum *et al.*, 2011; Karanika *et al.*, 2016; van Duijkeren *et al.*, 2017), suggesting humans as potential reservoir of ESBL producers.

# 1.6 The genetic basis of AMR

Bacteria represent the "micro-environment" where genetic AMR mechanisms develop in response to selective pressure and diffuse through horizontal gene transfer (HGT) in the microbial population.

AMR is mediated by specific genes conferring resistance by the following mechanisms: antimicrobial enzymatic degradation, antimicrobial target alteration, bacterial cell wall modification and alternative metabolic pathways to elude antimicrobial action (Tenover, 2006). The acquisition of these genes by a microbe is the result of de novo chromosomal mutation (transmitted to daughter cells via vertical gene transfer (VGT) or transfer from other bacteria via HGT (Tenover, 2006).

Antimicrobial class	Antimicrobial resistance genes	Source	Reference
Aminoglycoside	aadA	human	Guimaraes et al., 2009
	aac(3')-11	rabbit	Medina <i>et al.</i> , 2015
	aac(3)-IVa	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.,</i> 2017
	aac(3)-IVa	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
	aac(3')-IV	rabbit	Medina <i>et al.</i> , 2015
		cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
	aadA1	rabbit	Dotto <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		swine	Carattoli <i>et al.,</i> 2017
		swine	Szmolka <i>et al.</i> , 2011
		cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.,</i> 2014
		poultry	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2013
		seabream	Sousa <i>et al.,</i> 2011
		willife	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2010
	aadA5	rabbit	Dotto <i>et al.</i> , 2014
	aadA1, aadA5	swine	Guenther et al., 2017
	aph(3')-1c	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
	aph(4)-1a	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
	aadA, strA-strB	carp farms	Piotrowska et al., 2017
	strA-B, aac(3')-IId, aph(3')-Ia; aadA5	bivalve mollusc	Grevskott et al, 2017
	aadA, strA-B	vegetable	Campos et al., 2013
	strA	willife	Literak <i>et al.,</i> 2010
	strA/B	swine	Guenther <i>et al.</i> , 2017
		swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
		swine	Szmolka <i>et al.</i> , 2011
		poultry	Literak <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Amphenicol	catA	vegetable	Campos et al., 2013
	catA1	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
		cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		bivalve mollusc	Grevskott et al., 2017
	cmlA	cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		seabream	Sousa <i>et al.</i> , 2011
		human	Guimaraes et al., 2009
		willife	Alcala et al., 2016
	cmlA1	swine	Guenther <i>et al.</i> , 2017
		human	Bailey et al., 2010
	catI, cmlA6	human	Pallecchi <i>et al.,</i> 2007
	floR	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
Beta-lactam	bla <sub>тем</sub>	rabbit	Medina <i>et al.</i> , 2015
		vegetable	Campos et al., 2013
		cattle	Ibrahim <i>et al.</i> , 2016
		cattle	Odenthal <i>et al.</i> , 2016
		cattle	Heuvelink <i>et al.</i> , 2019

Table 1.1 Representative antimicrobial resistance genetic determinants identified in animal, food and human sources

Antimicrobial class	Antimicrobial resistance genes	Source	Reference
Beta-lactam	<i>bla</i> тем	poultry	Ghodousi <i>et al.,</i> 2015
		human	Pallecchi <i>et al.,</i> 2007
		human	Bailey et al., 2010
		comapnion animal	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2005
		wildlife	Literak <i>et al.,</i> 2010
	<i>bla</i> тем-1ь	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
		swine	Guenther et al., 2017
		swine	Szmolka <i>et al.,</i> 2011
		poultry	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2013
		wildlife	Alcala <i>et al.</i> , 2016
	<i>bla</i> <sub>TEM-52</sub>	cattle	Gonggrijp <i>et al.,</i> 2016
		swine	Overdevest et al., 2011
		human	Vinué <i>et al.</i> , 2009
		comapnion animal	Costa <i>et al.</i> , 2004
	<i>bla</i> тем-52, <i>bla</i> shv-12	seabream	Sousa <i>et al.</i> , 2011
	bla <sub>CTX-M</sub>	cattle	Ibrahim <i>et al.</i> , 2016
	blaCTX-M-1	swine	Guenther et al., 2017
		cattle	Dolejska <i>et al.</i> , 2011
		comapnion animal	Costa <i>et al.</i> , 2004
		comapnion animal	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2005
	<i>bla</i> стх-м14	poultry	Borjesson et al., 2016
		human	Hammerum et al., 2011
	<i>bla</i> стх-м9	rabbit	Medina <i>et al.</i> , 2015
	<i>bla</i> ctx-m1,2	swine	Overdevest et al., 2011
	<i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M1,14</sub>	wildlife	Alcala <i>et al.,</i> 2016
	<i>bla</i> стх-м1,52	wildlife	Literak <i>et al.,</i> 2010
	<i>bla</i> стх-м1,2,9	poultry	Ghodousi <i>et al.</i> , 2015
	<i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M1-14-15</sub>	vegetable	Reuland et l., 2014*
	<i>bla</i> стх-м15,1,2,3	swine	Borjesson et al., 2016
		cattle	Borjesson et al., 2016
	<i>bla</i> стх-м1,2,9	cattle	Heuvelink et al., 2019
	<i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M1,8,14,32</sub>	human	Vinué <i>et al.</i> , 2009
	<i>bla</i> стх-м1,2,8,9	cattle	Odenthal <i>et al.</i> , 2016
	<i>bla</i> стх-м1,9,15,32	comapnion animal	Belas <i>et al.</i> , 2014
	<i>bla</i> стх-м1,2,14,15,32,55	cattle	Gonggrijp <i>et al.,</i> 2016
	<i>bla</i> стх-м1,14,15,32,55	wildlife	Atterby <i>et al.</i> , 2017
	$bla_{\text{CTX-M1}}$ , $bla_{\text{TEM52}}$ , and $bla_{\text{SHV12}}$	human	Guimaraes <i>et al.</i> , 2009
	<i>bla</i> <sub>TEM1b-1c</sub> , <i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M14-15</sub>	mollusc	Grevskott <i>et al.</i> , 2017
	bla <sub>OXA</sub>	cattle	Ibrahim <i>et al.</i> , 2016
	$bla_{\rm CMY}$	cattle	Heuvelink <i>et al.</i> , 2019
	<i>bla</i> сму-2	swine	Borjesson <i>et al.</i> , 2016
		cattle	Borjesson <i>et al.</i> , 2016
	bla <sub>СМҮ-2</sub>	poultry	Borjesson <i>et al.</i> , 2016

Antimicrobial class	Antimicrobial resistance genes	Source	Reference
· · · · · ·	bla <sub>CMY-2</sub>	cattle	Gonggrijp et al., 2016
		human	Hammerum <i>et al.</i> , 2011
		comapnion animal	Carattoli <i>et al.,</i> 2005
		comapnion animal	Belas <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		willife	Alcala et al., 2016
	<i>bla</i> <sub>SHV</sub>	cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		cattle	Odenthal <i>et al.</i> , 2016
		poultry	Ghodousi <i>et al.,</i> 2015
	<i>bla</i> shv12	vegetable	Egea <i>et al.</i> , 2011
		vegetable	van Hoek <i>et al.</i> , 2015
		vegetable	Reuland <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		swine	Overdevest et al., 2011
		willife	Alcala et al., 2016
		comapnion animal	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2005
		willife	Atterby et al., 2017
colistin	mcr1	rabbit	Agnoletti <i>et al.,</i> 2018
		rabbit	Freitas-Silva et al., 2018
		turkey	Perrin-Guyomard et al., 2016
		broyler	Perrin-Guyomard et al., 2016
		swine	Guenther et al., 2017
	<i>mcr1-3</i>	cattle	Hernandez <i>et al.,</i> 2017
	mcr4	swine	Carattoli <i>et al.,</i> 2017
quinolone	qnr	cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
	qnrA	poultry	Ghodousi et al., 2015
	qnrS1	swine	Szmolka <i>et al.,</i> 2011
		bivalve mollusc	Grevskott et al, 2017
	qnrB19, qnrS1	poultry	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2013
	gyrA, parC	rabbit	Medina <i>et al.</i> , 2015
		human	Guimaraes et al., 2009
	oqxA/B	rabbit	Dotto <i>et al.</i> , 2014
sulfonamides	sul1	cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
	sul2	swine	Szmolka <i>et al.</i> , 2011
	sul3	swine	Guenther et al., 2017
	sul1,2	vegetable	Campos et al., 2013
		swine	Guenther et al., 2017
		swine	Carattoli <i>et al.,</i> 2017
		human	Pallecchi <i>et al.</i> , 2007
		willife	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2010
		bivalve mollusc	Grevskott et al, 2017
	sul1, sul3	human	Guimaraes et al., 2009
	sul1,sul2,sul3	poultry	Literak <i>et al.,</i> 2013
		seabream	Sousa <i>et al.</i> , 2011

•

•

•

.

Antimicrobial class	Antimicrobial resistance genes	Source	Reference
	sul1, sul2, sul3	human	Bailey et al., 2010
		willife	Alcala et al., 2016
tetracycline	tetA	swine	Szmolka <i>et al.</i> , 2011
		marine aquaculture	Rodriguez-Blanco et al., 2012
		human	Guimaraes et al., 2009
	tetA,tetB	rabbit	Medina <i>et al.</i> , 2015
		vegetable	Campos et al., 2013
		swine	Guenther et al., 2017
		dairy cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
		poultry	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2013
		human	Pallecchi <i>et al.</i> , 2007
		wildlife	Alcala <i>et al.</i> , 2016
		wildlife	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2010
	tetA-B-D	bivalve mollusc	Grevskott et al., 2017
	oqxA/B	rabbit	Dotto <i>et al.</i> , 2014
trimethoprim	dfrA1	rabbit	Dotto <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		swine	Carattoli <i>et al.</i> , 2017
		dairy cattle	Dehkordi <i>et al.</i> , 2014
		poultry	Literak <i>et al.</i> , 2013
	dfrA12	swine	Szmolka <i>et al.</i> , 2011
	dfrA1-dfrA12	vegetable	Campos et al., 2013
	dfrA1-dfrA17	swine	Guenther et al., 2017
	dfrA5-A14-A17	bivalve mollusc	Grevskott et al., 2017
	dfrA1, dfrA7, dfrA8, dfrA17	human	Pallecchi <i>et al.</i> , 2007
	dfrA1, dfrA5, dfrA7, dfrA12 or dfrA17	human	Bailey <i>et al.</i> , 2010

Table 1.1 .. $\$ 

HGT represents an extremely efficient mechanism to exchange a great variety of genes, including ARGs between bacteria of the same or different species. The enrichment of bacterial genetic pool drives and promotes microbial AMR evolution.

The three main HGT mechanisms in the bacterial population are:

- conjugation: DNA transfer between bacterial cell through direct contact between donor and recipient cell;
- transformation: uptake of environmental DNA by bacterial cell;
- transduction: bacteriophage-mediated DNA transfer in a bacterial cell (Soucy *et al.*, 2015).

In particular, conjugation is recognised to play a primary role in ARGs diffusion among bacterial population (Mathur and Singh, 2005). This mechanism (but also the others described) relies on mobile genetic elements (MGEs) like plasmids and transposons (Tns), which facilitate the transfer and incorporation of exogenous DNA (including ARGs) in the host cell. These MGEs could also be arranged/gathered into insertion sequences (ISs) or integrons (Ins) in complex assemblages (Verraes *et al.*, 2013).



<sup>(</sup>Geenen et al., 2011)

Figure 1.2 Main mechanisms of horizontal gene transfer in bacteria.

a. Transformation: naked DNA is taken up from the surrounding environment; b. Transduction: transfer of genetic material from a donor to a recipient cell through a bacteriophage intermediate; c. Conjugation: DNA is transferred from the donor to the recipient cell via a conjugation pilus. (Geenen *et al.*, 2011)

#### 1.6.1 Plasmids

Plasmids are circular, extra-chromosomal DNA molecules with extremely variable size (less than a kilobase to several megabases), able to replicate independently. Their structure normally includes a backbone of housekeeping genes encoding replicative functions, and accessory regions. The latter are usually made up of numerous genes conferring resistance to antimicrobials, heavy metals and virulence genes. Also gene-associated MGEs (IS, Tn, In) could be present (Frost *et al.*, 2005; Fernández-Alarcón *et al.*, 2011; Shintani *et al.*, 2015).

A common plasmid classification is based on the "incompatibility phenomenon", whereby closely related plasmids sharing the same replication mechanism could not coexist and be propagated in the same cell. (Shintani *et al.*, 2015). Plasmids with the identical replication control are included in the same incompatibility (Inc) group. Inc groups in *Enterobacteriaceae* are divided in A/C, B/O, D, F, G, H, I, K, J, L/M, N, P, Q, R, T, U, W, X, Y,Z Col and related variants (Rozwandowicz *et al.*, 2018).

Plasmids represent an important vehicle for AMR. Their AMR genetic region often results from recombination events between transposons, insertions sequences and other plasmids (Szmolka and Nagy, 2013). Multi-resistant plasmids usually encode resistance to different antimicrobial classes, including aminoglycosides,  $\beta$ -lactams, phenicols, quinolones, tetracyclines, and sulfonamides (Carattoli, 2013). In particular, IncA/C, IncF, IncI1, IncHI1 and IncN seem to play an important role in multiple antimicrobial determinants dissemination (Szczepanowski *et al.*, 2005; Carattoli and chemotherapy, 2009; Cain *et al.*, 2010; Venturini *et al.*, 2010; Fernandez-Alarcon *et al.*, 2011; Cain and Hall, 2012; Wibberg *et al.*, 2013).

Different HP-CIAs ARGs have been identified on different major plasmid families, summarised hereafter:

Inc group	Resistance genes		
	AmpC beta-lactamases ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CMY2-4</sub> );		
A/C	ESBL ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M-2-3-14-15-56</sub> );		
	Metallo beta-lactamases ( <i>bla</i> <sub>IMP-4-8-13</sub> , <i>bla</i> <sub>VIM-4</sub> )		
	ESBL ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M1-2-3-9-14-15-24-27</sub> );		
F	AmpC beta-lactamases ( <i>bla</i> CMY2);		
	Quinolones (qnrA1, qnrB2, qnrB4, qnrB6, qnrB19, qnrS1)		
HI2	ESBL ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M-2-3-9-14</sub> );		
	Metallo beta-lactamases ( <i>bla</i> IMP-4, <i>bla</i> VIM);		
	Quinolones (qnrA1, qnrS1)		
	AmpC beta-lactamases ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CMY-2-7-21</sub> );		
<b>I</b> 1	ESBL ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M-1-2-3-9-14-15-24</sub> );		
11	Metallo beta-lactamases ( <i>bla</i> VIM-1);		
	Quinolones (qnrA1)		
	ESBL ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M-1-3-15-42</sub> );		
L/M	Metallo beta-lactamases ( <i>bla</i> <sub>IMP-4-8</sub> );		
	Quinolones (qnrA1, qnrB1, qnrB2, qnrB4, qnrS1)		
N	Carpanemeases ( $bla_{KPC-2}$ );		
	ESBL ( <i>bla</i> <sub>CTX-M-1-3-15-32-40</sub> );		
	Metallo beta-lactamases ( <i>blavim-1</i> )		
	Quinolones (qnrA3, qnrB2, qnrB19, qnrS1)		

(Carattoli et al., 2009; modified)

Table 1.2 Major plasmid families and associated HP-CIA ARGs identified in Enterobacteriaceae from animal and human origin worldwide.

#### 1.6.2 Class 1 integron

Various classes of integrons have been described but only 3 (class 1, 2, 3 integron) have been associated to AMR (Kaushik *et al.*, 2018). Among the latter, class 1 integron is the most diffused and clinically important type among enteric bacteria (Labbate *et al.*, 2009; Deng *et al.*, 2015). It is recognised as a primary source of ARGs (Kheiri and Akhtari, 2016) and plays an essential role in the dissemination and evolution of MDR among Gram-negative bacteria (Prapasawat *et al.*, 2017). A typical class 1 integron structure is characterised by:

- 2 conserved sequences:
  - 5'-CS composed by
    - a gene (*intl1*) encoding for a site-specific integrase (intl1), responsible for the insertion of free gene cassettes into the variable region at the attl site;
    - an attachment site (attI), where gene cassettes are inserted;
    - a promoter (Pc), which express gene cassettes inserted in the variable region;
  - $\circ$  3'-CS composed by
    - sul1 gene, conferring resistance to sulfonamides;
    - a truncated copy of *qacE* gene (*qacE*Δ1), conferring resistance to quaternary ammonium compounds;
    - ORF5, encoding a protein of unknown function:
- 1 variable region, characterised by a variable number of gene cassettes;
- 25 bp inverted repeat sequences (IRi, IRt), bounding integron structure (Carattoli, 2001).



Figure 1.3 Schematic representation of a class 1 integron showing 5` and 3` conserved segments, attI and attC recombination sites and gene cassettes.

Gene cassettes consist of an open reading frame (ORF) and a recombination site (attC). An integrasemediated reaction between attI and attC allows gene cassettes recombination into the variable region of the integron (Labbate *et al.*, 2009). Approximately 130 different gene cassettes have been identified conferring resistance to numerous antimicrobials ( $\beta$ -lactams, all aminoglycosides, chloramphenicol, streptomycin, trimethoprim, rifampin, erythromycin, quinolones, fosfomycin and lincomycin) (Deng *et al.*, 2015).

Atypical class 1 integrons do not exhibit the classic structure. They are the result of recombination events or interruption of IS elements. One example is the *sul3* module, replacing the 3'-CS in *sul3*-associated integrons. It comprises a putative transposase of IS440 (*tnp440*), a sulfonamide resistance gene (*sul3*), two hypothetical proteins (*orfA* and *orfB*) and the macrolide efflux gene (*mefB*) truncated by IS26 (Moran *et al.*, 2016).



(Moran et al., 2016)

Figure 1.4 *sul3*-associated class 1 integron showing the *sul3*-module (blue) and IS26 insertion.

*sul3* associated class1 integron has been observed in commensal and pathogen *E. coli* from animal and human origin worldwide (Bischoff *et al.*, 2005; Sunde *et al.*, 2008; Sáenz *et al.*, 2010; Moran *et al.*, 2016).

Class 1 integrons are not independently mobile, therefore their diffusion depends on plasmid and transposon (especially those belonging to Tn*3* family) availability (Labbate *et al.*, 2009). In particular, the Tn*3* family member Tn*21* transposon, in association to class 1 integron, has played a primary role in AMR diffusion (Liebert *et al.*, 1999).

#### **1.6.3 Insertion sequences**

Insertion sequences are small (0.7 - 2.5 kb) mobile genetic elements, characterised by 1 (sometimes 2) transposase gene (*tnp*) and bonded by inverted repeat sequences (IRs). They are able to insert themselves in different sites in a genome (Siguier *et al.*, 2015). Usually, their ability to move ARGs is associated to composite transposon formation. This structure is assembled by a central region, flanked by 2 copies of the same or related IS elements. IS families are numerous and associated to a wide variety of ARGs (Partridge *et al.*, 2018).

IS26 is one of the most widespread members and it has been frequently associated with different antimicrobial regions in important clinical plasmids (Loli *et al.*, 2006; Doublet *et al.*, 2008; Cullik *et al.*, 2010; Zienkiewicz *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.6.4 Transposons

Transposons are MGEs characterised by a *tnp* gene and delimited by IRs. They are able to self-excise and insert in non-homologous DNA molecules. They often carry different genes, including ARGs, and could be associated to ISs or integrons or inserted in plasmids (Partridge *et al.*, 2018). (Partridge *et al.*, 2018). Within *E. coli* common transposons include derivatives of Tn*3*, Tn*5*, Tn*7* associated to ampicillin, kanamycin and trimethoprim and streptomycin resistance respectively (Iyer *et al.*, 2013).

In particular, Tn21 is a widely diffused member of the Tn3 family with a complex and variable structure, including a *mer* resistant region (conferring mercury resistance) (Figure 1.5.). It is important in AMR diffusion because it is usually associated with integron platform and various ARGs (Siguier *et al.*, 2015). The co-association between class 1 integron and Tn21 family members/related variants is reported as common in clinical isolates (Betteridge *et al.*, 2011).



(Liebert *et al.*, 1999)

Figure 1.5 Schematic representation of Tn21 structure.

In conclusion, AMR is an ever-growing phenomenon in rapid evolution. Current knowledge is focused on AMR in limited niches. Food-producing animals have drawn most attention (in particular poultry, cattle, swine) for the potential transmission of AMR bacteria through related foodstuff and the AMR genetic pool made available for foodborne pathogens. The need for comprehensive AMR knowledge in all the ecosystems is impellent, considering the rapid spread and exchange of ARGs between commensal, environmental and pathogen bacteria, allowed by the strict interconnection between environments and HGT.

# **1.7 References**

- AGNOLETTI, F., BRUNETTA, R., BANO, L., DRIGO, I. & MAZZOLINI, E. 2018. Longitudinal study on antimicrobial consumption and resistance in rabbit farming. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 51, 197-205.
- ALCALA, L., ALONSO, C. A., SIMON, C., GONZALEZ-ESTEBAN, C., OROS, J., REZUSTA, A., ORTEGA, C. & TORRES, C. 2016. Wild Birds, Frequent Carriers of Extended-Spectrum beta-Lactamase (ESBL) Producing Escherichia coli of CTX-M and SHV-12 Types. *Microb Ecol*, 72, 861-9.
- ALIASGHARZADEH, A., KHALILI, M., MIRTAHERI, E., POURGHASSEM GARGARI, B., TAVAKOLI, F., ABBASALIZAD FARHANGI, M., BABAEI, H. & DEHGHAN, P. 2015. A Combination of Prebiotic Inulin and Oligofructose Improve Some of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in Women with Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. *Adv Pharm Bull*, 5, 507-14.
- ALLEN, H. K., DONATO, J., WANG, H. H., CLOUD-HANSEN, K. A., DAVIES, J. & HANDELSMAN, J. 2010. Call of the wild: antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 8, 251.
- ALVES, M. S., PEREIRA, A., ARAUJO, S. M., CASTRO, B. B., CORREIA, A. C. & HENRIQUES, I. 2014. Seawater is a reservoir of multi-resistant Escherichia coli, including strains hosting plasmidmediated quinolones resistance and extended-spectrum beta-lactamases genes. *Front Microbiol*, 5, 426.
- ATTERBY, C., BORJESSON, S., NY, S., JARHULT, J. D., BYFORS, S. & BONNEDAHL, J. 2017. ESBLproducing Escherichia coli in Swedish gulls-A case of environmental pollution from humans? *PLoS One*, 12(12): e0190380.
- BAILEY, J. K., PINYON, J. L., ANANTHAM, S. & HALL, R. M. 2010. Commensal Escherichia coli of healthy humans: a reservoir for antibiotic-resistance determinants. *J Med Microbiol*, 59, 1331-9.
- BALIERE, C., RINCE, A., BLANCO, J., DAHBI, G., HAREL, J., VOGELEER, P., GIARD, J. C., MARIANI-KURKDJIAN, P. & GOURMELON, M. 2015. Prevalence and Characterization of Shiga Toxin-Producing and Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli in Shellfish-Harvesting Areas and Their Watersheds. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 1356.
- BAQUERO, F., MARTÍNEZ, J.-L. & CANTÓN, R. 2008. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in water environments. *Curr Opin Biotechnol*, 19, 260-5.
- BAYLIS, C. L. 2009. Raw milk and raw milk cheeses as vehicles for infection by Verocytotoxinproducing Escherichia coli. *Int J Dairy Technol*, 62, 293-307.

- BELAS, A., SALAZAR, A. S., GAMA, L. T., COUTO, N. & POMBA, C. 2014. Risk factors for faecal colonisation with Escherichia coli producing extended-spectrum and plasmid-mediated AmpC beta-lactamases in dogs. *Vet Rec*, 175, 202.
- BENGTSSON, B., UNNERSTAD, H. E., EKMAN, T., ARTURSSON, K., NILSSON-OST, M. & WALLER, K. P. 2009. Antimicrobial susceptibility of udder pathogens from cases of acute clinical mastitis in dairy cows. *Vet Microbiol*, 136, 142-9.
- BETTERIDGE, T., PARTRIDGE, S. R., IREDELL, J. R., STOKES, H. J. A. A. & CHEMOTHERAPY 2011. Genetic context and structural diversity of class 1 integrons from human commensal bacteria in a hospital intensive care unit. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 55, 3939-43.
- BEUTIN, L. & MARTIN, A. 2012. Outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) 0104:H4 infection in Germany causes a paradigm shift with regard to human pathogenicity of STEC strains. *J Food Prot*, 75, 408-18.
- BIELASZEWSKA, M., MELLMANN, A., ZHANG, W., KÖCK, R., FRUTH, A., BAUWENS, A., PETERS, G. & KARCH, H. 2011. Characterisation of the Escherichia coli strain associated with an outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome in Germany, 2011: a microbiological study. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 11, 671-6.
- BISCHOFF, K. M., WHITE, D. G., HUME, M. E., POOLE, T. L. & NISBET, D. J. 2005. The chloramphenicol resistance gene cmlA is disseminated on transferable plasmids that confer multiple-drug resistance in swine Escherichia coli. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 243, 285-91.
- BLAAK, H., DE KRUIJF, P., HAMIDJAJA, R. A., VAN HOEK, A. H., DE RODA HUSMAN, A. M. & SCHETS, F. M.
   J. V. M. 2014a. Prevalence and characteristics of ESBL-producing E. coli in Dutch recreational waters influenced by wastewater treatment plants. *Vet Microbiol*, 171, 448-59.
- BLANCO, J. E., BLANCO, M., BLANCO, J., RIOJA, L. & DUCHA, J. 1994. Serotypes, toxins and antibiotic resistance of Escherichia coli strains isolated from diarrhoeic and healthy rabbits in Spain. *Vet Microbiol*, 38, 193-201.

BONNEDAHL, J. & JÄRHULT, J. D. 2014. Antibiotic resistance in wild birds. Ups J Med Sci, 119, 113-6.

BORJESSON, S., NY, S., EGERVARN, M., BERGSTROM, J., ROSENGREN, A., ENGLUND, S., LOFMARK, S. & BYFORS, S. 2016. Limited Dissemination of Extended-Spectrum beta-Lactamase- and Plasmid-Encoded AmpC-Producing Escherichia coli from Food and Farm Animals, Sweden. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 22, 634-40.

- BORTOLAMI, A., ZENDRI, F., MACIUCA, E. I., WATTRET, A., ELLIS, C., SCHMIDT, V., PINCHBECK, G. & TIMOFTE, D. J. F. I. M. 2019. Diversity, Virulence, and Clinical Significance of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase-and pAmpC-Producing Escherichia coli From Companion Animals. *Front Microbiol*, 10.
- BOUAZIZ, A., LOUCIF, L., AYACHI, A., GUEHAZ, K., BENDJAMA, E. & ROLAIN, J.-M. J. M. D. R. 2018.
   Migratory white stork (Ciconia ciconia): a potential vector of the OXA-48-producing Escherichia coli ST38 clone in Algeria. *Microb Drug Resist*, 24, 461-8.
- BRINKAC, L., VOORHIES, A., GOMEZ, A. & NELSON, K. E. 2017. The Threat of Antimicrobial Resistance on the Human Microbiome. *Microb Ecol*, 74, 1001-8.
- BUSCHMANN, A. H., TOMOVA, A., LOPEZ, A., MALDONADO, M. A., HENRIQUEZ, L. A., IVANOVA, L., MOY,
   F., GODFREY, H. P. & CABELLO, F. C. 2012. Salmon aquaculture and antimicrobial resistance in
   the marine environment. *PLoS One*, 7, e42724.
- BYWATER, R., DELUYKER, H., DEROOVER, E., DE JONG, A., MARION, H., MCCONVILLE, M., ROWAN, T., SHRYOCK, T., SHUSTER, D., THOMAS, V., VALLE, M. & WALTERS, J. 2004. A European survey of antimicrobial susceptibility among zoonotic and commensal bacteria isolated from foodproducing animals. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 54, 744-54.
- CAIN, A. K. & HALL, R. M. J. J. O. A. C. 2012. Evolution of a multiple antibiotic resistance region in IncHI1 plasmids: reshaping resistance regions in situ. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 67, 2848-53.
- CAIN, A. K., LIU, X., DJORDJEVIC, S. P. & HALL, R. M. J. M. D. R. 2010. Transposons related to Tn 1696 in IncHI2 plasmids in multiply antibiotic resistant Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium from Australian animals. *Microb Drug Resist*, 16, 197-202.
- CAMPOS, J., MOURÃO, J., PESTANA, N., PEIXE, L., NOVAIS, C. & ANTUNES, P. 2013. Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat salads: an underestimated vehicle of bacteria and clinically relevant antibiotic resistance genes. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 166, 464-70.

CARATTOLI, A. 2001. Importance of integrons in the diffusion of resistance. Vet Res, 32, 243-59.

CARATTOLI, A. 2013. Plasmids and the spread of resistance. Int J Med Microbiol, 303, 298-304.

CARATTOLI, A. & CHEMOTHERAPY 2009. Resistance plasmid families in Enterobacteriaceae. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 53, 2227-38.

- CARATTOLI, A., LOVARI, S., FRANCO, A., CORDARO, G., DI MATTEO, P., BATTISTI, A. J. A. A. & CHEMOTHERAPY 2005. Extended-spectrum β-lactamases in Escherichia coli isolated from dogs and cats in Rome, Italy, from 2001 to 2003. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 49, 833-5.
- CARATTOLI, A., VILLA, L., FEUDI, C., CURCIO, L., ORSINI, S., LUPPI, A., PEZZOTTI, G. & MAGISTRALI, C. F. 2017. Novel plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mcr-4 gene in Salmonella and Escherichia coli, Italy 2013, Spain and Belgium, 2015 to 2016. *Euro Surveill*, 22.
- CARROLL, D., WANG, J., FANNING, S. & MCMAHON, B. 2015. Antimicrobial resistance in wildlife: implications for public health. *Zoonoses Public Health*, 62, 534-42.
- CHANTZIARAS, I., BOYEN, F., CALLENS, B. & DEWULF, J. 2014. Correlation between veterinary antimicrobial use and antimicrobial resistance in food-producing animals: a report on seven countries. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 69, 827-34.
- COSTA, D., POETA, P., BRIÑAS, L., SÁENZ, Y., RODRIGUES, J. & TORRES, C. 2004. Detection of CTX-M-1 and TEM-52 β-lactamases in Escherichia coli strains from healthy pets in Portugal. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 54, 960-1.
- COSTA, D., POETA, P., SÁENZ, Y., COELHO, A. C., MATOS, M., VINUÉ, L., RODRIGUES, J. & TORRES, C. 2008a. Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance and resistance genes in faecal Escherichia coli isolates recovered from healthy pets. *Vet Microbiol*, 127, 97-105.
- COSTA, D., POETA, P., SÁENZ, Y., VINUÉ, L., COELHO, A. C., MATOS, M., ROJO-BEZARES, B., RODRIGUES, J. & TORRES, C. 2008b. Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli isolates recovered from wild animals. *Microb Drug Resist*, 14, 71-7.
- CULLIK, A., PFEIFER, Y., PRAGER, R., BAUM, H. V. & WITTE, W. 2010. A novel IS26 structure is surrounding blaCTX-M genes in different plasmids of German clinical isolates of Escherichia coli. *J Med Microbiol*, 59, 580-7.
- DAHMS, C., HÜBNER, N.-O., KOSSOW, A., MELLMANN, A., DITTMANN, K. & KRAMER, A. 2015. Occurrence of ESBL-producing Escherichia coli in livestock and farm workers in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, Germany. *PLoS One*, 10, e0143326.
- DAMBORG, P., SØRENSEN, A. H. & GUARDABASSI, L. 2008. Monitoring of antimicrobial resistance in healthy dogs: first report of canine ampicillin-resistant Enterococcus faecium clonal complex 17. *Vet Microbiol*, 132, 190-6.

- DE JONG, A., GARCH, F. E., SIMJEE, S., MOYAERT, H., ROSE, M., YOUALA, M. & SIEGWART, E. 2018. Monitoring of antimicrobial susceptibility of udder pathogens recovered from cases of clinical mastitis in dairy cows across Europe: VetPath results. *Vet Microbiol*, 213, 73-81.
- DE JONG, A., STEPHAN, B. & SILLEY, P. 2012. Fluoroquinolone resistance of Escherichia coli and Salmonella from healthy livestock and poultry in the EU. *J Appl Microbiol*, 112, 239-45.
- DEHGHAN, P., POURGHASSEM GARGARI, B. & ASGHARIJAFARABADI, M. 2013. Effects of high performance inulin supplementation on glycemic status and lipid profile in women with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Health Promot Perspect*, **3**, 55-63.
- DEHKORDI, F. S., YAZDANI, F., MOZAFARI, J. & VALIZADEH, Y. 2014. Virulence factors, serogroups and antimicrobial resistance properties of Escherichia coli strains in fermented dairy products. *BMC Res Notes*, 7, 217.
- DENG, Y., BAO, X., JI, L., CHEN, L., LIU, J., MIAO, J., CHEN, D., BIAN, H., LI, Y. & YU, G. 2015. Resistance integrons: class 1, 2 and 3 integrons. *Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob*, 14, 45.
- DOLEJSKA, M., CIZEK, A. & LITERAK, I. 2007. High prevalence of antimicrobial-resistant genes and integrons in Escherichia coli isolates from black-headed gulls in the Czech Republic. *J Appl Microbiol*, 103, 11-9.
- DOLEJSKA, M., JURCICKOVA, Z., LITERAK, I., POKLUDOVA, L., BURES, J., HERA, A., KOHOUTOVA, L., SMOLA, J. & CIZEK, A. 2011. IncN plasmids carrying bla CTX-M-1 in Escherichia coli isolates on a dairy farm. *Vet Microbiol*, 149, 513-6.
- DOLEJSKA, M., MASARIKOVA, M., DOBIASOVA, H., JAMBOROVA, I., KARPISKOVA, R., HAVLICEK, M., CARLILE, N., PRIDDEL, D., CIZEK, A. & LITERAK, I. 2015. High prevalence of Salmonella and IMP-4-producing Enterobacteriaceae in the silver gull on Five Islands, Australia. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 71, 63-70.
- DOTTO, G., GIACOMELLI, M., GRILLI, G., FERRAZZI, V., CARATTOLI, A., FORTINI, D. & PICCIRILLO, A. 2014. High prevalence of oqxAB in Escherichia coli isolates from domestic and wild lagomorphs in Italy. *Microb Drug Resist*, 20, 118-23.
- DOUBLET, B., PRAUD, K., WEILL, F.-X. & CLOECKAERT, A. 2008. Association of IS 26-composite transposons and complex In4-type integrons generates novel multidrug resistance loci in Salmonella genomic island 1. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 63, 282-9.

- DUSE, A., WALLER, K. P., EMANUELSON, U., UNNERSTAD, H. E., PERSSON, Y. & BENGTSSON, B. 2015. Risk factors for antimicrobial resistance in fecal Escherichia coli from preweaned dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 98, 500-16.
- ECDC 2018. Summary of the latest data on antibiotic resistance in the European Union. Available from: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/summary-latest-data-antibiotic-</u> <u>resistance-european-union.</u>
- ECONOMOU, V. & GOUSIA, P. 2015. Agriculture and food animals as a source of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria. *Infect Drug Resist*, 8, 49-61.
- EFSA 2014. The European Union Summary Report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2012. *EFSA Journal*, 12(3): 3590.
- EFSA 2015. EU Summary Report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2013. *EFSA Journal*, 13(2): 4036.
- EFSA 2016. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2014. *EFSA Journal*, 14(2): 4380. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2017a. ECDC/EFSA/EMA second joint report on the integrated analysis of the consumption of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from humans and food-producing animals. *EFSA Journal*, 15(7): 4872. Available from: <a href="https://www.efsa.europa.eu">https://www.efsa.europa.eu</a>.
- EFSA 2017b. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2015. *EFSA Journal*, 15(2): 4694. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2018. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2016. *EFSA Journal*, 16(2): 5182. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2019. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2017. *EFSA Journal*, 17(2): 5598. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.

- EGEA, P., LOPEZ-CERERO, L., NAVARRO, M., RODRIGUEZ-BANO, J. & PASCUAL, A. 2011. Assessment of the presence of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli in eggshells and ready-to-eat products. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*, 30, 1045.
- EWERS, C., BETHE, A., SEMMLER, T., GUENTHER, S. & WIELER, L. H. 2012. Extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing and AmpC-producing Escherichia coli from livestock and companion animals, and their putative impact on public health: a global perspective. *Clin Microbiol Infect,* 18, 646-55.
- FAO 2016. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2016. Contributing to food security and nutrition for all. Rome. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org</u>.
- FARHANGI, M. A., JAVID, A. Z. & DEHGHAN, P. 2016. The effect of enriched chicory inulin on liver enzymes, calcium homeostasis and hematological parameters in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Prim Care Diabetes*, 10, 265-71.
- FERNANDEZ-ALARCON, C., SINGER, R. S. & JOHNSON, T. J. 2011. Comparative genomics of multidrug resistance-encoding IncA/C plasmids from commensal and pathogenic Escherichia coli from multiple animal sources. *PLoS One*, 6, e23415.
- FERNÁNDEZ-ALARCÓN, C., SINGER, R. S. & JOHNSON, T. J. J. P. O. 2011. Comparative genomics of multidrug resistance-encoding IncA/C plasmids from commensal and pathogenic Escherichia coli from multiple animal sources. 6, e23415.
- FISCHER, J., SCHMOGER, S., JAHN, S., HELMUTH, R. & GUERRA, B. 2013. NDM-1 carbapenemaseproducing Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serovar Corvallis isolated from a wild bird in Germany. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 68, 2954-6.
- FLETCHER, S. 2015. Understanding the contribution of environmental factors in the spread of antimicrobial resistance. *Environ Health Prev Med*, 20, 243.
- FRANK, C., WERBER, D., CRAMER, J. P., ASKAR, M., FABER, M., AN DER HEIDEN, M., BERNARD, H.,
  FRUTH, A., PRAGER, R., SPODE, A., WADL, M., ZOUFALY, A., JORDAN, S., KEMPER, M. J., FOLLIN,
  P., MULLER, L., KING, L. A., ROSNER, B., BUCHHOLZ, U., STARK, K. & KRAUSE, G. 2011. Epidemic
  profile of Shiga-toxin-producing Escherichia coli 0104:H4 outbreak in Germany. *N Engl J Med*,
  365, 1771-80.
- FREITAS-SILVA, J., INÁCIO, Â. S., MOURÃO, J., ANTUNES, P., MENDES, Â., DE CARVALHO, A. P., VASCONCELOS, V., PEIXE, L. & DA COSTA, P. M. 2018. Occurrence of mcr-1 in Escherichia coli from rabbits of intensive farming. *Vet Microbiol*, 227, 78-81.
- FROST, L. S., LEPLAE, R., SUMMERS, A. O. & TOUSSAINT, A. 2005. Mobile genetic elements: the agents of open source evolution. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, **3**, 722.
- FRUTH, A., PRAGER, R., TIETZE, E., RABSCH, W. & FLIEGER, A. 2015. Molecular epidemiological view on Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli causing human disease in Germany: Diversity, prevalence, and outbreaks. *Int J Med Microbiol*, 305, 697-704.
- FUHRMEISTER, A. S. & JONES, R. N. The Importance of Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring Worldwide and the Origins of SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program. Open forum infectious diseases, 2019. Oxford University Press US, S1-S4.
- FVE 2016. Antimicrobial use in food-producing animals. Replies to EFSA/EMA questions on the use of antimicrobials in food-producing animals in EU and possible measures to reduce antimicrobial use. Available from: <a href="https://www.ema.europa.eu">https://www.ema.europa.eu</a>.
- GAO, P., MAO, D., LUO, Y., WANG, L., XU, B. & XU, L. 2012. Occurrence of sulfonamide and tetracyclineresistant bacteria and resistance genes in aquaculture environment. *Water Res*, 46, 2355-64.
- GARMYN, A., HAESEBROUCK, F., HELLEBUYCK, T., SMET, A., PASMANS, F., BUTAYE, P. & MARTEL, A. 2011. Presence of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli in wild geese. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 66, 1643-4.
- GAY, E., BOUR, M., CAZEAU, G., JARRIGE, N., MARTINEAU, C., MADEC, J. Y. & HAENNI, M. 2019. Antimicrobial Usages and Antimicrobial Resistance in Commensal Escherichia coli From Veal Calves in France: Evolution During the Fattening Process. *Front Microbiol*, 10, 792.
- GEENEN, P., KOENE, M., BLAAK, H., HAVELAAR, A. & VAN DE GIESSEN, A. 2011. Risk profile on antimicrobial resistance transmissible from food animals to humans. Bilthoven, the Netherlands. Availabre from: <u>https://www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/330334001.pdf</u>.
- GHODOUSI, A., BONURA, C., DI NOTO, A. M. & MAMMINA, C. 2015. Extended-Spectrum ss-Lactamase, AmpC-Producing, and Fluoroquinolone-Resistant Escherichia coli in Retail Broiler Chicken Meat, Italy. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 12, 619-25.
- GIACOPELLO, C., FOTI, M., MASCETTI, A., GROSSO, F., RICCIARDI, D., FISICHELLA, V. & PICCOLO, F. 2016. Antimicrobial resistance patterns of Enterobacteriaceae in European wild bird species admitted in a wildlife rescue centre. *Vet Ital*, 52, 139-44.

- GONGGRIJP, M. A., SANTMAN-BERENDS, I., HEUVELINK, A. E., BUTER, G. J., VAN SCHAIK, G., HAGE, J. J.
   & LAM, T. 2016. Prevalence and risk factors for extended-spectrum beta-lactamase- and AmpC-producing Escherichia coli in dairy farms. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 9001-13.
- GREVSKOTT, D. H., SVANEVIK, C. S., SUNDE, M., WESTER, A. L. & LUNESTAD, B. T. 2017. Marine Bivalve Mollusks As Possible Indicators of Multidrug-Resistant Escherichia coli and Other Species of the Enterobacteriaceae Family. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 24.
- GUARDABASSI, L., SCHWARZ, S. & LLOYD, D. 2004a. Pet animals as reservoirs of antimicrobialresistant bacteria. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 54, 321-32.
- GUENTHER, S., EWERS, C. & WIELER, L. 2011. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases producing E. coli in wildlife, yet another form of environmental pollution? *Front Microbiol*, *2*, 246.
- GUENTHER, S., FALGENHAUER, L., SEMMLER, T., IMIRZALIOGLU, C., CHAKRABORTY, T., ROESLER, U. & ROSCHANSKI, N. 2017. Environmental emission of multiresistant Escherichia coli carrying the colistin resistance gene mcr-1 from German swine farms. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 72, 1289-92.
- GUENTHER, S., GROBBEL, M., BEUTLICH, J., BETHE, A., FRIEDRICH, N. D., GOEDECKE, A., LÜBKE-BECKER, A., GUERRA, B., WIELER, L. H. & EWERS, C. 2010a. CTX-M-15-type extended-spectrum beta-lactamases-producing Escherichia coli from wild birds in Germany. *Environ Microbiol Rep*, 2, 641-5.
- GUENTHER, S., GROBBEL, M., LÜBKE-BECKER, A., GOEDECKE, A., FRIEDRICH, N. D., WIELER, L. H. & EWERS, C. 2010b. Antimicrobial resistance profiles of Escherichia coli from common European wild bird species. *Vet Microbiol*, 144, 219-25.
- GUIMARAES, B., BARRETO, A., RADHOUANI, H., FIGUEIREDO, N., GASPAR, E., RODRIGUES, J., TORRES,
   C., IGREJAS, G. & POETA, P. 2009. Genetic detection of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase containing Escherichia coli isolates and vancomycin-resistant enterococci in fecal samples of
   healthy children. *Microb Drug Resist*, 15, 211-6.
- HAMMERUM, A., LESTER, C., JAKOBSEN, L., PORSBO, L. & INFECTION 2011. Faecal carriage of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing and AmpC β-lactamase-producing bacteria among Danish army recruits. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 17, 566-8.
- HANON, J. B., JASPERS, S., BUTAYE, P., WATTIAU, P., MEROC, E., AERTS, M., IMBERECHTS, H., VERMEERSCH, K. & VAN DER STEDE, Y. 2015. A trend analysis of antimicrobial resistance in

commensal Escherichia coli from several livestock species in Belgium (2011-2014). *Prev Vet Med*, 122, 443-52.

- HENDRIKSEN, R. S., MEVIUS, D. J., SCHROETER, A., TEALE, C., MEUNIER, D., BUTAYE, P., FRANCO, A., UTINANE, A., AMADO, A., MORENO, M., GREKO, C., STARK, K., BERGHOLD, C., MYLLYNIEMI, A. L., WASYL, D., SUNDE, M. & AARESTRUP, F. M. 2008. Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance among bacterial pathogens isolated from cattle in different European countries: 2002-2004. *Acta Vet Scand*, 50, 28.
- HERNANDEZ, M., IGLESIAS, M. R., RODRIGUEZ-LAZARO, D., GALLARDO, A., QUIJADA, N., MIGUELA-VILLOLDO, P., CAMPOS, M. J., PIRIZ, S., LOPEZ-OROZCO, G., DE FRUTOS, C., SAEZ, J. L., UGARTE-RUIZ, M., DOMINGUEZ, L. & QUESADA, A. 2017. Co-occurrence of colistin-resistance genes mcr-1 and mcr-3 among multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli isolated from cattle, Spain, September 2015. *Euro Surveill*, 22.
- HEUVELINK, A. E., GONGGRIJP, M. A., BUTER, R. G. J., TER BOGT-KAPPERT, C. C., VAN SCHAIK, G., VELTHUIS, A. G. J. & LAM, T. 2019. Prevalence of extended-spectrum and AmpC betalactamase-producing Escherichia coli in Dutch dairy herds. *Vet Microbiol*, 232, 58-64.
- HOLVOET, K., SAMPERS, I., CALLENS, B., DEWULF, J. & UYTTENDAELE, M. 2013. Moderate prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in Escherichia coli isolates from lettuce, irrigation water, and soil. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 79, 6677-83.
- HRICOVA, K., RODEROVA, M., PUDOVA, V., HANULIK, V., HALOVA, D., JULINKOVA, P., DOLEJSKA, M., PAPOUSEK, I. & BARDON, J. 2017. Quinolone-resistant Escherichia coli in Poultry Farming. *Cent Eur J Public Health*, 25, 163-7.
- IBRAHIM, D. R., DODD, C. E., STEKEL, D. J., RAMSDEN, S. J. & HOBMAN, J. L. 2016. Multidrug resistant, extended spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL)-producing Escherichia coli isolated from a dairy farm. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 92, fiw013.
- IYER, A., BARBOUR, E., AZHAR, E., EL SALABI, A. A., HASSAN, H. M. A., QADRI, I., CHAUDHARY, A., ABUZENADAH, A., KUMOSANI, T. & DAMANHOURI, G. 2013. Transposable elements in Escherichia coli antimicrobial resistance. *Adv Biosci Biotechnol*, 4, 415.
- JANG, J., HUR, H. G., SADOWSKY, M. J., BYAPPANAHALLI, M., YAN, T. & ISHII, S. 2017. Environmental Escherichia coli: ecology and public health implications—a review. 123, 570-81.

- JANUSZKIEWICZ, A., WOLKOWICZ, T., CHROST, A. & SZYCH, J. 2015. Characterization of the Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli O26 isolated from human in Poland between 1996 and 2014. *Lett Appl Microbiol*, 60, 605-8.
- JENSEN, A. N., STORM, C., FORSLUND, A., BAGGESEN, D. L. & DALSGAARD, A. 2013. Escherichia coli contamination of lettuce grown in soils amended with animal slurry. *J Food Prot*, 76, 1137-44.
- JIANG, H. X., TANG, D., LIU, Y. H., ZHANG, X. H., ZENG, Z. L., XU, L. & HAWKEY, P. M. 2012. Prevalence and characteristics of beta-lactamase and plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes in Escherichia coli isolated from farmed fish in China. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 67, 2350-3.
- JOHNSON, T. J., LOGUE, C. M., JOHNSON, J. R., KUSKOWSKI, M. A., SHERWOOD, J. S., BARNES, H. J., DEBROY, C., WANNEMUEHLER, Y. M., OBATA-YASUOKA, M., SPANJAARD, L. & DISEASE 2012. Associations between multidrug resistance, plasmid content, and virulence potential among extraintestinal pathogenic and commensal Escherichia coli from humans and poultry. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 9, 37-46.
- KAESBOHRER, A., SCHROETER, A., TENHAGEN, B. A., ALT, K., GUERRA, B., APPEL, B. J. Z. & HEALTH, P. 2012. Emerging antimicrobial resistance in commensal Escherichia coli with public health relevance. *Zoonoses Public Health*, 59, 158-65.
- KAPER, J. B., NATARO, J. P. & MOBLEY, H. L. 2004. Pathogenic escherichia coli. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 2, 123.
- KAPPELI, U., HACHLER, H., GIEZENDANNER, N., BEUTIN, L. & STEPHAN, R. 2011. Human infections with non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli, Switzerland, 2000-2009. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17, 180-5.
- KARANIKA, S., KARANTANOS, T., ARVANITIS, M., GRIGORAS, C. & MYLONAKIS, E. 2016. Fecal Colonization With Extended-spectrum Beta-lactamase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae and Risk Factors Among Healthy Individuals: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *Clin Infect Dis*, 63, 310-8.
- KAUSHIK, M., KUMAR, S., KAPOOR, R. K., VIRDI, J. S. & GULATI, P. 2018. Integrons in Enterobacteriaceae: diversity, distribution and epidemiology. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 51, 167-76.
- KHEIRI, R. & AKHTARI, L. 2016. Antimicrobial resistance and integron gene cassette arrays in commensal Escherichia coli from human and animal sources in IRI. *Gut Pathog*, 8, 40.

- KIM, S. R., NONAKA, L. & SUZUKI, S. 2004. Occurrence of tetracycline resistance genes tet(M) and tet(S) in bacteria from marine aquaculture sites. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 237, 147-56.
- LABBATE, M., CASE, R. J. & STOKES, H. W. 2009. The integron/gene cassette system: an active player in bacterial adaptation. *Methods Mol Biol*, 532, 103-25.
- LAMBRECHT, E., VAN MEERVENNE, E., BOON, N., VAN DE WIELE, T., WATTIAU, P., HERMAN, L., HEYNDRICKX, M. & VAN COILLIE, E. 2018. Characterization of Cefotaxime- and Ciprofloxacin-Resistant Commensal Escherichia coli Originating from Belgian Farm Animals Indicates High Antibiotic Resistance Transfer Rates. *Microb Drug Resist*, 24, 707-17.
- LIEBERT, C. A., HALL, R. M. & SUMMERS, A. 1999. Transposon Tn21, flagship of the floating genome. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, 63, 507-22.
- LITERAK, I., DOLEJSKA, M., RADIMERSKY, T., KLIMES, J., FRIEDMAN, M., AARESTRUP, F. M., HASMAN, H. & CIZEK, A. 2010. Antimicrobial-resistant faecal Escherichia coli in wild mammals in central Europe: multiresistant Escherichia coli producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in wild boars. *J Appl Microbiol*, 108, 1702-11.
- LITERAK, I., REITSCHMIED, T., BUJNAKOVA, D., DOLEJSKA, M., CIZEK, A., BARDON, J., POKLUDOVA, L., ALEXA, P., HALOVA, D. & JAMBOROVA, I. 2013. Broilers as a source of quinolone-resistant and extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli in the Czech Republic. *Microb Drug Resist*, 19, 57-63.
- LITTLE, C. L., RHOADES, J. R., SAGOO, S. K., HARRIS, J., GREENWOOD, M., MITHANI, V., GRANT, K. & MCLAUCHLIN, J. 2008. Microbiological quality of retail cheeses made from raw, thermized or pasteurized milk in the UK. *Food Microbiol*, 25, 304-12.
- LOLI, A., TZOUVELEKIS, L., TZELEPI, E., CARATTOLI, A., VATOPOULOS, A., TASSIOS, P. & MIRIAGOU, V. 2006. Sources of diversity of carbapenem resistance levels in Klebsiella pneumoniae carrying bla VIM-1. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 58, 669-72.
- MARTINEZ, J. 2009. Environmental pollution by antibiotics and by antibiotic resistance determinants. *Environ Pollut*, 157, 2893-902.
- MARTINS, L. R. L., PINA, S. M. R., SIMOES, R. L. R., DE MATOS, A. J. F., RODRIGUES, P. & DA COSTA, P. 2013. Common phenotypic and genotypic antimicrobial resistance patterns found in a case study of multiresistant E. coli from cohabitant pets, humans, and household surfaces. *J Environ Health*, 75, 74-82.

- MATHUR, S. & SINGH, R. 2005. Antibiotic resistance in food lactic acid bacteria—a review. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 105, 281-95.
- MCNULTY, C. A., LECKY, D. M., XU-MCCRAE, L., NAKIBONEKA-SSENABULYA, D., CHUNG, K.-T., NICHOLS, T., THOMAS, H. L., THOMAS, M., ALVAREZ-BUYLLA, A. & TURNER, K. 2018. CTX-M ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae: estimated prevalence in adults in England in 2014. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 73, 1368-88.
- MEDINA, A., DE LA FUENTE, R., BADIOLA, I., DE ROZAS, A. P., ORDEN, J. A. & RUIZ-SANTA QUITERIA, J.
   A. 2015. Antimicrobial Resistance in Commensal Escherichia Coli Isolates from Rabbits. *Rev Cient*, 25, 38-42.
- MERCANOGLU TABAN, B. & HALKMAN, A. K. 2011. Do leafy green vegetables and their ready-to-eat [RTE] salads carry a risk of foodborne pathogens? *Anaerobe*, 17, 286-7.
- MIRANDA, J., MONDRAGON, A., VAZQUEZ, B., FENTE, C., CEPEDA, A. & FRANCO, C. 2009. Microbiological quality and antimicrobial resistance of Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus isolated from conventional and organic "Arzúa-Ulloa" cheese. *CYTA J Food*, 7, 103-10.
- MORAN, R. A., HOLT, K. E. & HALL, R. 2016. pCERC3 from a commensal ST95 Escherichia coli: a ColV virulence-multiresistance plasmid carrying a sul3-associated class 1 integron. *Plasmid*, 84, 11-9.
- NGUYEN, H. N., VAN, T. T., NGUYEN, H. T., SMOOKER, P. M., SHIMETA, J. & COLOE, P. J. 2014. Molecular characterization of antibiotic resistance in Pseudomonas and Aeromonas isolates from catfish of the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. *Vet Microbiol*, 171, 397-405.
- NOBILI, G., FRANCONIERI, I., BASANISI, M. G., LA BELLA, G., TOZZOLI, R., CAPRIOLI, A. & LA SALANDRA, G. 2016. Short communication: Isolation of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli in raw milk and mozzarella cheese in southern Italy. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 7877-80.
- ODENTHAL, S., AKINEDEN, Ö. & USLEBER, E. 2016. Extended-spectrum β-lactamase producing Enterobacteriaceae in bulk tank milk from German dairy farms. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 238, 72-8.
- OLIVER, S. P., BOOR, K. J., MURPHY, S. C. & MURINDA, S. E. 2009. Food safety hazards associated with consumption of raw milk. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 6, 793-806.
- ORDEN, J. A., RUIZ-SANTA-QUITERIA, J. A., GARCIA, S., CID, D. & DE LA FUENTE, R. 2000. In vitro susceptibility of Escherichia coli strains isolated from diarrhoeic dairy calves to 15 antimicrobial agents. *J Vet Med B Infect Dis Vet Public Health*, 47, 329-35.

- OSTERBERG, J., WINGSTRAND, A., NYGAARD JENSEN, A., KEROUANTON, A., CIBIN, V., BARCO, L., DENIS, M., AABO, S. & BENGTSSON, B. 2016. Antibiotic Resistance in Escherichia coli from Pigs in Organic and Conventional Farming in Four European Countries. *PLoS One*, **11**, e0157049.
- OTEO, J., MENCIA, A., BAUTISTA, V., PASTOR, N., LARA, N., GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ, F., GARCÍA-PEÑA, F. J. & CAMPOS, J. 2018. Colonization with Enterobacteriaceae-Producing ESBLs, AmpCs, and OXA-48 in Wild Avian Species, Spain 2015–2016. *Microb Drug Resist*, 24, 932-8.
- OVERDEVEST, I., WILLEMSEN, I., RIJNSBURGER, M., EUSTACE, A., XU, L., HAWKEY, P., HECK, M., SAVELKOUL, P., VANDENBROUCKE-GRAULS, C., VAN DER ZWALUW, K., HUIJSDENS, X. & KLUYTMANS, J. 2011. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamase genes of Escherichia coli in chicken meat and humans, The Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17, 1216-22.
- PALLECCHI, L., LUCCHETTI, C., BARTOLONI, A., BARTALESI, F., MANTELLA, A., GAMBOA, H., CARATTOLI, A., PARADISI, F., ROSSOLINI, G. M. J. A. A. & CHEMOTHERAPY 2007. Population structure and resistance genes in antibiotic-resistant bacteria from a remote community with minimal antibiotic exposure. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 51, 1179-84.
- PARTRIDGE, S. R., KWONG, S. M., FIRTH, N. & JENSEN, S. O. 2018. Mobile genetic elements associated with antimicrobial resistance. *Clin Microbiol Rev,* 31, e00088-17.
- PENDERS, J., STOBBERINGH, E. E., SAVELKOUL, P. H. & WOLFFS, P. 2013. The human microbiome as a reservoir of antimicrobial resistance. *Front Microbiol*, 4, 87.
- PERRIN-GUYOMARD, A., BRUNEAU, M., HOUÉE, P., DELEURME, K., LEGRANDOIS, P., POIRIER, C., SOUMET, C. & SANDERS, P. 2016. Prevalence of mcr-1 in commensal Escherichia coli from French livestock, 2007 to 2014. *Euro Surveill*, 21.
- PIOTROWSKA, M., RZECZYCKA, M., OSTROWSKI, R. & POPOWSKA, M. 2017. Diversity of Antibiotic Resistance Among Bacteria Isolated from Sediments and Water of Carp Farms Located in a Polish Nature Reserve. *Pol J Environ Stud*, 26.
- PRAPASAWAT, W., INTARAPUK, A., CHOMPOOK, P., NAKAJIMA, C., SUZUKI, Y. & SUTHIENKUL, O. 2017.
   Antimicrobial resistance, integron, virulence gene, and multilocus sequence typing of Escherichia Coli isolates from postweaning piglets with and without diarrhea. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health*, 48, 1042-55.
- RASHEED, M. U., THAJUDDIN, N., AHAMED, P., TEKLEMARIAM, Z. & JAMIL, K. 2014. Antimicrobial drug resistance in strains of Escherichia coli isolated from food sources. *Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo*, 56, 341-6.

- REEVES, P. R., LIU, B., ZHOU, Z., LI, D., GUO, D., REN, Y., CLABOTS, C., LAN, R., JOHNSON, J. R. & WANG, L. 2011. Rates of mutation and host transmission for an Escherichia coli clone over 3 years. *PLoS One,* 6, e26907.
- REULAND, E., AL NAIEMI, N., RAADSEN, S., SAVELKOUL, P., KLUYTMANS, J. & VANDENBROUCKE-GRAULS, C. 2014. Prevalence of ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae in raw vegetables. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*, 33, 1843-6.
- ROCA, I., AKOVA, M., BAQUERO, F., CARLET, J., CAVALERI, M., COENEN, S., COHEN, J., FINDLAY, D., GYSSENS, I. & HEURE, O. 2015. The global threat of antimicrobial resistance: science for intervention. *New Microbes New Infect*, 6, 22-9.
- RODRIGUEZ-BANO, J., GUTIERREZ-GUTIERREZ, B., MACHUCA, I. & PASCUAL, A. 2018. Treatment of Infections Caused by Extended-Spectrum-Beta-Lactamase-, AmpC-, and Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 31, e00079-17.
- RODRÍGUEZ-BAÑO, J., LÓPEZ-CERERO, L., NAVARRO, M. D., DE ALBA, P. D. & PASCUAL, A. 2008. Faecal carriage of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli: prevalence, risk factors and molecular epidemiology. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 62, 1142-9.
- RODRIGUEZ-BLANCO, A., LEMOS, M. L. & OSORIO, C. R. 2012. Integrating conjugative elements as vectors of antibiotic, mercury, and quaternary ammonium compound resistance in marine aquaculture environments. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 56, 2619-26.
- RODRIGUEZ-CATURLA, M. Y., VALERO, A., CARRASCO, E., POSADA, G. D., GARCIA-GIMENO, R. M. & ZURERA, G. 2012. Evaluation of hygiene practices and microbiological status of ready-to-eat vegetable salads in Spanish school canteens. *J Sci Food Agric*, 92, 2332-40.
- ROZWANDOWICZ, M., BROUWER, M., FISCHER, J., WAGENAAR, J., GONZALEZ-ZORN, B., GUERRA, B., MEVIUS, D. & HORDIJK, J. 2018. Plasmids carrying antimicrobial resistance genes in Enterobacteriaceae. J Antimicrob Chemother, 73, 1121-37.
- RUIMY, R., BRISABOIS, A., BERNEDE, C., SKURNIK, D., BARNAT, S., ARLET, G., MOMCILOVIC, S., ELBAZ, S., MOURY, F., VIBET, M. A., COURVALIN, P., GUILLEMOT, D. & ANDREMONT, A. 2010. Organic and conventional fruits and vegetables contain equivalent counts of Gram-negative bacteria expressing resistance to antibacterial agents. *Environ Microbiol*, 12, 608-15.
- RUUSUNEN, M., SALONEN, M., PULKKINEN, H., HUUSKONEN, M., HELLSTROM, S., REVEZ, J., HANNINEN, M. L., FREDRIKSSON-AHOMAA, M. & LINDSTROM, M. 2013. Pathogenic bacteria in Finnish bulk tank milk. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 10, 99-106.

- SÁENZ, Y., VINUÉ, L., RUIZ, E., SOMALO, S., MARTÍNEZ, S., ROJO-BEZARES, B., ZARAZAGA, M. & TORRES,
   C. 2010. Class 1 integrons lacking qacEΔ1 and sul1 genes in Escherichia coli isolates of food, animal and human origins. *Vet Microbiol*, 144, 493-7.
- SCHWAIGER, K., HELMKE, K., HOLZEL, C. S. & BAUER, J. 2011. Antibiotic resistance in bacteria isolated from vegetables with regards to the marketing stage (farm vs. supermarket). *Int J Food Microbiol*, 148, 191-6.
- SEIFFERT, S. N., TINGUELY, R., LUPO, A., NEUWIRTH, C., PERRETEN, V. & ENDIMIANI, A. 2013. High prevalence of extended-spectrum-cephalosporin-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in poultry meat in Switzerland: emergence of CMY-2-and VEB-6-possessing Proteus mirabilis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 57, 6406-8.
- SHAH, S. Q., CABELLO, F. C., L'ABEE-LUND, T. M., TOMOVA, A., GODFREY, H. P., BUSCHMANN, A. H. &
   SORUM, H. 2014. Antimicrobial resistance and antimicrobial resistance genes in marine bacteria from salmon aquaculture and non-aquaculture sites. *Environ Microbiol*, 16, 1310-20.
- SHAH, S. Q., COLQUHOUN, D. J., NIKULI, H. L. & SORUM, H. 2012. Prevalence of antibiotic resistance genes in the bacterial flora of integrated fish farming environments of Pakistan and Tanzania. *Environ Sci Technol*, 46, 8672-9.
- SHINTANI, M., SANCHEZ, Z. K. & KIMBARA, K. 2015. Genomics of microbial plasmids: classification and identification based on replication and transfer systems and host taxonomy. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 242.
- SIGUIER, P., GOURBEYRE, E., VARANI, A., TON-HOANG, B. & CHANDLER, M. 2015. Everyman's guide to bacterial insertion sequences. *In: Mobile DNA III.* American Society of Microbiology. 555-90.
- SIMÕES, R. R., POIREL, L., DA COSTA, P. M. & NORDMANN, P. 2010. Seagulls and beaches as reservoirs for multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 16, 110.
- SINGER, A. C., SHAW, H., RHODES, V. & HART, A. 2016. Review of antimicrobial resistance in the environment and its relevance to environmental regulators. *Front Microbiol*, *7*, 1728.
- SKURNIK, D., BONNET, D., BERNÈDE-BAUDUIN, C., MICHEL, R., GUETTE, C., BECKER, J. M., BALAIRE, C., CHAU, F., MOHLER, J. & JARLIER, V. 2008. Characteristics of human intestinal Escherichia coli with changing environments. *Environ Microbiol*, 10, 2132-7.

- SKURNIK, D., RUIMY, R., ANDREMONT, A., AMORIN, C., ROUQUET, P., PICARD, B. & DENAMUR, E. 2006. Effect of human vicinity on antimicrobial resistance and integrons in animal faecal Escherichia coli. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 57, 1215-9.
- SOUCY, S. M., HUANG, J. & GOGARTEN, J. P. 2015. Horizontal gene transfer: building the web of life. *Nat Rev Genet*, 16, 472.
- SOUSA, M., TORRES, C., BARROS, J., SOMALO, S., IGREJAS, G. & POETA, P. 2011. Gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) as carriers of SHV-12 and TEM-52 extended-spectrum beta-lactamasescontaining Escherichia coli isolates. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 8, 1139-41.
- STEDT, J., BONNEDAHL, J., HERNANDEZ, J., WALDENSTRÖM, J., MCMAHON, B. J., TOLF, C., OLSEN, B. & DROBNI, M. J. A. V. S. 2015. Carriage of CTX-M type extended spectrum β-lactamases (ESBLs) in gulls across Europe. *Acta Vet Scand*, 57, 74.
- SUNDE, M., SOLHEIM, H. & SLETTEMEÅS, J. S. 2008. Genetic linkage between class 1 integrons with the dfrA12-orfF-aadA2 cassette array and sul3 in Escherichia coli. *J Vet Microbiol*, 130, 422.
- SZCZEPANOWSKI, R., BRAUN, S., RIEDEL, V., SCHNEIKER, S., KRAHN, I., PÜHLER, A. & SCHLÜTER, A. J.
   M. 2005. The 120 592 bp IncF plasmid pRSB107 isolated from a sewage-treatment plant encodes nine different antibiotic-resistance determinants, two iron-acquisition systems and other putative virulence-associated functions. *Microbiology*, 151, 1095-111.
- SZMOLKA, A., FORTINI, D., VILLA, L., CARATTOLI, A., ANJUM, M. F. & NAGY, B. 2011. First report on IncN plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance gene qnrS1 in porcine Escherichia coli in Europe. *Microb Drug Resist*, 17, 567-73.
- SZMOLKA, A. & NAGY, B. 2013. Multidrug resistant commensal Escherichia coli in animals and its impact for public health. *Front Microbiol*, 4, 258.
- TADESSE, D. A., ZHAO, S., TONG, E., AYERS, S., SINGH, A., BARTHOLOMEW, M. J. & MCDERMOTT, P. F. 2012. Antimicrobial drug resistance in Escherichia coli from humans and food animals, United States, 1950–2002. J Emerg Infect Dis, 18, 741.
- TANG, K. L., CAFFREY, N. P., NÓBREGA, D. B., CORK, S. C., RONKSLEY, P. E., BARKEMA, H. W., POLACHEK, A. J., GANSHORN, H., SHARMA, N. & KELLNER, J. D. 2017. Restricting the use of antibiotics in food-producing animals and its associations with antibiotic resistance in foodproducing animals and human beings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Planet Health*, 1, e316-e27.

- TENAILLON, O., SKURNIK, D., PICARD, B. & DENAMUR, E. 2010. The population genetics of commensal Escherichia coli. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 8, 207.
- TENOVER, F. C. 2006. Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria. Am J Med, 119, S3-S10.
- TREVISANI, M., MANCUSI, R., DELLE DONNE, G., BACCI, C., BASSI, L. & BONARDI, S. 2014. Detection of Shiga toxin (Stx)-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) in bovine dairy herds in Northern Italy. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 184, 45-9.
- VAN DUIJKEREN, E., WIELDERS, C. C., DIERIKX, C. M., VAN HOEK, A. H., HENGEVELD, P., VEENMAN, C., FLORIJN, A., LOTTERMAN, A., SMIT, L. A. & VAN DISSEL, J. T. 2017. Long-term Carriage of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase–Producing Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae in the General Population in The Netherlands. *Clin Infect Dis*, 66, 1368-76.
- VAN HOEK, A. H., VAN VELDHUIZEN, J. N., FRIESEMA, I., COIPAN, C., ROSSEN, J. W., BERGVAL, I. L. & FRANZ, E. 2019. Comparative genomics reveals a lack of evidence for pigeons as a main source of stx 2f-carrying Escherichia coli causing disease in humans and the common existence of hybrid Shiga toxin-producing and enteropathogenic E. coli pathotypes. *BMC Genomics*, 20, 271.
- VAN HOEK, A. H., VEENMAN, C., VAN OVERBEEK, W. M., LYNCH, G., DE RODA HUSMAN, A. M. & BLAAK,
   H. 2015. Prevalence and characterization of ESBL- and AmpC-producing Enterobacteriaceae on retail vegetables. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 204, 1-8.
- VENTURINI, C., BEATSON, S. A., DJORDJEVIC, S. P. & WALKER, M. J. 2010. Multiple antibiotic resistance gene recruitment onto the enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli virulence plasmid. *FASEB J*, 24, 1160-6.
- VERGARA, A., PITART, C., MONTALVO, T., ROCA, I., SABATÉ, S., HURTADO, J. C., PLANELL, R., MARCO, F., RAMÍREZ, B., PERACHO, V. & CHEMOTHERAPY 2017. Prevalence of extended-spectrum-βlactamase-and/or carbapenemase-producing Escherichia coli isolated from yellow-legged gulls from Barcelona, Spain. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 61, e02071-16.
- VERRAES, C., VAN BOXSTAEL, S., VAN MEERVENNE, E., VAN COILLIE, E., BUTAYE, P., CATRY, B., DE SCHAETZEN, M.-A., VAN HUFFEL, X., IMBERECHTS, H. & DIERICK, K. 2013. Antimicrobial resistance in the food chain: a review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 10, 2643-69.
- VINUÉ, L., SAENZ, Y., MARTINEZ, S., SOMALO, S., MORENO, M., TORRES, C. & ZARAZAGA, M. 2009. Prevalence and diversity of extended-spectrum ß-lactamases in faecal Escherichia coli isolates from healthy humans in Spain. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 15, 954-7.

- VITTECOQ, M., GODREUIL, S., PRUGNOLLE, F., DURAND, P., BRAZIER, L., RENAUD, N., ARNAL, A., ABERKANE, S., JEAN-PIERRE, H. & GAUTHIER-CLERC, M. 2016. Antimicrobial resistance in wildlife. *J Appl Ecol*, 53, 519-29.
- VITTECOQ, M., LAURENS, C., BRAZIER, L., DURAND, P., ELGUERO, E., ARNAL, A., THOMAS, F., ABERKANE, S., RENAUD, N. & PRUGNOLLE, F. 2017. VIM-1 carbapenemase-producing Escherichia coli in gulls from southern France. *Ecol Evol*, *7*, 1224-32.
- WALLENSTEN, A., HERNANDEZ, J., ARDILES, K., GONZALEZ-ACUNA, D., DROBNI, M. & OLSEN, B. 2011. Extended spectrum beta-lactamases detected in Escherichia coli from gulls in Stockholm, Sweden. *Infect Ecol Epidemiol*, 1, 7030.
- WANG, J., MA, Z.-B., ZENG, Z.-L., YANG, X.-W., HUANG, Y. & LIU, J.-H. 2017. The role of wildlife (wild birds) in the global transmission of antimicrobial resistance genes. *Zool Res*, 38, 55.
- WASYL, D., HOSZOWSKI, A., ZAJAC, M. & SZULOWSKI, K. 2013. Antimicrobial resistance in commensal Escherichia coli isolated from animals at slaughter. *Front Microbiol*, 4, 221.
- WHO
   2018a. Global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system (GLASS) report Early implementation
   2016-2017.
   Available
   from: https://www.who.int/glass/resources/publications/early-implementation-report/en/.
- WHO 2018b. Summary of the latest data on antibiotic resistance in the European Union. available from: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/summary-latest-data-antibiotic-resistance-european-union</u>.
- WIBBERG, D., SZCZEPANOWSKI, R., EIKMEYER, F., PÜHLER, A. & SCHLÜTER, A. 2013. The IncF plasmid pRSB225 isolated from a municipal wastewater treatment plant's on-site preflooder combining antibiotic resistance and putative virulence functions is highly related to virulence plasmids identified in pathogenic E. coli isolates. *Plasmid*, 69, 127-37.
- XIONG, W., SUN, Y., ZHANG, T., DING, X., LI, Y., WANG, M. & ZENG, Z. 2015. Antibiotics, Antibiotic Resistance Genes, and Bacterial Community Composition in Fresh Water Aquaculture Environment in China. *Microb Ecol*, 70, 425-32.
- ZIENKIEWICZ, M., KERN-ZDANOWICZ, I., CARATTOLI, A., GNIADKOWSKI, M. & CEGŁOWSKI, P. 2013. Tandem multiplication of the IS 26-flanked amplicon with the bla SHV-5 gene within plasmid p1658/97. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 341, 27-36.

# 2. Aim of the study

Antimicrobial resistance has become a serious public health issue in the last few years, associated with a large number of human deaths and economic costs.

The analysis of the literature highlighted the increasing interest in AMR epidemiological monitoring, providing essential information for the development of effective strategic plans to face the AMR phenomenon, such as the AMR spatial and temporal trend and identification of potential AMR sources. Despite recent efforts, AMR still remains a problematic issue in Europe, with limited knowledge about association with various environments and its genetic mechanisms.

The European AMR monitoring plan currently evaluates phenotypic data of limited sources such as pig, cattle, chicken and turkey. These FPAs are also the niches mainly investigated in AMR genomic studies. The latter are often performed by PCR, which does not allow the identification of the comprehensive antimicrobial genetic structures involved. This issue seems to be particularly problematic in Italian studies.

This study attempts to reduce the knowledge gap in the current Italian AMR situation and to contribute to the global understanding of the European AMR dynamics.

The specifics aims of this study are:

- Understand and collect data regarding the phenotypic AMR trend in *E. coli* indicator in Italy, particularly focusing on resistance to HP-CIAs;
- Determine the population structure, multi-locus sequence types, antimicrobial resistance, virulence and disinfectant resistance genetic traits and associated mobile genetic elements (integrons, transposons, plasmids, ISs);
- Delve into the epidemiological role played by animals, food and humans in AMR maintenance and diffusion, establishing potential risks to public health.

# 3. AMR phenotypic characterisation

# 3.1 Materials and Methods

In the period between November 2016 and July 2018 a total of 288 commensal *E. coli* isolates of animal, food and human origin were collected in the Emilia Romagna region of Italy. The specific sources were narrowed down to dairy, beef, wild boar, companion animal, rabbit, poultry, swine, vegetable, fishery, mollusc, wild animal and human. Each source was characterised by 25 *E. coli* isolates with the exception of companion animals, consisting of 13 strains only.

## 3.1.1 Sampling

A total of 433 samples were collected and processed from food, animal and human samples (beef, 34; wild boar, 34; fresh vegetable, 165; fishery, 95; human, 27; companion animal, 13; swine, 4; poultry, 33; rabbit, 16). Moreover, 124 *E. coli* strains provided by the Department of Veterinary Science – University of Bologna – Service of Food Safety and Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Emilia Romagna, were included in the study.

#### Food Samples

Chicken, rabbit, swine, fish and vegetable products were sampled from major supermarkets located in Bologna Province, Emilia Romagna region, Italy.

Unwrapped items were individually placed in clean plastic bags using disposable gloves.

Sponges of beef carcass were collected from the educational abattoir of the Veterinary Sciences Department, University of Bologna, during slaughtering procedures. Sponges were poured with sterile Buttersfield tampon (Oxoid, Basington, UK) before use and put in a sterile stomacher bag after sampling.

#### Animal Samples

Only healthy animals that had not had antimicrobials in the last month were included in the study. Cat and dog faeces were provided from volunteers, meanwhile poultry cloacal swabs were collected from the animal facility of the Veterinary Sciences Department, University of Bologna. Wild boar diaphragm pillars were supplied from Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Bologna.

#### Human Samples

Human faeces were collected from healthy volunteers that had not had antimicrobial treatment in the last month. Sterile containers were provided to individuals for storage of the samples. All participants were properly apprised of the specifics of the study and signed the designated informed consent.

All food, animal and human samples were carried to the laboratory in aseptic conditions in a cold box within 2 hours from the time of purchase and refrigerated until processing. The analysis was then performed within 2 hours after their arrival into the laboratory.

#### Strains

*E. coli* strains isolated from milk, cheese and milking system filters (25) were included in the current study. They were provided by the Service of Food Security, Department of Veterinary Science, University of Bologna.

As part of a collaboration, *E. coli* strains isolated from rabbits (12 intestines, 1 liver), beef (2 faeces, 1 minced meat, 1 muscle), companion animals (13 faeces) and cultured bivalve molluscs (25) were supplied by Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Bologna. *E. coli* collected from wild animals (25) and from swine faeces (19) were provided by Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Forlì and Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Reggio Emilia, respectively.

More details about strain collection are available in the Supplementary Material, Table S1.

#### **3.1.2 Strain Isolation**

#### Meat, vegetable, fish, beef skin sponge

A sharp sterile knife was used to cut food samples in pieces (except for carcass sponges). Sections more likely to be contaminated with *E. coli* were selected from vegetables (roots and external leaves) and fish (guts, gills, fins and skin).

Twenty grams of each sample (in case of skin sponge, each one separately) were placed into a sterile blender bag, diluted with 180 ml of sterile EC-Broth (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and macerated in a stomacher for 1 minute. Samples were incubated overnight at  $37 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Ten microliters of overnight culture were streaked onto MacConkey's (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and Levine's (Oxoid, Basington, UK) agar plates and incubated for 18 - 24 h at  $37 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C.

#### Faeces

Suspension of 1 g of faeces and 9 ml of peptone water (Oxoid, Basington, UK) were prepared. Bacterial isolation was performed by plating 10  $\mu$ l of each suspension (or directly in the case of the cloacal swabs) on MacConkey's (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and Levine's (Oxoid, Basington, UK) agar plates, followed by incubation for 18 – 24 h at 37 ± 1°C.

For all the samples, lactose fermenting colonies were picked and identified by Gram stain and standard biochemical test (indole probe). *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as a control strain.

## 3.1.3 Strain molecular characterization

Bacteria were grown on Tryptone Soya Agar (TSA) (Oxoid, Basington, UK) plate overnight at 37 ± 1°C. Genomic DNA was extracted using a commercial kit (DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit, Qiagen), following the manufacturer's instruction.

A multiplex PCR targeting 4 genes (*lacY*, *lacZ*, *uidA*, *cyd*) was used for *E. coli* identification, following the method described by Horakova *et al.* (2008).

The PCR amplification was performed in a reaction volume of 10 µl containing 5 µl REDExtract-N-Amp PCR ReadyMix (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA), 0.25 µl primers (10 pmol) and 1.5 µl DNA. The following amplification parameters were applied: initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 minutes, 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 58°C for 25 seconds, elongation at 72°C for 30 seconds and a final extension at 72°C for 3 minutes.

Primer ID	Target	Primer sequence	PCR product (bp)	Reference	
lacY-f	la aV	5'-ACCAGACCCAGCACCAGATAAG-3'	462	Userslavers at al. 2000	
lacY-r	IACY	5'-GCACCTACGATGTTTTTGACCA-3'	463	Horakova <i>et al.,</i> 2008	
lacZ-f	1~~7	5'-ATGAAAGCTGGCTACAGGAAGGCC-3'	264	$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{r}}$ at $\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{r}}$ 1001	
lacZ-r	IUCZ	5'-GGTTTATGCAGCAACGAGACGTCA-3'	264	Bej et al., 1991	
uidA-f	dA	5'-AAAACGGCAAGAAAAAGCAG-3'	210	Horebore et al. 2006	
uidA-r	uluA	5'-ACGCGTGGTTACAGTCTTGCG-3'	319	Horakova <i>et ul.,</i> 2006	
cyd-f	and	5'-CCGTATCATGGTGGCGTGTGG-3'	202	Horebore et al. 2006	
cyd-r	cya	5'-GCCGGCTGAGTAGTCGTGGAAG-3'	393	Horakova <i>et al.,</i> 2006	

Table 3.1 PCR primers used in *E. coli* identification.

The amplified products were loaded onto a 2% agarose gel containing Syber Safe DNA Gel Stain (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and ran in 1X TBE buffer at 100 V for 1 h.

PCR fragments were visualized with a UV transilluminator. A pUC19 DNA/MspI (Hpall) Marker (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was loaded on each gel as a DNA size standard. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was present in every load as control strain. Strains showing PCR products of 463 bp, 393 bp, 319 bp and 264 bp as described in Table 3.1 were considered *E. coli*.

#### 3.1.4 Phylotyping

Phylogroup evaluation was performed using a multiplex PCR designed by Clermont *et al.* (2013), targeting 5 different genes or DNA fragments (*chuA, YiaA,* TspE4.C2, *arpA, trpA*). Clermont method allowed us to discriminate up to 8 different phylogroups (A, B1, B2, C, D, E, F, clade I).

All PCR reactions were carried out in a 10 µl volume containing 5 µl REDExtract-N-Amp PCR ReadyMix, 0.25 µl primers and 1.5 µl DNA. The amounts of primer used are 20 pmol, except for AceK.f (40 pmol), ArpA1.r (40 pmol), trpBA.f (12 pmol) and trpBA.r (12 pmol).

PCR reactions were performed under the following conditions: denaturation 4 min at 94°C, 30 cycles of 5 s at 94°C and 20 s at 59°C, and a final extension step of 5 min at 72°C.

Primer ID	Target	Primer sequence	PCR product (bp)	Reference
chuA.1b	ahu A	5'-ATGGTACCGGACGAACCAAC-3'	200	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2000
chuA.2	CNUA	5'-TGCCGCCAGTACCAAAGACA-3'	288	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2013
yjaA.1b	Vial	5'-CAAACGTGAAGTGTCAGGAG-3'	211	Clermont et al., 2013
yjaA.2b	YIUA	5'-AATGCGTTCCTCAACCTGTG-3'	211	Clermont et al., 2013
TspE4C2.1b	<b>Π</b> Γ4 C2	5'-CACTATTCGTAAGGTCATCC-3'	150	Clermont et al., 2013
TspE4C2.2b	TSPE4.CZ	5'-AGTTTATCGCTGCGGGTCGC-3'	152	Clermont et al., 2013
AceK.f	4	5'-AACGCTATTCGCCAGCTTGC-3'	400	Clermont et al., 2013
ArpA1.r	arpA	5'-TCTCCCCATACCGTACGCTA-3'	400	Clermont et al., 2004
trpBA.f	t A	5'-CGGCGATAAAGACATCTTCAC-3'	400	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2008
trpBA.r	urpA	5'-GCAACGCGGCCTGGCGGAAG-3'	489	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2008

Table 3.2 PCR primers used in phylogroup identification.

arpA	chuA	yiaA	TspE4.C2	Phylogroup
+	-	-	-	А
+	-	-	+	B1
-	+	-	-	F
-	+	+	-	B2
-	+	+	+	B2
-	+	-	+	B2
+	-	+	-	A or C
+	+	-	-	D or E
+	+	-	+	D or E
+	+	+	-	E or clade I
-	-	+	-	Clade I or II
-	-	-	-	Clade III, IV or V
-	-	-	+	Unknown
-	-	+	+	Unknown
+	-	+	+	Unknown
+	+	+	+	Unknown
-	-	-	-	Unknown

Table 3.3 Pattern observed after phylogroup PCR performing. Combination of different genes/DNA fragment is phylogroup specific. +: presence of the gene/DNA fragment; -: absence of the gene/DNA fragment.

PCR products were loaded onto a 2% agarose gel containing Syber Safe DNA Gel Stain (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and pUC19 DNA/MspI (Hpall) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) was used as a Marker. Gel was then run in 1X TBE buffer at 100 V for 1 h.

Strains showing A or C phylogroup pattern were screened using C specific primers. PCR reactions were performed as described above.

Primer ID	Target	Primer sequence	PCR product (bp)	Reference
trpAgpC.1	tran	5'-AGTTTTATGCCCAGTGCGAG-3'	210	Lescat <i>et al.,</i> 2013
trpAgpC.2	ιpA	5'-TCTGCGCCGGTCACGCCC-3'	219	Lescat <i>et al.,</i> 2013

Table 3.4 PCR primers designated for phylogroup C identification.

Strains showing D or E and E or clade I pattern were screened using E specific primers and PCR reaction was performed as described above, except for annealing time and temperature (20 s at 57°C).

Primer ID	Target	Primer sequence	PCR product (bp)	Reference
ArpAgpE.f	ann 1	5'-GATTCCATCTTGTCAAAATATGCC-3'	201	Lescat <i>et al.,</i> 2013
ArpAgpE.r	urpA	5'-GAAAAGAAAAAGAATTCCCAAGAG-3'	501	Lescat <i>et al.,</i> 2013

Table 3.5 PCR primers designated for phylogroup E identification.

Strains designated clade I-clade II and clade III -clade IV-clade V were tested with multiplex PCR for cryptic *E. coli* lineages (Clermont *et al.*, 2011).

PCR reaction was carried out in a 10 μl volume containing 5 μl REDExtract-N-Amp PCR ReadyMix (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA), 0.25 μl of primers (20 pmol each) and 1.5 μl of DNA.

PCR reaction was performed under the following conditions: denaturation 4 min at 94°C, 30 cycles of 5

s at 94°C, 30 s at 63°C, 30 s at 72°C and a final extension step of 5 min at 72°C.

PCR products were loaded onto a 2% agarose gel stained containing pUC19 DNA/MspI (Hpall) Marker

(Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) and run in 1X TBE buffer at 100 V for 1 h.

Primer ID	Target	Primer sequence	PCR product (bp)	Reference	clade
aesI.1	anal	5'-ATGGTACCGGACGAACCAAC-3'	215	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	1
aesI.2	aesi	5'-TGCCGCCAGTACCAAAGACA-3'	315	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	1
aesII.1	a ooli	5'-CAAACGTGAAGTGTCAGGAG-3'	125	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	n
aesII.2	aesti	5'-AATGCGTTCCTCAACCTGTG-3'	125	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	Z
chuIII.1		5'-CACTATTCGTAAGGTCATCC-3'	100	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	2
chuIII.2	aesiii	5'-AGTTTATCGCTGCGGGTCGC-3'	183	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	3
chuIV.1		5'-AACGCTATTCGCCAGCTTGC-3'	4.6.1	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	4
chuIV.2	aesiv	5'-TCTCCCCATACCGTACGCTA-3'	461	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	4
chuV.1		5'-CGGCGATAAAGACATCTTCAC-3'	(00)	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	-
chuV.2	uesv	5'-GCAACGCGGCCTGGCGGAAG-3'	600	Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2011	Э

Table 3.6 PCR primers designated for cryptic lineages identification.

# 3.1.5 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

#### 3.1.5.1 Agar disk diffusion method

Susceptibility to 12 different antimicrobials was evaluated with Kirby-Bauer disk agar diffusion method in accordance with the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute guidelines (CLSI) (CLSI, 2018). The antimicrobial panel was chosen considering the importance of antimicrobial classes in the treatment of human and animal infections and the intrinsic resistance of *E. coli* (EUCAST, 2016).

*E. coli* strains were streaked on TSA (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and incubated 18 - 24 h at  $37 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Colonies were collected and suspended in a physiological solution to a density of 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard. Sterile cotton swabs were used to streak the suspension onto Mueller - Hinton (Oxoid, Basington, UK) agar plates. Commercially prepared antimicrobial agent disks were placed on the inoculated plates which were then incubated aerobically for 16 - 18 h at  $35 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. The diameters of the growth inhibition zones were measured by using a precision caliper. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as positive control.

Results were interpreted referring to the epidemiological cut-off values (ECOFFs) for *E. coli* proposed by the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) (http://www.eucast.org) and, when not present, to the EUCAST clinical breakpoints for *Enterobacteriaceae* (EUCAST, 2019) or finally to the CLSI clinical breakpoints for *Enterobacteriaceae* (CLSI, 2004; CLSI, 2017; CLSI, 2018).

Antimicrobial agent	Disc drug concentration (µg)	Diffusion zone breakpoint/ECOFF	Note
Nalidixic acid (NA)	30	≥19	c.b.; CLSI, 2017
Ampicillin (AMP)	10	≥14	ECOFF (02/10/2019)
Ceftazidime (CAZ)	10	≥22	ECOFF (02/10/2019)
Ceftiofur (EFT)	30	≥21	c.b.; CLSI, 2004
Chloramphenicol (C)	30	≥17	ECOFF (02/10/2019)
Enrofloxacin (ENR)	5	≥21	c.b.; CLSI, 2004
Gentamicin (CN)	10	≥16	ECOFF (02/10/2019)
Meropenem (MEM)	10	≥25	ECOFF (02/10/2019)
Streptomycin (S)	10	≥15	c.b.; CLSI, 2018
Sulfisoxazole (ST)	300	≥17	c.b.; CLSI, 2018
Tetracycline (TE)	30	≥15	c.b.; CLSI, 2018
Trimethoprim- sulfisoxazolo (SXT)	25	≥16	ECOFF (02/10/2019)

Table 3.7 Antimicrobial panel used in the study.

c.b.: clinical breakpoint. Associated to the ECOFFs is shown the data of the last EUCAST website consultation.

## 3.1.5.2 ESBL producers

The combination disk test (EUCAST, 2017) was performed for the evaluation of ESBL producing *E. coli*. Briefly, the isolates were tested for cephalosporins (ceftazidime and cefuroxime) alone and in combination with clavulanic acid using Kirby Bauer disk agar diffusion method.

The inhibition zones of the cephalosporins alone and combined with clavulanic acid were compared. The test was considered positive when an increase  $\geq$  5 mm in zone diameter was observed in the presence of clavulanic acid, compared with the cephalosporin alone.

Antimicrobial agent	ESBL screening	Antimicrobial agent	ESBL confirmation
ceftazidime (10µg)	inhibition zone ≤21	ceftazidime (30µg) + clavulanic acid (10µg)	≥5 mm increase in inhibition zone respect antimicrobial
cefurozime (5µg)	inhibition zone ≤20	cefuroxime (30µg) + clavulanic acid (10µg)	≥5 mm increase in inhibition zone respect antimicrobial

Table 3.8 Screening and confirmation methods for phenotypic detection of ESBLs.

## 3.1.5.3 Colistin minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)

Colistin MIC was evaluated through customized Sensititre<sup>™</sup> 96-well microtitre plates (Trek Diagnostic Systems, East Grinstead, UK) manufactured to follow CLSI-EUCAST recommendations (EUCAST, 2016b).

Bacteria were grown on TSA (Oxoid, Basington, UK) for 18-24 h at 37  $\pm$  1°C. Colonies were collected and suspended in deionized water to a density of 0.5 McFarland. Bacterial suspensions (2.3 µl) were placed in 2.5 ml Mueller - Hinton Broth cation adjusted (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and mixed by vortexing. Fifty microliters of the final suspension were put into all wells of the same stripe within 30 minutes after its preparation. Plates were incubated for 18 – 24 h at 35 °C. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as positive control.

For each sample the first well without a visible bacterial grown was considered as MIC. Results were interpreted referring to the epidemiological cut-off value (ECOFF= 2 mg/L) for *E. coli* proposed by the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) (http://www.eucast.org; last accessed October 2019)

# 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Antimicrobial resistance phenotypes

Resistance to at least one antimicrobial agent was observed in 229/288 (79.5%) strains, of which 107/229 (46.7%) were considered MDR, according to the definition of Magiorakos *et al.* (2012). (Magiorakos *et al.*, 2012)

The most common phenotypic AMR pattern included resistance to streptomycin (148/288; 51.4%), sulfisoxazole (124/288; 43.1%), gentamicin (103/288; 35.8%), ampicillin (86/288; 29.9%) and tetracycline (85/288; 29.5%). Important resistance rate were observed to trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (59/288; 20.5%), nalidixic acid (56/288; 19.4%), enrofloxacin (44/288; 15.3%), chloramphenicol and ceftazidime (24/288; 8.3% both) and ceftiofur (19/288; 6.6%). Lastly, meropenem resistance was reported in 2 (0.7%) strains from swine (1) and human (1) origin.

Twenty four isolates out of 288 strains were positive in the ESBL screening and therefore suitable for ESBL confirmation testing according to EUCAST guidelines (EUCAST, 2017). Twenty-tree presumptive ESBL strains were confirmed, mostly associated to food-producing animal/food (5 beef, 4 poultry, 3 vegetable, 2 fishery, 2 dairy, 1 swine isolates) and, to a lesser extent, to humans (5 isolates) and companion animal (1 isolate). Notably, 18/23 (78.3%) ESBL producers were MDR (from 3 up to 8 different antimicrobial classes). Colistin resistance was observed in 4/288 (1.4%) strains (2 swine, 1 rabbit and 1 poultry isolates).

Considering the different sources investigated, the mean number resistance phenotypes was: rabbit, 6; poultry, 5; dairy and human, 3; beef, vegetable, fishery, companion animal, swine, wild animal, 2; wild boar and mollusc, 1.

Interestingly, resistance to aminoglycosides, sulfonamides, ampicillin and tetracycline was widely diffused among all sources investigated.

Notably, rabbit and poultry were the niches displaying the most extensive AMR, with all isolates (100%) resistant to at least one antimicrobial agent. Moreover, most of the strains (25/25, 100% in

Source	R≥1	MDR	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	C	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
dairy	21 (84%)	9 (36%)	5 (20%)	3 (12%)	3 (12%)	2 (8%)	3 (12%)	3 (12%)	16 (64%)	15 (60%)	0 (0%)	12 (48%)	5 (20%)	8 (32%)	0 (0%)	2 (8%)
beef	21 (84%)	9 (36%)	8 (32%)	1(4%)	1(4%)	5 (20%)	2 (8%)	3 (12%)	15 (60%)	12 (48%)	0 (0%)	7 (28%)	3 (12%)	4(16%)	0 (0%)	5 (20%)
wild boar	14 (56%)	3 (12%)	2 (8%)	2 (8%)	0 (0%)	1(4%)	0 (0%)	2 (8%)	13 (52%)	5 (20%)	0 (0%)	3 (12%)	1(4%)	2 (8%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
vegetable	16 (64%)	5 (20%)	3 (12%)	0 (0%)	4(16%)	3 (12%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	12 (48%)	9 (36%)	0 (0%)	8 (32%)	1(4%)	1(4%)	0 (0%)	3 (12%)
fishery	17 (68%)	5 (20%)	4(16%)	0 (0%)	1(4%)	2 (8%)	2 (8%)	0 (0%)	10(40%)	11(44%)	0 (0%)	10 (40%)	2 (8%)	5 (20%)	0 (0%)	2 (8%)
companion animal	5 (38.5%)	4 (30.8%)	5 (38.4%)	1(7.7%)	1 (7.7%)	1 (7.7%)	1 (7.7%)	1 (7.7%)	2 (15.4%)	3 (23.1%)	0 (0%)	4 (30.8%)	3 (23.1%)	4 (30.8%)	0 (0%)	1 (7.7%)
swine	20 (80%)	8 (32%)	6 (24%)	3 (12%)	2 (8%)	1(4%)	2 (8%)	2 (8%)	7 (28%)	11(44%)	1(4%)	7 (28%)	4 (16%)	11 (44%)	2 (8%)	1(4%)
poultry	25 (100%)	20 (80%)	21 (84%)	15 (60%)	1(4%)	4 (16%)	8 (32%)	13 (52%)	15 (60%)	17 (68%)	0 (0%)	17 (68%)	12 (48%)	13 (52%)	1(4%)	4 (16%)
rabbit	25 (100%)	25 (100%)	10(40%)	19 (76%)	0 (0%)	(%0) 0	2 (8%)	11(44%)	11(44%)	18 (72%)	0 (0%)	24 (96%)	22 (88%)	24 (96%)	1(4%)	0 (0%)
mollusc	19 (76%)	3 (12%)	12 (48%)	1(4%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	4 (16%)	0 (0%)	12 (48%)	0 (0%) 0	2 (8%)	(%0)0	(%0) 0
human	24 (96%)	9 (36%)	6 (24%)	7 (28%)	4(16%)	5 (20%)	3 (12%)	5 (20%)	2 (8%)	23 (92%)	1(4%)	10 (40%)	5 (20%)	6 (24%)	0 (0%)	5 (20%)
wild animal	22 (88%)	7 (28%)	4(16%)	4 (16%)	1(4%)	(%0)	1(4%)	4 (16%)	(%0)	20 (80%)	0 (0%)	10 (40%)	1(4%)	5 (20%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Total	229 (79.5%)	107 (37.2%)	86 (29.9%)	56 (19.4%)	19 (6.6%)	24 (8.3%)	24 (8.3%)	44 (15.3%)	103 (35.8%)	148 (51.4%)	2 (0.7%)	124 (43.1%)	59 (20.5%)	85 (29.5%)	4 (1.4%)	23 (8%)

Table 3.9 Resistance rate to the antimicrobial panel in the sources investigated.

R>1: percentage of strain resistant to at least one antimicrobial; MDR: multiresistant isolate; AMP: ampicillin; NA: nalidixic acid; EFT: ceftiofur; CAZ: ceftazidime; C: chloramphenicol; ENR: enrofloxacin; CN: gentamicin; S: streptomycin; MEM: meropenem; ST: sulfisoxazole; SXT: trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole, TE: tetracycline; COL: colistin; ESBL: extendes pectrum beta-lactamase profile. rabbit; 20/25, 80% in poultry) were MDR from 3 up to 8 different antimicrobial classes. In these sources, nalidixic acid (15/25, 60%, poultry; 19/25, 76%, rabbit) and enrofloxacin (13/25, 52%, poultry; 11/25, 44%, rabbit) resistance was the highest.

Beef (6/25, 24%), human (5/25, 20%), poultry (5/25 strains, 20%) and vegetable (5/25, 20%) were the sources with the highest resistance to 3<sup>rd</sup> generation cephalosporins (3-GCs). Moreover, they carried the highest number of ESBL producers (see above).

Notably, swine source showed the highest number of strains (2) resistant to colistin. Also resistance to other HP-CIAs (3-GCs, 2/25, 8%; quinolone/fluoroquinolone, 6/25, 24%; meropenem, 1/25, 4%; ESBL producers, 1/25, 4%) was observed.

Wild animal, vegetable, fishery and companion animal niches generally displayed low levels of AMR if compared to the other sources. Considering their phenotypic antimicrobial profile, resistance to aminoglycosides, tetracycline, ampicillin and sulfonamides was the most identified. In these niches, low numbers of MDR strains were detected (companion animal, 4/13, 30.8%; wild animal, 7/25, 28%; vegetable, 5/25, 20%; fishery, 5/25, 20%;), though resistance to different HP-CIAs (quinolone/fluoroquinolone, 3-GCs, ESBL profile) was observed in some cases. Wild boars and molluscs exhibited the lowest antimicrobial resistance rate among the collection. Despite the number of isolates showing resistance to at least one antimicrobial agent (14/25, 56%, wild boar; 19/25, 76%, mollusc), only 3 strains (12%) were MDR in both niches. Resistance to HP-CIAs (quinolone/fluoroquinolone, 3-GCs) was detected in 4/25 (16%) wild boar and 2/25 (8%) mollusc strains.

Details of the phenotypic antimicrobial profile in the single niches are present in the Supplementary Material, Table S1-12.

#### 3.2.2 Phylogroups

Eight different phylogroups/clades (A, B1, B2, C, D, E, F and clade I-II) were identified in the study collection. Phylogroup B1 was the most common (131/288, 45.5%), followed by C (42/288, 14.6%), A

62

(39/288, 13.5%), E (26/288, 9%), B2 (21/288, 7.3%), F (12/288, 4.2%), D (9/288, 3.1%) and clade I-II (2/288, 0.7%). We were not able to assign a phylogroup for 6 of the strains.

Phylogroup B1 was mainly associated to beef (23/25, 92%), rabbit (22/25, 88%), wild animal (18/25, 72%), mollusc (15/25, 60%), vegetable (14/25, 56%), companion animal (6/13, 46.2%) and dairy (9/25, 36%) sources, meanwhile phylogroup A was most common in fishery (10/25, 40%) and human (7/25, 28%) niches. Swine strains were equally associated to phylogroup A (8/25, 32%), B1 (8/25, 32%) and C (8/25, 32%). Phylogroup C was mostly represented in poultry (8/25, 32%), meanwhile phylogroup E was mainly observed in wild boar (11/25, 44%) isolates.

More details are present in the Supplementary Material, Table S1-12.

					Phylogro	oup			
Source	Α	B1	B2	С	D	Е	F	clade I-II	unknown
dairy	8	9	2	4	1	1	0	0	0
beef	0	23	0	1	1	0	0	0	0
wild boar	0	3	6	0	0	11	0	2	3
vegetable	1	14	1	6	0	1	0	0	2
fishery	10	5	2	5	0	3	0	0	0
companion animal	0	6	3	2	0	2	0	0	0
swine	8	8	0	8	0	1	0	0	0
poultry	2	6	1	8	0	2	5	0	1
rabbit	0	22	1	0	2	0	0	0	0
mollusc	2	15	0	4	3	1	0	0	0
human	7	2	2	2	2	4	6	0	0
wild animal	1	18	3	2	0	0	1	0	0
Total	39 (13.5%)	131 (45.5%)	21 (7.3%)	42 (14.6%)	9 (3.1%)	26 (9%)	12 (4.2%)	2 (0.7%)	6 (2.1%)

Table 3.10 Representation of the phylogroup distribution in the sources investigated.

# **3.3 Discussion**

Multiple sources (animals, agriculture, human, food) have been investigated as potential reservoir of AMR in the last decades (Anaissie *et al.*, 2002; Ewers *et al.*, 2012; Carroll *et al.*, 2015; Economou and Gousia, 2015; van Schaik, 2015; Madec and Haenni, 2018). Within these niches, resistant bacteria and genes can be gathered, maintained, transmitted to other environments or evolve new genotypic and phenotypic AMR profiles. Understanding the role of different sources in the maintenance, diffusion and evolution of AMR is an essential step for AMR preventive measure implementation and epidemiological evaluation. Commensal *E. coli* are considered AMR indicator among Gram-negative bacteria. They are ubiquitous, living in intestine of warm-blooded animals but also in the environment (Jang *et al.*, 2017). Genomic plasticity represents one of their most important features, allowing acquisition of genetic determinants from other bacteria and the environment. For these reasons, AMR data obtained from commensal *E. coli* are considered emblematic of the overall bacterial population (EFSA, 2019).

This study aims to determine AMR phenotypes in commensal *E. coli* isolated from different environments that may pose a threat to public health. We included sources frequently associated with AMR detection (livestock, food, companion animal, human) as well as sources playing an emerging role in AMR dynamics (wildlife), in order to provide a holistic cross-section of AMR circulating in Italy. (Blaak *et al.*, 2014b)

In this study particular attention was focused on food-producing animals and related food, following the European trend, which since 2014 has included food-producing animals and related food in their monitoring program. Livestock are widely considered to play an important epidemiological role in AMR transmission through direct/indirect contact with humans (Dierikx *et al.*, 2013; Pletinckx *et al.*, 2013), related foodstuff (Davis *et al.*, 2015; Manges, 2016) and environmental manure contamination (Blaak *et al.*, 2014b; van Hoek *et al.*, 2015). In general the role of the food chain in the diffusion of AMR bacteria has been widely investigated in the last years (Wang *et al.*, 2012; Rasheed *et al.*, 2014; Economou and Gousia, 2015; Hudson *et al.*, 2017; Florez-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2018; Yazdankhah *et al.*,

2018). All studies have concluded that resistant bacteria in FPA could increase the AMR gene pool available for foodborne pathogens, influencing the development of new antimicrobial resistance patterns (Verraes *et al.*, 2013).

ECOFFs were used to differentiate wild type (WT) and non-WT isolates since our aim was to determine the epidemiology of AMR in *E. coli* indicator. Non-WT strains related to acquired or mutational resistance to antimicrobials were addressed as "resistant". However, in some cases, clinical breakpoints were adopted, due to the lack of ECOFFs for all molecules tested. Clinical breakpoints represented predictors of clinical success of antimicrobial treatments and could not allow evaluation related to emergence and change in bacterial resistance profile (Bywater *et al.*, 2006; Simjee *et al.*, 2008). However, they could give useful information about consolidated resistance in bacterial population. Moreover, changing in common clinical resistant profiles could indirectly suggest the emergence of new resistance patterns occurring among bacteria.

#### 3.3.1 Collective findings

Generally, sulfonamides, ampicillin, tetracycline and aminoglycosides represented the most common phenotypic resistance among FPAs and food, companion animals, human and wildlife.

In food-producing animals and related food, sulfonamide-ampicillin-tetracycline resistance profile was congruent with the Italian antimicrobial stewardship practice in the food-producing sector. Indeed, these molecules characterised the most sold antimicrobials for livestock in Italy, according to the European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption (ESVAC) data (EMA, 2019). It should be noted that the ESVAC didn't include all FPA categories (i.e. fishery, mollusc), nor the stratification of antimicrobial consumption data by FPA species. However, the European Medicine Agency (EMA) launched a project in 2018 in order to bridge the lack of knowledge in this field.

High frequency of resistance to sulfonamide-ampicillin-tetracycline in swine, poultry, beef, rabbit and dairy isolates was generally congruent with AMR profiles previously reported in Europe (de Verdier *et al.*, 2012; Dotto *et al.*, 2014; Skockova *et al.*, 2015; EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019).

In human and companion animal sources ampicillin resistance was widely diffused. This finding was not surprising, considering that penicillins represented the most widely used antimicrobial treatments in these niches. Phenotypic resistance to tetracycline and sulfonamides was well represented although these antibiotics are not commonly employed in these categories (ECDC, 2018a; EMA, 2019).

Sulfonamide-ampicillin-tetracycline pattern was also observed in fishery, mollusc and vegetable sources, usually exposed to low or no direct antimicrobial selective pressure (FVE, 2016). The consistency of AMR profile identified in these niches with those observed in the remaining collection (livestock, human, companion animals) suggested an important AMR transmission from settings highly associated to antimicrobial use. In particular, faecal contamination is considered the major path for AMR bacteria, genes and antimicrobial residues diffusion (Guenther *et al.*, 2011; Singer *et al.*, 2016). Sewage and manure might contaminate groundwater and aquatic systems. Therefore, irrigation water and manure (representing a common fertilizer in agriculture) could act as carriers of AMR bacteria and genes, polluting agricultural production (Walczak *et al.*, 2011; Holvoet *et al.*, 2013). In the same way, sewage and runoff from land could be responsible for AMR observed in aquaculture and vegetable was generally in accordance with the ones reported in previous studies in Europe (Campos *et al.*, 2013; Holvoet *et al.*, 2013; Grevskott *et al.*, 2017).

The same considerations related to aquaculture and vegetable could be also extended to wild animal and wild boar sources, showing similar resistance to the remaining collection. Wild animals resistome is strictly associated to AMR diffusion from other environments and, therefore, wildlife has been often considered an AMR indicator (Dolejska *et al.*, 2007; Literak *et al.*, 2010).

Notably, aminoglycosides represented the most common phenotypic resistance in all livestock/food, pets, wildlife and human, despite their seldom use in disease treatments (ECDC, 2018a; EMA, 2019). Our findings are generally consistent with previous studies (Costa *et al.*, 2008b; Skurnik *et al.*, 2008; Guenther *et al.*, 2011; Holvoet *et al.*, 2013; Dotto *et al.*, 2014; Nobili *et al.*, 2016; Grevskott *et al.*, 2017), despite low level of aminoglycoside resistance have been usually reported in pig, poultry and beef (EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019).

The wide diffusion of resistance to antimicrobials not commonly (tetracycline and sulfonamides in human and companion animals) or rarely (aminoglycoside in animals and human) used (ECDC, 2018a; EMA, 2019) in different environments could suggest important environmental pollution of resistant bacteria and genes related to these molecules.

In particular, tetracycline and sulfonamides represented the most sold antimicrobial classes in foodproducing animal systems (EMA, 2019), associated to the major amount of antimicrobials overall used (EFSA, 2017a). The high selective pressure deriving from the agricultural environment could have led to the diffusion of sulfonamide and tetracycline resistant bacteria and genes to other ecosystems (human, companion animals, wildlife).

High aminoglycoside resistance is not explainable considering the seldom employment of these antimicrobials. The wide resistance is probably referable to an efficient and active circulation of related ARGs in the bacterial population. In particular, aminoglycosides resistance genes *strA/B* and *aadA* are commonly identified in *Enterobacteriaceae* of human and animal origin (Pezzella *et al.*, 2004) and might be responsible for phenotypic aminoglycoside resistance identified in our collection. However, the genetic mechanisms involved in aminoglycosides resistance are multiple and the events leading to the predominance and spread of specific ARGs are complex. The understanding of aminoglycoside resistance epidemiology needs to be investigated with molecular/sequencing approaches.

HP-CIAs (including 3-4-5 GCs, quinolones, polymyxins and carbapenems) represent the last line therapeutic options for serious human infection disease (WHO, 2019). Concerningly, resistance to these antimicrobials was observed in the collection.

Among livestock and food, beef, poultry and vegetable were the sources showing the highest number of 3-GCs resistant strains and ESBL producers. The identification of this phenotypic AMR profile in these sources has already been observed in different studies, despite in a low number of isolates (Egea *et al.*, 2011; Reuland *et al.*, 2014; EFSA, 2016; Araujo *et al.*, 2017; EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019). Similar findings were also observed in human sources, with 5 isolates showing 3-GCs resistance and ESBL profile. These data are particularly worrisome, considering the increasing trend in 3-GCs resistance in EU, with Italy as one of the countries with the highest resistance rate in clinical *E. coli* of human origin (ECDC, 2018b).

Notably, one swine and one human strain were resistant to meropenem. Although carbapenem resistance is rarely observed in Europe (EFSA, 2017b; ECDC, 2018b; EFSA, 2019), its discovery is particularly worrisome. Indeed, carbapenemases may confer resistance to most beta-lactams (Nordmann *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, carbapenemase producing *Enterobacteriaceae* infections have been associated with high mortality rates (Bratu *et al.*, 2005; Marchaim *et al.*, 2008; Souli *et al.*, 2010).

Resistance to quinolone/fluoroquinolone was mostly observed in rabbit (19) and poultry (15) strains and was notably lower in the other sources investigated. Our findings are in accordance with those reported by other authors, underlying the frequent identification of quinolone/fluoroquinolone resistance among broiler/related meat and rabbit in Europe and Italy (Dotto *et al.*, 2014; EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2018). These data could be explained considering the common antimicrobial treatments employed in these producing sectors (FVE, 2016).

Polymyxins represent one of the few treatment options to cure infections deriving from carbapenemase-producing Gram-negative bacteria (Poirel *et al.*, 2017). Colistin resistance was exclusively observed in livestock and related foodstuff (2 swine faeces, 1 rabbit intestine, 1 poultry meat) and its identification was seldom, in accordance with the data reported in *E. coli* of food-producing animal/food origin in Europe (Dotto *et al.*, 2014; EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019).

As expected, phylogroup B1, C and A were the most common among the collection, characterising 212/288 (73.6%) strains. Indeed, phylogroup A and B1 are usually associated to environmental and commensal *E. coli*, meanwhile phylogroup C is closely related and shares the same ecological niches of phylogroup B1 (Gordon *et al.*, 2008; Clermont *et al.*, 2013). Interesting, 30 strains of different origin were associated to phylogroup B2 and D, usually identified in pathogens (Coque *et al.*, 2008).

68

Hereafter, we present important findings observed in some of the sources investigated.

#### 3.3.2 Rabbit

Notably, rabbit was the source mostly associated to AMR. According to the common AMR profile (Dotto *et al.*, 2014) and antimicrobial stewardship (SSR-ER, 2006; FVE, 2016) reported in rabbit farms in Italy, resistance to tetracycline, aminoglycosides, quinolones and sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim was widely diffused. Concerningly, one rabbit strain was colistin resistant. Despite polymyxins represented seldom antimicrobial treatments in rabbit farms (SSR-ER, 2006; FVE, 2016), a recent Italian study (Agnoletti *et al.*, 2018) underlined their wide use in rabbit producing sector. Interestingly, different recent investigations (Agnoletti *et al.*, 2018; Freitas-Silva *et al.*, 2018) associated colistin resistance to breeding rabbit, suggesting its possible role in colistin resistance diffusion.

In the past, little attention was focused on breeding rabbit system because of its rare association with foodborne pathogens (Dalle Zotte, 2002; Rodriguez-Calleja *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, limited European microbiological studies from healthy rabbits and related foodstuff are available (Garcia and Fox, 2003; Rodriguez-Calleja *et al.*, 2004; Kohler *et al.*, 2008; Marín *et al.*, 2016). Similarly, AMR investigations are lacking, especially in *E. coli* indicator (Dotto *et al.*, 2014; Medina *et al.*, 2015; Agnoletti *et al.*, 2018; Freitas-Silva *et al.*, 2018).

In our study, the important AMR associated to this niche suggests rabbit as en emerging reservoir of AMR (also to HP-CIAs) and underlines the need to deepen and clarify its epidemiological role in AMR diffusion. (Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Leverstein-van Hall *et al.*, 2011)

## 3.3.3 Poultry

Poultry was the second source showing the highest antimicrobial resistance. The phenotypic resistance profile reflected common European and Italian antimicrobial treatments in the poultry production system (SSR-ER, 2006; FVE, 2016). AMR pattern was generally in accordance with those

identified in poultry and related meat in Europe (EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2018), despite higher 3GCs resistance and ESBL profile were observed in our isolates.

Concerningly, poultry was the niche mostly associated to HP-CIAs resistance (especially to quinolone/fluoroquinolones,3-GCs, ESBL profile) among the collection.

These data are particularly worrisome, considering that the potential transmission of AMR *E. coli* from poultry/related foodstuff to human represented a feasible event. Indeed, different authors (Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Jakobsen *et al.*, 2010; Leverstein-van Hall *et al.*, 2011) observed similarities in AMR isolates of human and poultry origin, suggesting the latter as a source of AMR. The potential role of poultry meat (widely included in our study) in the transmission of AMR (also to HP-CIAs) has been described by different authors (Mesa *et al.*, 2006; Doi *et al.*, 2010; Overdevest *et al.*, 2011; Ghodousi *et al.*, 2015; Hasman *et al.*, 2015). Faecal contamination of carcasses during slaughtering procedures has been entailed in bacterial poultry meat contamination (Alonso *et al.*, 2011), including potential pathogens (Mor-Mur and Yuste, 2010; Lyhs *et al.*, 2012; Noori and Alwan, 2016).

Our findings highlighted an association between poultry source (particularly meat) and HP-CIAs resistant bacteria, which may pose a potential AMR risk to human health.

#### 3.3.4 Beef

Considering livestock and related food, beef was the source mostly associated with 3-GCs resistance and ESBL producers (5 isolates), despite lower trend has usually been described in Europe (EFSA, 2017b; EFSA, 2019). Our data could be explained, considering that 3/4-GCs represented some of the most used antimicrobials in the cattle breeding system (FVE, 2016).

Beef ESBL strains derived from carcass samples obtained during slaughtering procedures. Different studies identified ESBL producer *E. coli* in cattle at abattoirs (Geser *et al.*, 2011; Reist *et al.*, 2013; Haenni *et al.*, 2014), but also from related meat in stores (Jensen *et al.*, 2006). Slaughtering procedures represented an important risk factor for carcass contamination, determining the diffusion of AMR and virulent bacteria in the food chain. In particular faeces and hides have been associated to carcasses

bacterial pollution (Koutsoumanis and Sofos, 2004; Mather *et al.*, 2008), including with important human pathogens (Elder *et al.*, 2000).

Our findings suggest possible contamination of beef meat with faecal bacteria at the abattoir and imply the role of beef meat in the diffusion of 3-GC resistant and ESBL bacteria. The observation of stringent hygiene measures during slaughtering procedures is essential to ensure microbiological beef meat quality and public health protection, avoiding diffusion of AMR bacteria and potential pathogens through the food chain.

#### 3.3.5 RTE vegetable

Despite vegetables are not exposed to a direct antimicrobial selective pressure, important AMR has been observed. Concerningly, all ESBL and most MDR strains of vegetable origin were isolated from ready-to-eat (RTE) products. RTE- vegetables have already been associated to ESBL producers/genes, and therefore suggested as potential ESBL reservoir (Egea *et al.*, 2011; Campos *et al.*, 2013; Reuland *et al.*, 2014; Said *et al.*, 2015). These products represented one of the most diffused food commodities, due to their convenience and popularity among consumers. Indeed RTE vegetables are not intended to undergo a terminal heating or washing step prior to consumption (Rodriguez-Caturla *et al.*, 2012) and, for this reason, could represent an important source of AMR bacteria and genes. Bacterial recovery in vegetables derived mostly from insufficiently treated water and fertilizers in primary production (Mercanoglu Taban and Halkman, 2011; Schwaiger *et al.*, 2011) or from improper hygienic measures during handling and processing in the food chain (Rasheed *et al.*, 2014).

In particular, RTE products are processed in numerous steps (including a selection from the fresh product, peeling, cutting, washing, drying and packaging) (De Oliveira *et al.*, 2011), all representing a possible risk for bacterial contamination.

The involvement in human outbreaks (Mercanoglu Taban and Halkman, 2011) and the frequent association to ESBL profile, underline the potential risk posed by RTE products and the importance of additional washing steps before their consumption.
### 3.3.6 Wildlife

According to different studies (Costa *et al.*, 2008b; Guenther *et al.*, 2010b; Guenther *et al.*, 2011; Marinho *et al.*, 2014; Giacopello *et al.*, 2016), aminoglycosides, tetracycline, sulfonamides and ampicillin resistance was widely identified among our wildlife isolates.

HP-CIAs resistance was observed, in particular to quinolone/fluoroquinolone (wild boar, 3; wild birds, 4), as reported by other authors (Costa *et al.*, 2008b; Giacopello *et al.*, 2016). Instead, only two isolates showed resistance to 3-GCs (1 wild boar and 1 wild animal strains).

Wildlife AMR profile was generally concordant to those observed in human/livestock/pet. Wildlife ecosystem is not exposed to direct antimicrobial selective pressure. Remoteness of the area, livestock and human density (Allen *et al.*, 2010) and association degree with human activity (Skurnik *et al.*, 2006; Allen *et al.*, 2010) represented essential elements conditioning bacteria antimicrobial resistance observed in wild animals. Our findings, as reported by other authors (Dolejska *et al.*, 2007; Literak *et al.*, 2007), suggest wildlife as an important indicator of AMR pollution, giving useful information about AMR circulating in human related environments.

### 3.3.7 Companion animals

AMR was observed in different strains (5/13; 38.5%) of companion animal origin. Most of these isolates (4/5) were MDR from 3 up to 9 different antimicrobials. Concording with previous studies (Costa *et al.*, 2008a; Damborg *et al.*, 2008), low HP-CIAs (quinolones and 3-GCs) resistance was observed. Only one ESBL isolate was identified, showing an important AMR profile (resistance to 9 different antimicrobials).

The resistance rate observed in pets is worrisome. Cat and dog usually share the same household and are in strict contact with humans. This could possibly allow transmission of bacteria (Guardabassi *et al.*, 2004b; Costa *et al.*, 2008b). Pets have been already recognised as a possible source of pathogens for humans (Johnson *et al.*, 2001; Damborg *et al.*, 2008).

The possibility to be a simultaneous reservoir of AMR bacteria and genes is a feasible event and needs to be investigated with further studies. Despite the potential threat represented by pets, this animal

category is not included in European AMR surveillance. In light of the evidence suggesting pet involvement in AMR maintenance and diffusion, further studies and constant monitoring of this niche should to be implemented, in order to elucidate its involvement in AMR transmission to humans.

### 3.3.8 Human

Concerningly, human represented the source (together with beef) associated to the highest number of ESBL producers. Different studies reported carriage of ESBL *E. coli* in healthy human, with an increasing trend during the years (Valverde *et al.*, 2004; Rodríguez-Baño *et al.*, 2008; Guimaraes *et al.*, 2009; Vinué *et al.*, 2009; Hammerum *et al.*, 2011; Karanika *et al.*, 2016; van Duijkeren *et al.*, 2018).

These data suggest healthy humans as an emergent reservoir of ESBL producers, probably depending on the wide use of beta-lactams in both community and hospital settings (ECDC, 2018a).

Notably, human ESBL strains showed also resistance to other HP-CIAs (2 strains to quinolone/fluoroquinolone; 1 isolate to meropenem), underlying the possible difficulties in antimicrobial treatment in case of infection.

The potential threat represented by human as ESBL reservoir is concerning, considering that infections are often preceded by asymptomatic carriage (Ny *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, these bacteria could easily be diffused in the community or be transmitted to human related animals. It has been shown that ESBL strains could persist at least for 8 months in healthy humans, increasing the possibility of diffusion (van Duijkeren *et al.*, 2017).

The last ECDC report underlined the high detection of cephalosporin resistance (mainly associated to ESBL producers) in clinical *E. coli* isolated from humans in Europe, with Italy as one of the countries showing the highest resistance rate (ECDC, 2018b). The increasing growth of ESBL problem suggests the need for constant monitoring in *E. coli* indicator isolated from healthy humans, which nowadays is not performed.

In conclusion, our findings provided a general overview of phenotypic AMR circulating in different environments in Italy. We are aware that unfortunately the low sample size of each niche (13 strains for companion animals, 25 isolates for all the other sources) reduces the representativeness of our data and prevents the assessment of possible AMR transmission paths between different niches. Briefly, the role of food-producing animal and food chain in AMR diffusion has been reiterated. Notably, poultry and rabbit niches have been associated to the highest antimicrobial resistance rate in our collection, including to HP-CIAs. Beef, vegetable and human isolates have been suggested as possible sources of ESBL producers. One of the main concern was the involvement of healthy human in ESBL transmission, considering the increasing resistance to 3-GCs in human clinical isolates in Europe. Also the role of companion animals in AMR maintenance and diffusion has been hypothesised. AMR observed in wildlife, aquaculture and vegetable suggests an important antimicrobial environmental pollution, spreading also in ecosystems not directly related to antimicrobial use. In particular, our findings reiterated the role of wildlife as AMR indicator, supplying important information about AMR circulating in human and agricultural settings.

### **3.4 References**

- AGNOLETTI, F., BRUNETTA, R., BANO, L., DRIGO, I. & MAZZOLINI, E. 2018. Longitudinal study on antimicrobial consumption and resistance in rabbit farming. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 51, 197-205.
- ALONSO, M. Z., PADOLA, N. L., PARMA, A. E. & LUCCHESI, P. M. 2011. Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli contamination at different stages of the chicken slaughtering process. *Poult Sci*, 90, 2638-41.
- ALVES, M. S., PEREIRA, A., ARAUJO, S. M., CASTRO, B. B., CORREIA, A. C. & HENRIQUES, I. 2014. Seawater is a reservoir of multi-resistant Escherichia coli, including strains hosting plasmidmediated quinolones resistance and extended-spectrum beta-lactamases genes. *Front Microbiol*, 5, 426.
- ANAISSIE, E. J., PENZAK, S. R. & DIGNANI, M. C. 2002. The hospital water supply as a source of nosocomial infections: a plea for action. *Arch Intern Med*, 162, 1483-92.
- ARAUJO, S., I, A. T. S., TACAO, M., PATINHA, C., ALVES, A. & HENRIQUES, I. 2017. Characterization of antibiotic resistant and pathogenic Escherichia coli in irrigation water and vegetables in household farms. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 257, 192-200.
- BALIERE, C., RINCE, A., BLANCO, J., DAHBI, G., HAREL, J., VOGELEER, P., GIARD, J. C., MARIANI-KURKDJIAN, P. & GOURMELON, M. 2015. Prevalence and Characterization of Shiga Toxin-Producing and Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli in Shellfish-Harvesting Areas and Their Watersheds. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 1356.
- BEJ, A. K., MCCARTY, S. C. & ATLAS, R. M. 1991. Detection of coliform bacteria and Escherichia coli by multiplex polymerase chain reaction: comparison with defined substrate and plating methods for water quality monitoring. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 57, 2429-32.
- BLAAK, H., VAN HOEK, A. H., VEENMAN, C., DOCTERS VAN LEEUWEN, A. E., LYNCH, G., VAN OVERBEEK, W. M. & DE RODA HUSMAN, A. M. 2014b. Extended spectrum ss-lactamase- and constitutively AmpC-producing Enterobacteriaceae on fresh produce and in the agricultural environment. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 168-169, 8-16.
- BRATU, S., LANDMAN, D., HAAG, R., RECCO, R., ERAMO, A., ALAM, M. & QUALE, J. 2005. Rapid spread of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae in New York City: a new threat to our antibiotic armamentarium. *Arch Intern Med*, 165, 1430-5.

- BYWATER, R., SILLEY, P. & SIMJEE, S. 2006. Antimicrobial breakpoints-definitions and conflicting requirements. *Vet Microbiol*, 118, 158-9.
- CAMPOS, J., MOURÃO, J., PESTANA, N., PEIXE, L., NOVAIS, C. & ANTUNES, P. 2013. Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat salads: an underestimated vehicle of bacteria and clinically relevant antibiotic resistance genes. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 166, 464-70.
- CARROLL, D., WANG, J., FANNING, S. & MCMAHON, B. 2015. Antimicrobial resistance in wildlife: implications for public health. *Zoonoses Public Health*, 62, 534-42.
- CLERMONT, O., BONACORSI, S. & BINGEN, E. 2000. Rapid and simple determination of the Escherichia coli phylogenetic group. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 66, 4555-8.
- CLERMONT, O., BONACORSI, S. & BINGEN, E. 2004. Characterization of an anonymous molecular marker strongly linked to Escherichia coli strains causing neonatal meningitis. *J Clin Microbiol*, 42, 1770-2.
- CLERMONT, O., CHRISTENSON, J. K., DENAMUR, E. & GORDON, D. M. 2013. The Clermont E scherichia coli phylo-typing method revisited: improvement of specificity and detection of new phylogroups. *Environ Microbiol Rep*, 5, 58-65.
- CLERMONT, O., GORDON, D. M., BRISSE, S., WALK, S. T. & DENAMUR, E. 2011. Characterization of the cryptic Escherichia lineages: rapid identification and prevalence. *Environ Microbiol*, 13, 2468-77.
- CLERMONT, O., LESCAT, M., O'BRIEN, C. L., GORDON, D. M., TENAILLON, O. & DENAMUR, E. 2008. Evidence for a human-specific Escherichia coli clone. *Environ Microbiol*, 10, 1000-6.
- CLSI 2004. Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Disk and Dilution Susceptibility Tests for Bacteria Isolated from Animals; Informational Supplement. M31 - S1 , Vol. 24, No. 17. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
- CLSI 2017. M100. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing. 27 th ed. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
- CLSI 2018. M100. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing. 28 th ed. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
- COQUE, T. M., NOVAIS, Â., CARATTOLI, A., POIREL, L., PITOUT, J., PEIXE, L., BAQUERO, F., CANTÓN, R. & NORDMANN, P. 2008. Dissemination of clonally related Escherichia coli strains expressing extended-spectrum β-lactamase CTX-M-15. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 14, 195.

- COSTA, D., POETA, P., SÁENZ, Y., COELHO, A. C., MATOS, M., VINUÉ, L., RODRIGUES, J. & TORRES, C. 2008a. Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance and resistance genes in faecal Escherichia coli isolates recovered from healthy pets. *Vet Microbiol*, 127, 97-105.
- COSTA, D., POETA, P., SÁENZ, Y., VINUÉ, L., COELHO, A. C., MATOS, M., ROJO-BEZARES, B., RODRIGUES, J. & TORRES, C. 2008b. Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli isolates recovered from wild animals. *Microb Drug Resist*, 14, 71-7.
- DALLE ZOTTE, A. 2002. Perception of rabbit meat quality and major factors influencing the rabbit carcass and meat quality. *Livest Prod Sci*, 75, 11-32.
- DAMBORG, P., SØRENSEN, A. H. & GUARDABASSI, L. 2008. Monitoring of antimicrobial resistance in healthy dogs: first report of canine ampicillin-resistant Enterococcus faecium clonal complex 17. *Vet Microbiol*, 132, 190-6.
- DAVIS, G. S., WAITS, K., NORDSTROM, L., WEAVER, B., AZIZ, M., GAULD, L., GRANDE, H., BIGLER, R., HORWINSKI, J., PORTER, S., STEGGER, M., JOHNSON, J. R., LIU, C. M. & PRICE, L. B. 2015. Intermingled Klebsiella pneumoniae Populations Between Retail Meats and Human Urinary Tract Infections. *Clin Infect Dis*, 61, 892-9.
- DE OLIVEIRA, M. A., DE SOUZA, V. M., BERGAMINI, A. M. M. & DE MARTINIS, E. C. P. 2011. Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat minimally processed vegetables consumed in Brazil. *Food Control*, 22, 1400-3.
- DE VERDIER, K., NYMAN, A., GREKO, C. & BENGTSSON, B. 2012. Antimicrobial resistance and virulence factors in Escherichia coli from Swedish dairy calves. *Acta Vet Scand*, 54, 2.
- DIERIKX, C., VAN DER GOOT, J., FABRI, T., VAN ESSEN-ZANDBERGEN, A., SMITH, H. & MEVIUS, D. 2013. Extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase- and AmpC-beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli in Dutch broilers and broiler farmers. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 68, 60-7.
- DOI, Y., PATERSON, D., EGEA, P., PASCUAL, A., LÓPEZ-CERERO, L., NAVARRO, M., ADAMS-HADUCH, J., QURESHI, Z., SIDJABAT, H., RODRÍGUEZ-BAÑO, J. J. C. M. & INFECTION 2010. Extendedspectrum and CMY-type β-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli in clinical samples and retail meat from Pittsburgh, USA and Seville, Spain. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 16, 33-8.
- DOLEJSKA, M., CIZEK, A. & LITERAK, I. 2007. High prevalence of antimicrobial-resistant genes and integrons in Escherichia coli isolates from black-headed gulls in the Czech Republic. *J Appl Microbiol*, 103, 11-9.

- DOTTO, G., GIACOMELLI, M., GRILLI, G., FERRAZZI, V., CARATTOLI, A., FORTINI, D. & PICCIRILLO, A. 2014. High prevalence of oqxAB in Escherichia coli isolates from domestic and wild lagomorphs in Italy. *Microb Drug Resist*, 20, 118-23.
- ECDC 2018a. Antimicrobial consumption. Annual epidemiological report for 2017. Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/antimicrobial-consumption-annualepidemiological-report-2017.
- ECDC 2018b. ECDC Surveillance Report. Surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in Europe 2017. *Available from: <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/surveillance-antimicrobial-</u> <u>resistance-europe-2017</u>.*
- ECONOMOU, V. & GOUSIA, P. 2015. Agriculture and food animals as a source of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria. *Infect Drug Resist*, 8, 49-61.
- EFSA 2016. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2014. *EFSA Journal*, 14(2): 4380. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2017a. ECDC/EFSA/EMA second joint report on the integrated analysis of the consumption of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from humans and food-producing animals. *EFSA Journal*, 15(7): 4872. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2017b. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2015. *EFSA Journal*, 15(2): 4694. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2018. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2016. *EFSA Journal*, 16(2): 5182. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2019. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2017. *EFSA Journal*, 17(2): 5598. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EGEA, P., LOPEZ-CERERO, L., NAVARRO, M., RODRIGUEZ-BANO, J. & PASCUAL, A. 2011. Assessment of the presence of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli in eggshells and ready-to-eat products. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*, 30, 1045.

- ELDER, R. O., KEEN, J. E., SIRAGUSA, G. R., BARKOCY-GALLAGHER, G. A., KOOHMARAIE, M. & LAEGREID, W. W. 2000. Correlation of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during processing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 2999-3003.
- EMA 2019. European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption (ESVAC). Available from: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/veterinary-regulatory/overview/antimicrobial-</u> <u>resistance/european-surveillance-veterinary-antimicrobial-consumption-esvac</u> (02/10/2019, date last accessed).
- EUCAST 2016. Intrinsic resistance and exceptional phenotypes, Expert Rules version 3.1. Available from: <u>http://www.eucast.org</u>.
- EUCAST 2016b. Recommendations for colistin (polymyxin E) MIC testing joint EUCAST and CLSI recommendation. Available from: <u>http://www.eucast.org</u>.
- EUCAST 2017. EUCAST guideline for the detection of resistance mechanisms and specific resistances of clinical and/or epidemiological importance, v2.0. Available from: <u>http://www.eucast.org</u>.
- EUCAST 2019. Breakpoint tables for interpretation of MICs and zone diameters. Version 9.0, valid from 2019-01-01. Available from: <u>http://www.eucast.org</u>.
- EWERS, C., BETHE, A., SEMMLER, T., GUENTHER, S. & WIELER, L. H. 2012. Extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing and AmpC-producing Escherichia coli from livestock and companion animals, and their putative impact on public health: a global perspective. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 18, 646-55.
- FLOREZ-CUADRADO, D., MORENO, M. A., UGARTE-RUIZ, M. & DOMINGUEZ, L. 2018. Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Chain in the European Union. *Adv Food Nutr Res*, 86, 115-36.
- FREITAS-SILVA, J., INÁCIO, Â. S., MOURÃO, J., ANTUNES, P., MENDES, Â., DE CARVALHO, A. P., VASCONCELOS, V., PEIXE, L. & DA COSTA, P. M. 2018. Occurrence of mcr-1 in Escherichia coli from rabbits of intensive farming. *Vet Microbiol*, 227, 78-81.
- FVE 2016. Antimicrobial use in food-producing animals. Replies to EFSA/EMA questions on the use of antimicrobials in food-producing animals in EU and possible measures to reduce antimicrobial use. Available from: <a href="https://www.ema.europa.eu">https://www.ema.europa.eu</a>.
- GARCIA, A. & FOX, J. G. 2003. The rabbit as a new reservoir host of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 9, 1592-7.

- GESER, N., STEPHAN, R., KUHNERT, P., ZBINDEN, R., KAEPPELI, U., CERNELA, N. & HAECHLER, H. 2011. Fecal carriage of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in swine and cattle at slaughter in Switzerland. J Food Prot, 74, 446-9.
- GHODOUSI, A., BONURA, C., DI NOTO, A. M. & MAMMINA, C. 2015. Extended-Spectrum ss-Lactamase, AmpC-Producing, and Fluoroquinolone-Resistant Escherichia coli in Retail Broiler Chicken Meat, Italy. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 12, 619-25.
- GIACOPELLO, C., FOTI, M., MASCETTI, A., GROSSO, F., RICCIARDI, D., FISICHELLA, V. & PICCOLO, F. 2016. Antimicrobial resistance patterns of Enterobacteriaceae in European wild bird species admitted in a wildlife rescue centre. *Vet Ital*, 52, 139-44.
- GORDON, D. M., CLERMONT, O., TOLLEY, H. & DENAMUR, E. J. E. M. 2008. Assigning Escherichia coli strains to phylogenetic groups: multi-locus sequence typing versus the PCR triplex method. *Environ Microbiol*, 10, 2484-96.
- GREVSKOTT, D. H., SVANEVIK, C. S., SUNDE, M., WESTER, A. L. & LUNESTAD, B. T. 2017. Marine Bivalve Mollusks As Possible Indicators of Multidrug-Resistant Escherichia coli and Other Species of the Enterobacteriaceae Family. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 24.
- GUARDABASSI, L., SCHWARZ, S. & LLOYD, D. H. 2004b. Pet animals as reservoirs of antimicrobialresistant bacteria. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 54, 321-32.
- GUENTHER, S., EWERS, C. & WIELER, L. 2011. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases producing E. coli in wildlife, yet another form of environmental pollution? *Front Microbiol*, *2*, 246.
- GUENTHER, S., GROBBEL, M., LÜBKE-BECKER, A., GOEDECKE, A., FRIEDRICH, N. D., WIELER, L. H. & EWERS, C. 2010b. Antimicrobial resistance profiles of Escherichia coli from common European wild bird species. *Vet Microbiol*, 144, 219-25.
- GUIMARAES, B., BARRETO, A., RADHOUANI, H., FIGUEIREDO, N., GASPAR, E., RODRIGUES, J., TORRES,
   C., IGREJAS, G. & POETA, P. 2009. Genetic detection of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase containing Escherichia coli isolates and vancomycin-resistant enterococci in fecal samples of
   healthy children. *Microb Drug Resist*, 15, 211-6.
- HAENNI, M., CHATRE, P., METAYER, V., BOUR, M., SIGNOL, E., MADEC, J. Y. & GAY, E. 2014. Comparative prevalence and characterization of ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae in dominant versus subdominant enteric flora in veal calves at slaughterhouse, France. *Vet Microbiol*, 171, 321-7.

- HAMMERUM, A., LESTER, C., JAKOBSEN, L., PORSBO, L. & INFECTION 2011. Faecal carriage of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing and AmpC β-lactamase-producing bacteria among Danish army recruits. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 17, 566-8.
- HASMAN, H., HAMMERUM, A. M., HANSEN, F., HENDRIKSEN, R. S., OLESEN, B., AGERSO, Y., ZANKARI,
   E., LEEKITCHAROENPHON, P., STEGGER, M., KAAS, R. S., CAVACO, L. M., HANSEN, D. S.,
   AARESTRUP, F. M. & SKOV, R. L. 2015. Detection of mcr-1 encoding plasmid-mediated colistin resistant Escherichia coli isolates from human bloodstream infection and imported chicken
   meat, Denmark 2015. *Euro Surveill*, 20.
- HOLVOET, K., SAMPERS, I., CALLENS, B., DEWULF, J. & UYTTENDAELE, M. 2013. Moderate prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in Escherichia coli isolates from lettuce, irrigation water, and soil. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 79, 6677-83.
- HORAKOVA, K., MLEJNKOVA, H. & MLEJNEK, P. 2006. Direct detection of bacterial faecal indicators in water samples using PCR. *Water Sci Technol*, 54, 135-40.
- HORAKOVA, K., MLEJNKOVA, H. & MLEJNEK, P. 2008. Specific detection of Escherichia coli isolated from water samples using polymerase chain reaction targeting four genes: cytochrome bd complex, lactose permease, beta-D-glucuronidase, and beta-D-galactosidase. *J Appl Microbiol*, 105, 970-6.
- HUDSON, J. A., FREWER, L. J., JONES, G., BRERETON, P. A., WHITTINGHAM, M. J. & STEWART, G. 2017. The agri-food chain and antimicrobial resistance: A review. *Trends Food Sci Technol*, 69, 131-147, 131-47.
- JAKOBSEN, L., KURBASIC, A., SKJOT-RASMUSSEN, L., EJRNAES, K., PORSBO, L. J., PEDERSEN, K., JENSEN, L. B., EMBORG, H. D., AGERSO, Y., OLSEN, K. E., AARESTRUP, F. M., FRIMODT-MOLLER, N. & HAMMERUM, A. M. 2010. Escherichia coli isolates from broiler chicken meat, broiler chickens, pork, and pigs share phylogroups and antimicrobial resistance with community-dwelling humans and patients with urinary tract infection. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 7, 537-47.
- JANG, J., HUR, H. G., SADOWSKY, M. J., BYAPPANAHALLI, M., YAN, T. & ISHII, S. 2017. Environmental Escherichia coli: ecology and public health implications—a review. 123, 570-81.
- JENSEN, L. B., HASMAN, H., AGERSØ, Y., EMBORG, H.-D. & AARESTRUP, F. M. 2006. First description of an oxyimino-cephalosporin-resistant, ESBL-carrying Escherichia coli isolated from meat sold in Denmark. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 57, 793-4.

- JOHNSON, J. R., SANNES, M. R., CROY, C., JOHNSTON, B., CLABOTS, C., KUSKOWSKI, M. A., BENDER, J., SMITH, K. E., WINOKUR, P. L. & BELONGIA, E. A. 2007. Antimicrobial drug-resistant Escherichia coli from humans and poultry products, Minnesota and Wisconsin, 2002-2004. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 13, 838-46.
- JOHNSON, J. R., STELL, A. L. & DELAVARI, P. 2001. Canine feces as a reservoir of extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli. *Infect Immun*, 69, 1306-14.
- KARANIKA, S., KARANTANOS, T., ARVANITIS, M., GRIGORAS, C. & MYLONAKIS, E. 2016. Fecal Colonization With Extended-spectrum Beta-lactamase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae and Risk Factors Among Healthy Individuals: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *Clin Infect Dis*, 63, 310-8.
- KOHLER, R., KRAUSE, G., BEUTIN, L., STEPHAN, R. & ZWEIFEL, C. 2008. Shedding of food-borne pathogens and microbiological carcass contamination in rabbits at slaughter. *Vet Microbiol*, 132, 149-57.
- KOUTSOUMANIS, K. & SOFOS, J. 2004. Microbial contamination of carcasses and cuts. *Encycl Meat Sci*, 727-37.
- LESCAT, M., CLERMONT, O., WOERTHER, P. L., GLODT, J., DION, S., SKURNIK, D., DJOSSOU, F., DUPONT, C., PERROZ, G., PICARD, B., CATZEFLIS, F., ANDREMONT, A. & DENAMUR, E. 2013. Commensal Escherichia coli strains in Guiana reveal a high genetic diversity with host-dependant population structure. *Environ Microbiol Rep*, 5, 49-57.
- LEVERSTEIN-VAN HALL, M., DIERIKX, C., COHEN STUART, J., VOETS, G., VAN DEN MUNCKHOF, M., VAN ESSEN-ZANDBERGEN, A., PLATTEEL, T., FLUIT, A., VAN DE SANDE-BRUINSMA, N. & SCHARINGA, J. 2011. Dutch patients, retail chicken meat and poultry share the same ESBL genes, plasmids and strains. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, **17**, 873-80.
- LITERAK, I., DOLEJSKA, M., RADIMERSKY, T., KLIMES, J., FRIEDMAN, M., AARESTRUP, F. M., HASMAN, H. & CIZEK, A. 2010. Antimicrobial-resistant faecal Escherichia coli in wild mammals in central Europe: multiresistant Escherichia coli producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in wild boars. *J Appl Microbiol*, 108, 1702-11.
- LYHS, U., IKONEN, I., POHJANVIRTA, T., RANINEN, K., PERKO-MÄKELÄ, P. & PELKONEN, S. 2012. Extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli in poultry meat products on the Finnish retail market. *Acta Vet Scand*, 54, 64.

- MADEC, J.-Y. & HAENNI, M. 2018. Antimicrobial resistance plasmid reservoir in food and foodproducing animals. *Plasmid*, 99, 72-81.
- MAGIORAKOS, A. P., SRINIVASAN, A., CAREY, R. B., CARMELI, Y., FALAGAS, M. E., GISKE, C. G., HARBARTH, S., HINDLER, J. F., KAHLMETER, G., OLSSON-LILJEQUIST, B., PATERSON, D. L., RICE, L. B., STELLING, J., STRUELENS, M. J., VATOPOULOS, A., WEBER, J. T. & MONNET, D. L. 2012. Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 18, 268-81.
- MANGES, A. R. 2016. Escherichia coli and urinary tract infections: the role of poultry-meat. *Clin Microbiol Infect,* 22, 122-9.
- MARCHAIM, D., NAVON-VENEZIA, S., SCHWABER, M. J. & CARMELI, Y. 2008. Isolation of imipenemresistant Enterobacter species: emergence of KPC-2 carbapenemase, molecular characterization, epidemiology, and outcomes. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 52, 1413-8.
- MARÍN, C., SOTO, V. & MARCO-JIMENEZ, F. 2016. Absence of campylobacter spp. In intensive rabbit farming in eastern Spain, preliminary results. *World Rabbit Sci*, 24, 327-31.
- MARINHO, C., IGREJAS, G., GONCALVES, A., SILVA, N., SANTOS, T., MONTEIRO, R., GONCALVES, D., RODRIGUES, T. & POETA, P. 2014. Azorean wild rabbits as reservoirs of antimicrobial resistant Escherichia coli. *Anaerobe*, 30, 116-9.
- MARTINEZ, J. 2009. Environmental pollution by antibiotics and by antibiotic resistance determinants. *Environ Pollut*, 157, 2893-902.
- MATHER, A. E., REID, S. W., MCEWEN, S. A., TERNENT, H. E., REID-SMITH, R. J., BOERLIN, P., TAYLOR,
  D. J., STEELE, W. B., GUNN, G. J. & MELLOR, D. J. 2008. Factors associated with crosscontamination of hides of Scottish cattle by Escherichia coli 0157. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 74, 6313-9.
- MEDINA, A., DE LA FUENTE, R., BADIOLA, I., DE ROZAS, A. P., ORDEN, J. A. & RUIZ-SANTA QUITERIA, J.
   A. 2015. Antimicrobial Resistance in Commensal Escherichia Coli Isolates from Rabbits. *Rev Cient*, 25, 38-42.
- MERCANOGLU TABAN, B. & HALKMAN, A. K. 2011. Do leafy green vegetables and their ready-to-eat [RTE] salads carry a risk of foodborne pathogens? *Anaerobe*, 17, 286-7.

- MESA, R. J., BLANC, V., BLANCH, A. R., CORTÉS, P., GONZALEZ, J. J., LAVILLA, S., MIRO, E., MUNIESA, M.,
   SACO, M. & TÓRTOLA, M. T. 2006. Extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing
   Enterobacteriaceae in different environments (humans, food, animal farms and sewage). J
   Antimicrob Chemother, 58, 211-5.
- MOR-MUR, M. & YUSTE, J. 2010. Emerging bacterial pathogens in meat and poultry: an overview. *Food Bioproc Tech,* 3, 24.
- NOBILI, G., FRANCONIERI, I., BASANISI, M. G., LA BELLA, G., TOZZOLI, R., CAPRIOLI, A. & LA SALANDRA, G. 2016. Short communication: Isolation of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli in raw milk and mozzarella cheese in southern Italy. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 7877-80.
- NOORI, T. & ALWAN, M. 2016. Isolation and Identification of zoonotic bacteria from poultry meat. *Int J Adv Res Biol Sci*, 3, 57-66.
- NORDMANN, P., GNIADKOWSKI, M., GISKE, C. G., POIREL, L., WOODFORD, N. & MIRIAGOU, V. 2012. Identification and screening of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. *Clin Microbiol Infect,* 18, 432-8.
- NY, S., LOFMARK, S., BORJESSON, S., ENGLUND, S., RINGMAN, M., BERGSTROM, J., NAUCLER, P., GISKE, C. G. & BYFORS, S. 2017. Community carriage of ESBL-producing Escherichia coli is associated with strains of low pathogenicity: a Swedish nationwide study. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 72, 582-8.
- OVERDEVEST, I., WILLEMSEN, I., RIJNSBURGER, M., EUSTACE, A., XU, L., HAWKEY, P., HECK, M., SAVELKOUL, P., VANDENBROUCKE-GRAULS, C., VAN DER ZWALUW, K., HUIJSDENS, X. & KLUYTMANS, J. 2011. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamase genes of Escherichia coli in chicken meat and humans, The Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17, 1216-22.
- PEZZELLA, C., RICCI, A., DIGIANNATALE, E., LUZZI, I. & CARATTOLI, A. 2004. Tetracycline and streptomycin resistance genes, transposons, and plasmids in Salmonella enterica isolates from animals in Italy. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 48, 903-8.
- PLETINCKX, L. J., VERHEGGHE, M., CROMBE, F., DEWULF, J., DE BLEECKER, Y., RASSCHAERT, G., BUTAYE, P., GODDEERIS, B. M. & DE MAN, I. 2013. Evidence of possible methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus ST398 spread between pigs and other animals and people residing on the same farm. *Prev Vet Med*, 109, 293-303.

- POIREL, L., JAYOL, A. & NORDMANN, P. 2017. Polymyxins: antibacterial activity, susceptibility testing, and resistance mechanisms encoded by plasmids or chromosomes. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 30, 557-96.
- RASHEED, M. U., THAJUDDIN, N., AHAMED, P., TEKLEMARIAM, Z. & JAMIL, K. 2014. Antimicrobial drug resistance in strains of Escherichia coli isolated from food sources. *Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo*, 56, 341-6.
- REIST, M., GESER, N., HACHLER, H., SCHARRER, S. & STEPHAN, R. 2013. ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae: occurrence, risk factors for fecal carriage and strain traits in the Swiss slaughter cattle population younger than 2 years sampled at abattoir level. *PLoS One,* 8, e71725.
- REULAND, E., AL NAIEMI, N., RAADSEN, S., SAVELKOUL, P., KLUYTMANS, J. & VANDENBROUCKE-GRAULS, C. 2014. Prevalence of ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae in raw vegetables. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*, 33, 1843-6.
- RODRÍGUEZ-BAÑO, J., LÓPEZ-CERERO, L., NAVARRO, M. D., DE ALBA, P. D. & PASCUAL, A. 2008. Faecal carriage of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli: prevalence, risk factors and molecular epidemiology. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 62, 1142-9.
- RODRIGUEZ-CALLEJA, J. M., GARCIA-LOPEZ, I., GARCIA-LOPEZ, M. L., SANTOS, J. A. & OTERO, A. 2006. Rabbit meat as a source of bacterial foodborne pathogens. *J Food Prot*, 69, 1106-12.
- RODRIGUEZ-CALLEJA, J. M., SANTOS, J. A., OTERO, A. & GARCIA-LOPEZ, M. L. 2004. Microbiological quality of rabbit meat. *J Food Prot*, 67, 966-71.
- RODRIGUEZ-CATURLA, M. Y., VALERO, A., CARRASCO, E., POSADA, G. D., GARCIA-GIMENO, R. M. & ZURERA, G. 2012. Evaluation of hygiene practices and microbiological status of ready-to-eat vegetable salads in Spanish school canteens. *J Sci Food Agric*, 92, 2332-40.
- SAID, L. B., JOUINI, A., KLIBI, N., DZIRI, R., ALONSO, C. A., BOUDABOUS, A., SLAMA, K. B. & TORRES, C. J.
   I. J. O. F. M. 2015. Detection of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL)-producing Enterobacteriaceae in vegetables, soil and water of the farm environment in Tunisia. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 203, 86-92.
- SCHWAIGER, K., HELMKE, K., HOLZEL, C. S. & BAUER, J. 2011. Antibiotic resistance in bacteria isolated from vegetables with regards to the marketing stage (farm vs. supermarket). *Int J Food Microbiol*, 148, 191-6.

- SIMJEE, S., SILLEY, P., WERLING, H. O. & BYWATER, R. 2008. Potential confusion regarding the term 'resistance' in epidemiological surveys. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 61, 228-9.
- SINGER, A. C., SHAW, H., RHODES, V. & HART, A. 2016. Review of antimicrobial resistance in the environment and its relevance to environmental regulators. *Front Microbiol*, **7**, 1728.
- SKOCKOVA, A., BOGDANOVICOA, K., KOLACKOVA, I. & KARPISKOVA, R. 2015. Antimicrobial-resistant and extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli in raw cow's milk. *J Food Prot*, 78, 72-7.
- SKURNIK, D., BONNET, D., BERNÈDE-BAUDUIN, C., MICHEL, R., GUETTE, C., BECKER, J. M., BALAIRE, C., CHAU, F., MOHLER, J. & JARLIER, V. 2008. Characteristics of human intestinal Escherichia coli with changing environments. *Environ Microbiol*, 10, 2132-7.
- SOULI, M., GALANI, I., ANTONIADOU, A., PAPADOMICHELAKIS, E., POULAKOU, G., PANAGEA, T., VOURLI, S., ZERVA, L., ARMAGANIDIS, A., KANELLAKOPOULOU, K. & GIAMARELLOU, H. 2010. An outbreak of infection due to beta-Lactamase Klebsiella pneumoniae Carbapenemase 2-producing K. pneumoniae in a Greek University Hospital: molecular characterization, epidemiology, and outcomes. *Clin Infect Dis*, 50, 364-73.
- SSR-ER 2006. Uso degli antimicrobici negli animali da produzione. Limiti delle ricette veterinarie per attività di farmacosorveglianza. . Available from: <u>https://assr.regione.emilia-romagna.it</u>.
- VALVERDE, A., COQUE, T. M., SÁNCHEZ-MORENO, M. P., ROLLÁN, A., BAQUERO, F. & CANTÓN, R. 2004. Dramatic increase in prevalence of fecal carriage of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae during nonoutbreak situations in Spain. *J Clin Microbiol*, 42, 4769-75.
- VAN DUIJKEREN, E., WIELDERS, C. C., DIERIKX, C. M., VAN HOEK, A. H., HENGEVELD, P., VEENMAN, C., FLORIJN, A., LOTTERMAN, A., SMIT, L. A. & VAN DISSEL, J. T. 2017. Long-term Carriage of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase–Producing Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae in the General Population in The Netherlands. *Clin Infect Dis*, 66, 1368-76.
- VAN DUIJKEREN, E., WIELDERS, C. C. H., DIERIKX, C. M., VAN HOEK, A., HENGEVELD, P., VEENMAN, C., FLORIJN, A., LOTTERMAN, A., SMIT, L. A. M., VAN DISSEL, J. T., MAASSEN, C. B. M. & DE GREEFF, S. C. 2018. Long-term Carriage of Extended-Spectrum beta-Lactamase-Producing Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae in the General Population in The Netherlands. *Clin Infect Dis*, 66, 1368-76.

- VAN HOEK, A. H., VEENMAN, C., VAN OVERBEEK, W. M., LYNCH, G., DE RODA HUSMAN, A. M. & BLAAK, H. 2015. Prevalence and characterization of ESBL- and AmpC-producing Enterobacteriaceae on retail vegetables. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 204, 1-8.
- VAN SCHAIK, W. 2015. The human gut resistome. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 370, 20140087.
- VERRAES, C., VAN BOXSTAEL, S., VAN MEERVENNE, E., VAN COILLIE, E., BUTAYE, P., CATRY, B., DE SCHAETZEN, M.-A., VAN HUFFEL, X., IMBERECHTS, H. & DIERICK, K. 2013. Antimicrobial resistance in the food chain: a review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 10, 2643-69.
- VINUÉ, L., SAENZ, Y., MARTINEZ, S., SOMALO, S., MORENO, M., TORRES, C. & ZARAZAGA, M. 2009. Prevalence and diversity of extended-spectrum ß-lactamases in faecal Escherichia coli isolates from healthy humans in Spain. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 15, 954-7.
- WALCZAK, J. J., XU, S. J. W., AIR, & POLLUTION, S. 2011. Manure as a source of antibiotic-resistant Escherichia coli and enterococci: a case study of a Wisconsin, USA family dairy farm. *Water Air Soil Pollut,* 219, 579-89.
- WANG, H., MCENTIRE, J. C., ZHANG, L., LI, X. & DOYLE, M. 2012. The transfer of antibiotic resistance from food to humans: facts, implications and future directions. *Rev Sci Tech*, 31, 249-60.
- WHO 2019. Critically important antimicrobials for human medicine, 6th revision. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int</u>.
- YAZDANKHAH, S., GRAHEK-OGDEN, D., HJELTNES, B., LANGSRUD, S., LASSEN, J., NORSTRÖM, M., SUNDE, M., ECKNER, K., KAPPERUD, G. & NARVHUS, J. 2018. Assessment of Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Chains in Norway. *Eur J Nutr Food Saf*, 237-239, 237-9.

## 4. AMR genotypic characterisation

NOTICE: the following subchapter represents the pre-print author's version of a work that will be submitted for publication. The paper has been edited according to the formatting used for the remaining dissertation. Changes resulting from the publishing process, such as editing, corrections, structural formatting, and other quality control mechanisms may not be reflected in this document. Changes could be made to this work before its submission for publication.

# 4.1 Paper: *Escherichia coli* from companion animals, livestock, wildlife and food as potential sources of antimicrobial resistance and virulence associated gene

Elisa Massella<sup>1</sup>, Cameron J. Reid<sup>2</sup>, Max L. Cummins<sup>2</sup>, Kay Anantanawat<sup>2</sup>, Tiziana Zingali<sup>2</sup>, Andrea Serraino<sup>1</sup>, Silvia Piva<sup>1</sup>, Federica Giacometti<sup>1a</sup>, Steven P. Djordjevic<sup>2a\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Veterinary Medical Sciences, University of Bologna, Ozzano dell'Emilia (BO), Italy; <sup>2</sup>The ithree institute, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, NSW, Australia.

<sup>a</sup>These authors provided equal fundings. \*Corresponding author: Steven P. Djordjevic, steven.djordjevic@uts.edu.au

### 4.1.1 Abstract

Animals, human and food are all interconnected sources of antimicrobial resistance, allowing extensive and rapid exchange of AMR bacteria and genes. AMR monitoring in these niches represents an essential step for preventive measure implementation and epidemiological evaluation.

Here, we report whole-genome sequence analysis of 279 *Escherichia coli* indicators isolated from animals (livestock, companion animals, wildlife), food and human in Italy.

Strain collection was predominantly associated to phylogroup B1 (46.6%) and A (29%). One hundred and thirty-six STs were observed, including different pandemic (ST69, ST95, ST131) and emerging (ST10, ST23, ST58, ST117, ST405, ST648) ExPEC lineages. Eight ARGs and 4 chromosomal mutations conferring resistance to HP-CIAs were identified (*qnrS1, qnrB19, mcr1, bla*<sub>CTX-M1,15,55</sub>, *bla*<sub>CMY-2</sub>, *gyrA/parC/parE* and *pmrB*). Twenty-two class 1 integron arrangements in 34 strains were characterised and 11 ARGs were designated as *intl1* related gene cassettes (*aadA1, aadA2, aadA5, aad23, ant2\_1a, dfrA1, dfrA7, dfrA14, dfrA12, dfrA17, cmlA1*).

Most *intl1* positive strains belonged to rabbit (38%) and poultry (24%) sources. Virulence-associated genes were usually typical of ExPEC pathotype.

Three rabbit samples carried the *mcr1* colistin resistance gene in association with IS6 family insertion elements. Poultry meat harboured some of the most prominent ExPEC STs, including ST131, ST69, ST10, ST23, and ST117. Wildlife showed a high average number of VAGs (mean=10), mostly associated to ExPEC pathotype, and some predominant ExPEC lineages (ST23, ST117, ST648).

Our study reiterated the role of food-producing animals as a reservoir of potential zoonotic pathogens, with variable antimicrobial resistance and virulence traits among the sources investigated. Moreover, our findings suggest the potential role of wildlife in the maintenance and diffusion of virulence determinants.

**Keywords**: commensal *E. coli*, One Health, antimicrobial resistance, virulence, microbial genomic epidemiology.

### 4.1.2 Introduction

Antimicrobial resistance has been recognised as one of the world's most pressing public health problems, affecting both human and veterinary medicine. In recent decades we have witnessed a dramatic spread and diffusion of MDR pathogens. In the context of human medicine, the decrease of bacterial susceptibility to critically important antimicrobials (CIAs) and the quick diffusion of ESBL producers are of main concern (Roca *et al.*, 2015).

The consequences of MDR are particularly severe and characterised by an increase in infection severity, treatment failure, hospitalisations and mortality, with growing costs for health care. It has been estimated that AMR causes 700,000 deaths every year globally, with 25,000 victims and over €1.5 billion in healthcare costs only in the European Union (EFSA, 2017a).

The 3 predominant processes involved in AMR maintenance and diffusion are the emergence, invasion and occupation by ARGs of significant environments for human health (Baquero *et al.*, 2015). In this context, HGT plays a primary role in the exchange of genetic material amongst bacteria and drives rapid evolution, particularly under selective pressure. HGT of ARGs is mediated by mobile genetic elements and facilitated by the interconnection between bacteria, their hosts and environments.

Animal (livestock, companion animals, wildlife), community, hospital and industrial settings (including food-production) have been investigated in the past as possible sources of AMR (Anaissie *et al.*, 2002; Ewers *et al.*, 2012; Economou and Gousia, 2015; van Schaik, 2015; Madec and Haenni, 2018). The interaction between these environments is very complex and understanding vectors of AMR transfer is an ongoing area of investigation. Municipal, agricultural and industrial wastewater, aquaculture, animal manure and sewage sludge have been recognized as major pathways of AMR transmission between different ecosystems (Singer *et al.*, 2016).

Data describing AMR spatial/temporal trends and related sources are essential for epidemiological evaluation and preventive measure implementation. In this context, the EU has defined AMR as a special health issue that has to be covered by epidemiological surveillance (European Commission, 2018).

Commensal *E. coli* is recognised as a good indicator of AMR in Gram-negative bacterial population. The reasons derive from its wide diffusion in animal and human feces and their high genetic plasticity, allowing the frequent acquisition of antimicrobial genetic determinants from other enteric bacteria and the environment. Moreover, *E. coli* also represents important pathogens, usually associated with

enteric and extraintestinal infections (e.g. urinary tract infections, meningitis and septicaemia) (Kaper *et al.*, 2004).

In Europe, extensive genomic evaluation of ARGs, VAGs and their association with MGEs in non-clinical *E. coli* is generally lacking. Most studies focus on phenotypic AMR analysis in limited sources (poultry, pig and cattle), as opposed to genomic characterisation (Bywater *et al.*, 2004; Kaesbohrer *et al.*, 2012; Hanon *et al.*, 2015; Hesp *et al.*, 2019). When implemented, genotypic evaluation is mainly performed by PCR, without considering the comprehensive mobile antimicrobial genetic structures involved (Domínguez *et al.*, 2002; Österberg *et al.*, 2016; Perrin-Guyomard *et al.*, 2016; El Garch *et al.*, 2018; Ceccarelli *et al.*, 2019). This is particularly evident in Italian studies (Bortolaia *et al.*, 2010; Dotto *et al.*, 2014; Ghodousi *et al.*, 2015; El Garch *et al.*, 2018).

Further investigations are needed to address the lack of knowledge in AMR dissemination and epidemiology in *E. coli* indicators from different environments in Europe and in particular in Italy. Here, we presented WGS of 288 *E. coli*, isolated from different potential AMR sources (including livestock, companion animals, wildlife, food and human) in Italy. We provide data related to their phylogenetic diversity, carriage of ARGs, VAGs, biocide resistance genes and their association with mobile genetic elements.

### 4.1.3 Materials and methods

### 4.1.3.1 Sampling

In the period between November 2016 and July 2018 a total of 288 commensal *E. coli* were collected from 12 different food, animal and human sources (dairy, beef, wild boar, rabbit, poultry, swine, vegetable, fishery, mollusc, wild animal and human), mainly in the Emilia Romagna region of Italy.

Food samples (chicken-rabbit-swine meat products, vegetable and fishery) were collected from major supermarkets located in the province of Bologna and from the educational abattoir of the Veterinary Sciences Department (University of Bologna), during slaughtering procedures (sponge of beef carcasses). Among animal samples, faeces (cat and dog) and cloacal swabs (poultry) were collected from healthy individuals, that had not taken antimicrobials in the month prior to the collection. Wild boar diaphragm samples were supplied by Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Bologna.

Human faeces were collected from sound volunteers that were approached for recruitment in person. These participants had not had any antimicrobial treatments in the month prior the collection.

All food, animal and human samples were carried to the laboratory in aseptic conditions and analysed within 2 hours from the time of purchase.

Twenty-five *E. coli* isolated from milk, cheese and milking system filter were provided by the Service of Food Security, Department of Veterinary Science, University of Bologna. Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Bologna, Forlì and Reggio Emilia contributed to the strain collection with 99 hypothetical *E. coli*, isolated from different animal sources (mollusc, wild animal, rabbit, beef, companion animal, swine). Each source was characterised by 25 *E. coli* isolates with the exception of companion animals, consisting of 13 strains only.

More details about strain collection are provided in Supplementary Material, Table S13.

### 4.1.3.2 Bacterial isolation

20 g of food sample (in the case of carcass sponge, each one separately) were placed into sterile blender bags, diluted in 180 ml of sterile EC-Broth (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and macerated in a stomacher for 1 minute. Samples were incubated overnight at  $37 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Faecal samples (1 g each) were diluted (1:10) in peptone water (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and homogenated by vortexing.

Ten µl of overnight culture in EC-Broth (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and 10 µl of faeces solution (or directly in the case of the cloacal swabs) were streaked onto MacConkey (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and Levine (Oxoid, Basington, UK) agar plates and incubated for 18 - 24 h at  $37 \pm 1$ °C. For all the samples, lactose fermenting colonies were collected and assessed for Gram stain and standard biochemical test (indole probe). *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as a control strain.

### 4.1.3.3 Storage

All strains were freshly cultured on TSA (Oxoid, Basington, UK) for 18-24h at 37 ± 1°C and stored at - 80°C in cryoprotective medium, composed of Tryptone Soya Broth (Oxoid, Basington, UK) and 20% glycerol.

### 4.1.3.4 DNA extraction and isolate identification

Bacteria were grown on TSA (Oxoid, Basington, UK) for 18-24h at  $37 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Genomic DNA was extracted using the commercial kit DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), following the manufacturer instruction.

*E. coli* identification was performed through a multiplex PCR targeting 4 different genes (cytochrome bd complex, lactose permease, b-d-glucuronidase, and b-d-galactosidase) using primers and following suggestions of Horakova *et al.* (2008). The amplified products were loaded onto a 2% agarose gel containing Syber Safe DNA Gel Stain (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and run in 1X TBE buffer at 100 V for 1 h. PCR fragments were visualized with a UV transilluminator. A pUC19 DNA/MspI (Hpall) Marker (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was loaded on each gel as a DNA size standard. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as positive control.

### 4.1.3.5 WGS and assembly

Library preparation was performed using the Nextera Flex library preparation kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Briefly, genomic DNA was quantitatively assessed using Quant-iT picogreen dsDNA assay kit (Invitrogen, USA). The sample was then normalised to the concentration of  $1 \text{ ng}/\mu$ l and 10 ng of DNA was used for library preparation. After the tagmentation step, DNA was amplified using the facility's custom designed i7 and i5 barcodes, with 12 cycles of PCR.

Due to the number of samples, the quality control for the samples was done by sequencing a pool of samples using MiSeq V2 nano kit – 300 cycles (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Briefly, 3  $\mu$ l of each library was pooled into a library pool, cleaned up using SPRI beads following the Nextera Flex clean up

and size selection protocol. The pool was then sequenced using MiSeq V2 nano kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Based on the sequencing data generated, the read count for each sample was used to pool libraries at a different amount to ensure equal representation in the final pool and to discard failed libraries (i.e. libraries with less than 100 reads). The final pool was then sequenced on Illumina NextSeq 500, 2x150 bp at Ramaciotti Centre for Genomics (University of New South Wales, Australia).

Sequence read quality was assessed using FastQC version 0.11.5 (http://www.bioinformatics.abraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/). Illumina raw reads passing quality control were assembled into draft genome sequences using Shovill v1.0.4 with default settings, and trimming options (https://github.com/tseemann/shovill).

Genome sequences have been deposited in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database with study accession number PRJNA528851. Accession numbers for each sample are listed in Supplementary Material, Table S1.

### *4.1.3.6 Gene identification, serotyping, phylogrouping and multilocus sequence typing*

All gene screening was performed using ARIBA (Hunt *et al.*, 2017) as well as reference sequences from a variety of publicly available databases. Resistance, virulence, plasmid-associated genes and OH antigen genes were obtained from ResFinder (Zankari *et al.*, 2012), PlasmidFinder (Carattoli *et al.*, 2014), VirulenceFinder (Joensen *et al.*, 2014) and SerotypeFinder (Joensen *et al.*, 2015).

Other sequences of interest (insertion sequence elements, AMR and virulence associated gene sequences), available at https://github.com/maxlcummins/E\_coli\_customDB and not present within the previous databases were also screened. Moreover, different biocide resistance gene sequences collected from GenBank were considered. Pointfinder (Zankari *et al.*, 2017) was used to establish chromosomal mutation in *gyrA/B – parA/C/E* and *pmrA/B*, predicting phenotypic resistance to quinolones and colistin respectively.

*E. coli* phylogroups were determined using the Clermont scheme (Clermont *et al.*, 2000), meanwhile the Achtman scheme was used to evaluate *E. coli* multilocus sequence types (MLST)

(http://mlst.warwick.ac.uk/mlst/). ARIBA results were then processed and summarized with ARIBAlord (https://github.com/maxlcummins/ARIBAlord)

### 4.1.3.7 Phylogenetic analysis

Maximum-likelihood phylogenetic distances between genomes were analysed using the PhyloSift pipeline (Darling *et al.*, 2014), and a tree was generated using FastTree2 (Price *et al.*, 2010). The tree was constructed using FigTree v1.4.4 (http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree/) and iTOL (https://itol.embl.de/)

### 4.1.4 Results

The original collection consisted of 288 *E. coli* strains. Nine of these (EM1\_Be20, EM1\_Ca14, EM1\_Fs21, EM1\_Rb15, EM1\_Rb25, EM1\_Ve16, WM1\_Wb2, EM1\_Wb24, EM1\_Wb25) were excluded due to PCR misidentification or inadequate DNA quality. Therefore the final study collection consisted of 279 *E. coli* (25, poultry; 25 swine; 25, dairy; 25 human; 25, mollusc; 25, wild animal; 24, beef; 24, vegetable; 24, fishery; 23, rabbit; 22, wild boar; 12, companion animal).

We identified a total of 136 sequence types, with ST10 (16; 5.7%), ST155, ST847 (9; 3.2% both), ST69 (8; 2.9%), ST20 (7; 2.5%), ST23, ST117, ST216 (6; 2.2% all) being the most common. Ninty-five sequence types were represented by a single isolate. Among all sources STs variability was extremely high. Exceptions were represented by beef, swine poultry with eight ST847, six ST10 and five ST117 respectively. Sixteen strains, with a single SNP in at least one reference allele, were assigned putative sequence types (denotated by an asterisk). Moreover, 14 strains, characterised by SNPs or new combinations of known alleles, were designated as novel.

One hundred and fifty-eight different serotypes were predicted for the 279 strains analysed. Fortyfour strains were O non typable with 20 different H types, meanwhile for one O107 isolate we could not determine the H type. Furthermore, 22 strains were assigned to putative serotype (denotated by an asterisk). Serotype variability was pronounced among source, except for human sources with six O1:H7 strains (4, ST59; 2, ST95). The most common phylogroup identified among the collection was B1 (130; 46.6%), followed by A (81, 29%) D (47; 16.8%) and B2 (21; 7.5%). Most beef, companion animal, mollusc, rabbit, vegetable and wild animal strains ( $\geq$ 50%) belonged to phylogroup B1, meanwhile phylogroup A was the most representative ( $\geq$ 40% in each source) in dairy, fishery, poultry and swine sources. Phylogroup D was prevalent in human (12/25; 48%) and wild boar (11/22; 50%) isolates. Interestingly, wild boar and wild animal sources were associated to the highest number of B2 strains (6 and 3 respectively), which are usually associated with pathogens.

Phylosift analysis produced a maximum-likelihood tree with two main clades (Figure 4.1.). Tree topology was highly congruent with Achtman MLST, in silico serotyping and generally congruent with phylogroup distribution.

Clade 1 was composed by 2 subclades, one mostly associated to phylogroup B2 and one to phylogroup D. ST69 (ST69\*) was the prevalent sequence types of clade 1, characterising 10 different D strains.

Clade 2 was assembled into 4 subclades, the first mostly associated to phylogroup D, the second and the third to phylogroup A and the fourth to phylogroup B1. The most common lineage of clade 2 was ST10 (ST10\*), identified in 19 A isolates, all belonging to subclade 2. Several exceptions with regard to phylogroup-clade grouping were identified.

Tree topology showed congruence with sources distribution. Human (13) and wild boar (11) isolates were frequently associated to clade 1 and distributed in both subclades, meanwhile fishery (13) and swine (13) niches belonged mostly to clade 2, subclade 2.

Beef (23), rabbit (20), wild animal (17), vegetable (15), mollusc (15), dairy (12) and companion animal (7) were mainly identified in clade 2, subclade 4. Poultry strains were mostly assigned to clade 2, subclade 2 (7). Six poultry isolates were also identified in both clade 1, subclade 2 and clade 2, subclade 4.

### 4.1.4.1 ARGs

One hundred and seventy-one strains (61.3%) were not carrying any ARGs. The remaining 108 (38.7%) isolates carried between 1 and 18 ARGs, with 77 (71.3%) strains containing at least 3. Among the latter, 43/77 (55.8%) strains belonged to phylogroup B1, 20/77 (26%) to phylogroup A, 12/77 (15.6%) to phylogroup D and 2/77 (26%) to phylogroup B2. Interestingly, most strains carrying  $\geq$ 10 ARGs belonged to phylogroups B1 (8/14) and A (4/14).

The mean number of ARGs present in each source was: rabbit, 8; poultry, 4; dairy, 3; swine and human, 2 each; wild animal, beef, companion animal, fishery and mollusc, 1 each. The sources carrying the lowest number of ARGs were wild boar and vegetable, with only 1 and 2 strains respectively.

Fifty-three different ARGs were identified in our collection, with tetracycline resistance gene *tetA* (57/279; 20.4%), sulfonamide resistance gene *sul2* (45/279; 16.1%), penicillin resistance gene *bla*<sub>TEM-1b</sub> (43/279; 15.4%) and streptomycin resistance genes *strA/B* (42/279; 15.1%) being the most common. Colistin resistance gene *mcr1* was discovered in 6 (2.2%) strains, namely 3 rabbit, 2 swine and 1 dairy strains. Genes encoding extended spectrum beta-lactamase (*bla*<sub>CTX-M1</sub>, *bla*<sub>CTX-M15</sub>, *bla*<sub>CTX-M55</sub>) were identified in 4 (1.4%) isolates, namely 2 dairies, 1 wild animal and 1 human. All ESBL strains carried a high number of ARGs (mean=9) and VAGs (mean = 16). AmpC beta lactamase gene *bla*<sub>CMY-2</sub> was identified in 1 human isolate. Fluoroquinolone resistance genes (*qnrS1* and *qnrB19*) were discovered in 2 dairy, 1 human and 1 rabbit strains.

Mutations in *gyrA*, *parC* and *parE* genes, responsible for fluoroquinolone resistance, were identified in 61 strains, mostly of rabbit (17/54), poultry (13/54) and human (9/54) origin. Only one swine isolate was associated with SNPs in *pmrB*, conferring presumptive resistance to colistin. The complete virulence profile of the strain collection is shown in Figure 4.2.

### 4.1.4.2 VAGs

The whole collection was screened for VAGs associated with ExPEC and IPEC pathotypes. One hundred and eleven different VAGs were identified (Figure 4.3.). All strains carried between 1 and 37 VAGs. A high number ( $\geq$ 10) of virulence determinants were identified in 102 (36.6%) isolates, most of them

belonging to phylogroup B1 (41, 40,2%), followed by D (27; 26.5%), A (21, 20.6%) and B2 (13; 12.7). Most VAGs were typical of ExPEC pathotype, including different genes encoding for adhesins (*fimH*, *pap*, *iha*, *bmaE*, *sfaS*), invasins (*ibeA*), iron acquisition systems (*iucD*, *iutA*, *fyuA*, *irp2*, *iroN*, *ireA*, *tsh*, *sitA*), toxins (*hlyE*, *cnf1*, *cdtB*, *usp*, *sat*, *picU*, *vat*) and protectins (*kpsMT-II*, *traT*, *ompT*, *iss*, *cvaC*).

The presence of both ExPEC and IPEC VAGs in the same strains suggested the rise of potential hybrid pathogens, mainly associated to rabbit source (four ST20 and four ST40 strains).

The mean number of VAGs for each source was: poultry and human, 15; rabbit, 14; wild animal and companion animal, 11; swine, 10; dairy, mollusc and wild boar, 8; beef and vegetable, 6; fishery, 5. Three strains (1.1%) carried  $\geq$ 30 VAGs, including two from poultry (1, ST117; 1, ST131) and one ST648 from a wild animal (stork).

### 4.1.4.3 Class 1 integron structures

Short read screening identified the *intl1* class 1 integrase gene in 50/279 (17.9%) strains, mostly associated to phylogroup B1 (31/50; 62%), followed by A and D (9/50; 18% each) and B2 (1/50; 2%).

Following *de novo* assembly, we identified 44 strains with scaffolds carrying a complete *intl1* gene. Thiry-four out of 44 starins carried cassette array genes and were annotated in order to characterise the different integron structures present in the collection. Twenty-two arrangements were characterised and designated letters (A-V). Derivatives of (A-V) were named with the letter of the principal structure followed by a number (Figure 4.4). Eleven ARGs were identified as *intl1* related gene cassettes, namely the aminoglycoside adenyltransferase genes *aadA1*, *aadA2*, *aadA5*, *aad23*, the aminoglycoside O-nucleotidylyltransferase gene *ant2\_la*, the dihydrofolate reductase genes *dfrA1*, *dfrA12*, *dfrA14*, *dfrA17* and the chloramphenicol efflux protein precursor gene *cmlA1*. The most common cassette array in class 1 integron structure was *aadA1-dfrA1*, present in 14/35 (40%) different strains. Both *sul1* and *sul3* were associated with integrons. Two isolates (1 human and 1 poultry strains) harboured both *intl1* and *intl2* integrase genes.

### 4.1.4.4 intl1 positive and negative strains in comparison

Short read sequencing indicated that 50/279 (17.9%) strains carried *intl1* gene, most of them isolated from food-producing animals (19/50; 38%) and related food (24/50; 48%). In particular, rabbit (19/50; 38%) and poultry (12/50; 24%) sources were the most represented, followed by 4 human (8%), 2 wild animal (4%), 1 companion animal (2%) and 1 fishery (2%) isolates. *intl1* negative *( intl1*· <sup>ve</sup>) group numbered 229/279 (82.1%) strains, isolated from food (124, 54,1%), wildlife (45, 19.7%), food-producing animals (28, 12.2%), human (21, 9.2%) and companion animals (11, 4.8%). Among food, mollusc (25), vegetable (24), fishery (23), beef (21) were the sources mostly represented.

A higher number of ARGs was harboured by *intl1* positive (*intl1*<sup>+ve</sup>) strains compared to *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> ones, with a mean of 8 to 1 respectively.

ARGs which are usually not associated to class 1 integron structure, as *tetA* (*intl1*<sup>+ve</sup>, 42/50, 84%; *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> 34/229, 14.8%), *bla*<sub>TEM</sub> (*intl1*<sup>+ve</sup>, 33/50, 66%; *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> 30/229, 13.1%) and *strA/B* (*intl1*<sup>+ve</sup>, 22/50, 44%; *intl*<sup>-ve</sup> 22/229, 9.6%), were present in both groups.

As expected, aminoglycoside (*aadA*) and trimethoprim (*dfr*) resistant determinants, widely observed as gene cassettes ,were widespread among *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> *strains* (43/50, 86% and 46/50, 92% respectively) and rare in *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> isolates (3/229, 1.3% and 5/229, 2.2% respectively).

ESBL, polymyxin, and quinolone resistance genes were rarely identified among *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> (2/50, 4%; 4/50, 8%; 2/50, 4% respectively) and *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> (2/229, 0.9%; 2/229, 0.9%; 2/229, 0.9% respectively) isolates. *bla*<sub>CMY-2</sub> gene was harboured by an *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> isolate.

VAGs appeared to be more common in *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> strains when compared to the *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> group, with means of 14 to 9 respectively. Most VAGs were typical of ExPEC pathotype. The IncF plasmid replicon was the most frequent in both *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> (47/50, 94%) and *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> (135/229, 59%) strains.

Notably, pandemic (ST69, ST95, ST131) and emerging (ST10, ST23 ST58, ST117, ST405, ST648) ExPEC lineages were present in both groups (*intl1*+ve,8/50, 16%; *intl-ve*, 37/229, 16.2%).

### 4.1.4.5 Plasmid incompatibility group.

Thirty-three different plasmid replicons were identified in the collection and IncF was the most common (182/279; 65.2%). Incl (57/279; 20.4%) and IncX (45/279; 16.1%) types were also frequently observed. These replicons were present across multiple sequence types.

### 4.1.4.6 Biocide resistance genes

Our collection was screened for different efflux pump genes and related regulators, extruding a wide variety of molecules (including biocides and antimicrobials). Most genetic determinants, known to be chromosomally encoded, were widely diffused among the collection. Interestingly, various genes involved in clinically significant MDR (*acrA*, 279/2791 100%; *acrB*, 279/279, 100%; *acrD*, 279/279, 100%; *acrE*, 267/279, 95.7%; *acrF*, 269/279, 96.4%; *acrR*, 279/279, 100%; *acrS*, 273/279, 97.8%; *TolC*, 279/279, 100%) and in quaternary ammonium compound resistance (*mdfA*, 279/279; *qacE*, 34/279; *qacI*, 15/279) have been identified. Plasmid encoding *qacE* and *qacI* genes were mostly observed in rabbit (17) and poultry (10) sources, alone or in combination.

### 4.1.5 DISCUSSION

The antimicrobial genetic pattern identified in our collection was generally consistent with phenotypic resistance of commensal animal and human *E. coli* previously reported in Europe (Bailey *et al.*, 2010; Guenther *et al.*, 2011; de Verdier *et al.*, 2012; Dotto *et al.*, 2014; Carvalho *et al.*, 2016; Grevskott *et al.*, 2017; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019). A notable exception was the wide diffusion of aminoglycoside ARGs in livestock (cattle, pig, poultry), despite the low phenotypic aminoglycoside resistance reported in the niches by the European data (EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019).

The most common ARGs in all the categories investigated were *tet* (mostly *tetA*, 57/279), *sul* (mostly *sul2*, 45/279) and *bla*<sub>TEM</sub> (mostly *bla*<sub>TEM-1b</sub>, 43/279).

The *tet-sul-bla*<sub>TEM</sub> genetic pattern in livestock (cattle, swine, poultry, rabbit) reflected the actual Italian antimicrobial stewardship practice in food-producing animal systems where tetracycline, sulfonamides and penicillins are the most commonly used compounds (EMA, 2019).

Penicillins are the most used antimicrobials in both companion animals and humans (ECDC, 2018a), explaining the wide diffusion of  $bla_{\text{TEM}}$  genes in these sources. Surprisingly, tetracycline and sulfonamide ARGs were commonly identified in these niches despite these two antimicrobial classes being sporadically used as a treatment in companion animals and humans (EMA, 2019).

The same AMR genetic profile (*tet-sul-bla*<sub>TEM</sub>) was also identified in environments not commonly associated to direct antimicrobial selective pressure, like aquaculture, vegetables and wildlife.

Resistance to tetracycline, sulfonamides and beta-lactams has already been reported in aquaculture (Sousa *et al.*, 2011; Grevskott *et al.*, 2017) and vegetable (Campos *et al.*, 2013; Holvoet *et al.*, 2013; Jensen *et al.*, 2013) in Europe. However, European and Italian data about AMR are lacking, probably because of the rare (aquaculture) or absent (vegetables) antimicrobial use in these food producing sectors (FVE, 2016). Hence, a proper comparison between our findings and previous phenotypic reports in these sources is difficult to perform. As expected, tetracycline, sulfonamides and beta-lactams resistance were also observed in wildlife, as reported by previous studies (Literak *et al.*, 2010; Giacopello *et al.*, 2016). Indeed, wildlife is considered an AMR bioindicator (Dolejska *et al.*, 2007; Literak *et al.*, 2010; Furness *et al.*, 2017) primarily because AMR observed in wild animals is influenced by livestock and human density/activity (Skurnik *et al.*, 2006; Allen *et al.*, 2010), where high antimicrobial selective pressure is more likely to be present.

These findings could suggest an important universal environmental pollution by penicillins, tetracycline and sulfonamides genetic determinants. Indeed, these molecules represented some of the oldest antimicrobial classes that have been used for decades and are still active (Eliopoulos *et al.*, 2003; Loudon, 2008; Petri, 2011). Moreover, overall antimicrobial consumption is mostly associated with food-producing animal systems (EFSA, 2017a), for which tetracycline and sulfonamides represent the most utilised antimicrobial compounds (EMA, 2019). The consequent high selective

pressure of these antimicrobials in the agricultural environment could have led to a widespread diffusion of related ARGs, spreading to other ecosystems mainly through faecal contamination (Radhouani *et al.*, 2014).

Streptomycin resistance genes were also frequently observed (42/279; 15%) among the collection. Currently, streptomycin has limited therapeutic usage in both humans and animals in Europe (ECDC, 2018a; EMA, 2019). Similar to sulfonamides and tetracycline, the seldom use of this antimicrobial could not explain the wide diffusion of related genetic determinants. However, *strA/B* are common streptomycin determinants among *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from human and animals (Pezzella et al., 2004). *strA/B* are usually genetically linked and have been frequently associated with Tn5393 (Pezzella et al., 2004) on different multiresistant plasmids (including IncH1, IncH2, IncHII, IncN, IncQ, IncU) (Rozwandowicz et al., 2018), circulating in bacterial populations. Moreover, these genes are often clustered on different plasmids with the *sul2* gene (Sherley et al., 2004; Enne et al., 2004; Daly et al., 2005; Szczepanowski et al., 2005), encoding resistance to some of the most frequently sold antimicrobials for livestock. A possible co-selection and co-diffusion of *sul2-strA/B* complex could be hypothesised.

Cephalosporins (3<sup>rd</sup>, 4t<sup>h</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> generation), polymyxins and quinolones are considered Highest Priority Critically Important Antimicrobials (HP-CIAs). These molecules represent the last defense treatment for serious human infectious diseases, whose resistant bacteria are suspected to be generating from non-human sources (WHO, 2019).

ESBL and polymixin ARGs/*pmr* chromosomal mutations were detected in low frequency among the collection and were mostly identified in food-producing animals and related food. Our findings are in accordance with low cephalosporin and colistin phenotypic resistance identified in *E. coli* from livestock and related meat in Europe (Dotto *et al.*, 2014; EFSA, 2016; EFSA, 2017b; Grevskott *et al.*, 2017; EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019).

Notably, most ESBL genes (2  $bla_{CTX-M1}$  genes in wild animal and dairy strains; 1  $bla_{CTX-M15}$  in a dairy strain; 1  $bla_{CTX-M55}$  in a human strain) were found in proximity to IS*Ecp1*. IS*Ecp1* is a member of the

IS*1380* family and has previously been associated with ESBL genes (Lartigue *et al.*, 2006; Dhanji *et al.*, 2011). Notably, a single copy of this IS element is able to mobilize a downstream gene through transposition (Poirel *et al.*, 2003; Poirel *et al.*, 2008).

*De novo* assemblies revealed that *mcr1* was flanked by IS6 family members in five out of seven carriers. IS26 was identified in short read screening of these strains (3 rabbits and 2 swine), despite scaffold breaks preventing a definitive identification. IS26 plays an important role in the evolution and mobilisation of ARGs worldwide. Here we report for the first time the *mcr1* gene flanked by IS6 family elements in isolates of swine (2) and rabbit (2) origin. These findings suggest a possible involvement of IS26 in the spread of *mcr1*. Further studies are necessary to establish the precise IS elements involved and their effective ability to transmit *mcr1* gene.

Fluoroquinolones/quinolones are important antimicrobials used in both hospital and community settings, with a minor role in companion and food-producing animals (ECDC, 2018a; EMA, 2019). In recent years, there has been a significant increase in fluoroquinolone resistance in human clinical *E. coli* in Europe, with the highest resistance rates observed in Italy (ECDC, 2018b). On the contrary, low resistance to these antimicrobials has been usually observed among livestock in EU Member States, with the exception of poultry source (EFSA, 2018; EFSA, 2019).

Interestingly, quinolone/fluoroquinolone resistance mostly derived from chromosomal mutations in *gyrA/parC/parE* genes, mainly identified in poultry (13) and rabbit (15) sources. Our findings are in accordance with these reported in poultry (EFSA, 2018) and rabbit (Dotto *et al.*, 2014) by other authors, showing high level of phenotypic quinolone/fluoroquinolone resistance. Dotto *et al.* (2014) attributed phenotypic resistance in Italian rabbit farms exclusively to *oqxA* and *oqxB* genes presence, which were not identified in our collection. However, the latter authors did not include chromosomal mutations in *gyrA/parC/parE* in AMR genetic screening. Fluoroquinolones have been reported as some of the most used antimicrobials in both poultry and rabbit production systems in Europe (FVE, 2016) despite the European Medicines Agency (EMA) not supplying stratified sales data of veterinary antimicrobials by food-producing animal species (EMA, 2019).

Our collection was associated to a high number of VAGs (in particular in human, poultry and rabbit niches) despite the fact that our study focused on commensal/environmental *E. coli*. Furthermore, genetic virulence patterns indicated the presence of potential extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli* (ExPEC) pathotypes. This is rather concerning since *E. coli* is one of the most common causative agents of UTI and BSI globally (Riley, 2014). This assumption was strengthened by the identification of different sequence types, recognised as pandemic (ST69, ST95, ST131) (Riley, 2014) or emergent ExPEC lineages (ST10, ST23 ST58, ST117, ST405, ST648) (Manges *et al.*, 2019). The most potential pathogen sources were human and food-producing animals/related food (poultry and rabbit sources).

Notably, different strains harboured plasmid encoded *qacE* and *qacl* genes, known to be associated with integron structure (Gaze *et al.*, 2005; Soufi *et al.*, 2009; Wannaprasat *et al.*, 2011; Romero *et al.*, 2017). *qacE* and *qacl* genes coded for SMR family efflux pump proteins, conferring resistance to quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs). QACs are membrane-active biocide agents commonly used as disinfectants and antiseptics in different environments (hospital, healthcare facilities and food industry) (Gerba, 2015). Moreover, different genes encoding RND family efflux pumps (AcrAB, AcrEF, AcrD) were widely identified in the collection. RND family efflux pumps are involved in clinically significant MDR (Piddock, 2006) and may target a wide variety of molecules (Rosenberg *et al.*, 2000; Nishino and Yamaguchi, 2001; Nagakubo *et al.*, 2002; Piddock, 2006). The identification of efflux pump genes could suggest potential phenotypic resistance, where antimicrobial determinants are not identified. However, this event is strictly related to efflux pump overexpression genotypes (Piddock, 2006).

#### 4.1.5.1 intl1 positive strains are more resistant and virulent

Class 1 integrons are recognised as a major source of ARGs (Kheiri and Akhtari, 2016) and play an essential role in the dissemination and evolution of MDR Gram-negative bacteria (Prapasawat *et al.,* 2017).

As expected, *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> strains carried more ARGs (mean = 8) than *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> isolates (mean=1). The main reason is associated to the ability of *intl1* site specific recombination site (attl) to recognise numerous

gene cassette attC sites (Labbate *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, a wide variety of antimicrobial genetic determinants have been identified as *intl1* related gene cassettes (Partridge *et al.*, 2009). In particular, *aadA1-dfrA1*, the most widespread cassette array detected in both commensal/clinical strains isolated from animal and food sources (Kaushik *et al.*, 2018), was identified in numerous isolates (15/34; 44.1%). Another important feature of class 1 integron is the ability of its transposition system to target resolution sites of different plasmids and transposons (in particular of Tn3 family) as site of insertion (Labbate *et al.*, 2009; Partridge *et al.*, 2009). These MGEs could harbour numerous antimicrobial determinants, allowing the co-carriage and co-transmission of class 1 integrons and numerous ARGs. In particular, the most frequent MGEs associated with class 1 integron in our collection were Tn21 and close relatives, identified in 26 of 35 (74.3%) *intl1*\*\*e strains. Tn21 transposon and related variants (belonging to Tn3 family) are globally disseminated and frequently involved in multiple ARGs and class 1 integron carriage in *Enterobacteriaceae*, despite numerous variations in their structure have been observed (Liebert *et al.*, 1999; Partridge *et al.*, 2018).

Interestingly, *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> strains also carried a higher number of VAGs (mean =14; *intl1*<sup>-ve</sup> isolates, mean=9), and often harboured F plasmid replicons. F incompatibility group members are recognised as the majority of virulence associated plasmids in *E. coli*. They are known to carry different antimicrobial resistance determinants (Johnson and Nolan, 2009; da Silva and Mendonça, 2012) and class 1 integrons (Moura *et al.*, 2012), creating a concerning combination of virulence and antimicrobial resistance traits. Our findings suggest that ARGs and VAGs may be co-localised on F plasmids in our collection. Long read sequencing data and analysis are required to confirm this hypothesis.

Notably, *intl1*<sup>+ve</sup> strains were mostly associated to ExPEG VAGs and to different ExPEC lineages (ST10, 2; ST58, 1; ST69, 2; ST117, 2; ST131, 1). These findings are particularly worrisome given *E. coli* represents one of the most common causes of human UTI and BSI (Riley, 2014) and given the frequent identification of class 1 integron in multiresistant *Enterobacteriaceae* in hospital environment (Martinez-Freijo *et al.*, 1998; Leverstein-van Hall *et al.*, 2003) and in *E. coli* responsible for UTI (Gündoğdu *et al.*, 2011; Fallah *et al.*, 2012).

Our findings suggested that *intl* related strains could represent a serious threat to human health, as a consequence of the high number of ARGs (also conferring resistance to CIA) and VAGs they carry. Moreover, important ExPEC genetic traits and pandemic lineages have been associated with *intl1*+ve strains, suggesting their potential role as extraintestinal pathogens.

### 4.1.5.2 Concerning sources

Rabbit, poultry and wildlife sources were notable for their concerning antimicrobial resistance and/or virulence profiles.

Rabbit represented the niche carrying the highest number of *mcr1* gene (3 strains from 1 animal and 2 meat samples) among our collection. It was always associated, and in two cases flanked, with IS6 family members. A recent Italian investigation (Agnoletti et al., 2018) reported polymyxin (colistin) as a widely used antimicrobial in rabbit farms even though two reports indicated colistin was not a common treatment in rabbit breeding systems (SSR-ER, 2006; FVE, 2016). Resistance to colistin has been previously reported in breeding rabbits in Europe, supporting the data from the third report (Freitas-Silva *et al.*, 2018). In our knowledge, this is the first report of *mcr1* identified in rabbit meat as food. This finding suggests rabbit farms and meat should be investigated as a potential reservoir of *mcr1* and as a vector for its transmission. Concerningly, different rabbit strains belonged to hybrid ST20 (4/23) and ST40 (4/23). Their virulence profile, characterised by the co-presence of both ExPEC (i.e fimH, cva, cvi, iss, traT, iroN) and IPEC (i.e. eae, efa1, cif, esp, nle, tir) VAGs, did not correspond to the usual pathotype observed in these lineages. Indeed, ST20 and ST40 have been usually reported as human diarrheagenic pathogens (Yu et al., 2018), often identified as shiga toxin producing E. coli (STEC) (Prager et al., 2009; Fierz et al., 2017; van Hoek et al., 2019). The emergence of new hybrid pathotype is worrisome and could represent a serious threat to public health, as witnessed in different important human outbreaks (Bielaszewska et al., 2011; Mariani-Kurkdjian et al., 2014; Toval et al., 2014; Lindstedt et al., 2018). Recombination of ExPEC and IPEC VAGs could lead to the transition from IPEC to ExPEC pathotype and vice versa (Toval *et al.*, 2014), or the emergence of strains able to cause
both intestinal and extraintestinal infections. Further studies are needed to better understand this phenomenon and the potential animal sources involved in hybrid pathotype evolution and diffusion.

Poultry source strains (11/25; 44%) belonged to some of the most prominent ExPEC sequence types (ST131, 1; ST69, 1; ST10, 1; ST23, 3; ST117; 5), all of which were isolated from poultry meat. ExPEC lineages carried the highest number of VAGs (mean=22) among poultry source and a high number of ARGs (mean=5). mcr1, ESBL genes and quinolone resistance mutations were not identified among these lineages. Notably, ST117 was the most common sequence type among poultry source. This lineage is considered an avian pathogenic extraintestinal E. coli (APEC) lineage and a human pathogen (Leverstein-van Hall et al., 2011; Mora et al., 2012). All the above mentioned ExPEC STs have been previously isolated from poultry animals and meat (Cortés et al., 2010; Vincent et al., 2010; Leversteinvan Hall et al., 2011; Giufrè et al., 2012; Manges and Johnson, 2012; Mora et al., 2012; Maluta et al., 2014). In particular, poultry meat was suspected to represent a source of ExPEC *E. coli*, which can be transmitted to consumers through food consumption (Mitchell et al., 2015). It has been hypothesised that the poultry gastrointestinal tract could represent a reservoir of APEC, coexisting with commensal bacteria (Dziva and Stevens, 2008). Faecal contamination of poultry carcasses during slaughter could allow potential ExPEC diffusion through the food chain (Mor-Mur and Yuste, 2010; Lyhs et al., 2012). Our findings underline the role of poultry as a source of potential ExPEC lineages and the importance of related meat as an ExPEC carrier to humans.

The literature mainly focuses on the role of wildlife in AMR maintenance and diffusion, overshadowing its possible involvement in virulence dissemination. The spread of VAG may exhibit similar dynamics involved in AMR diffusion, with the interplay between humans and human-associated animals/wildlife being the most important factor. Wild animals can represent an infection source, where potential pathogens can emerge in wild ecosystems or spread in turn to urban and agricultural environments. Indeed, wildlife has been recognized as a reservoir of emerging infectious diseases in humans (Jones *et al.*, 2008).

A relatively high number of VAGs (mostly associated to ExPEC pathotype) were observed in wild animal (mean=11) and wild boar (mean=8), with 10/47 (21,3%) isolates carrying  $\geq$ 15. Notably, four 108 strains belonged to some of the predominant ExPEC lineages (2, ST23; 1, ST117; 1, ST648). Concerningly, ST648 strain carried the highest number of VAGs (37) in the entire collection. ST648 has previously been isolated from wild birds (Guenther *et al.*, 2010a), humans, surface water, fish, vegetables and companion animals (Ewers *et al.*, 2014; Müller *et al.*, 2016). It has been related to disease in both human and animals (pets, horses and wildlife) (https://enterobase.warwick.ac.uk/, last accessed 19/10/2019) and frequently reported as an ESBL gene carrier (Cortés-Cortés *et al.*, 2016; Müller *et al.*, 2016).

Interestingly, wild animal strains carrying the highest number of VAGs and ARGs were isolated from birds. These findings could be explained considering bird's synanthropic behaviour, due to many advantages such as availability of food resources/refuges and absence of natural predator. Human related environments are exposed to higher antimicrobial selective pressure compared to wild habitats. For this reason, synanthropic birds could come in contact and be colonised with resistant bacteria and different genetic determinants (ARGs and VAGs), typical of human and agricultural settings. Birds are often chosen as an AMR dispersion indicator for their important epidemiological role in AMR diffusion (Guenther *et al.*, 2011). Migratory behavior could allow the dissemination of AMR bacteria/genes in other human related environments or in wildlife (Bonnedahl and Järhult, 2014). However, the high number of VAGs identified in birds could suggest their epidemiological importance also in virulence diffusion.

Briefly, our study reaffirmed the role of food-producing animals as a reservoir of potential zoonotic pathogens, with variable antimicrobial and virulence traits among the sources investigated.

In particular, rabbit and poultry represented the most worrisome sources, carrying the highest number of ARGs and VAGs. Poultry was associated with potential ExPEC strains, meanwhile rabbit was suggested as a source of potential hybrid pathogens and an *mcr1* carrier. Moreover, the role of wildlife in maintenance and diffusion of virulence determinants was hypothesised.

It should be noted that our study has two important limitations. Firstly, the small sample size of each source (in particular for companion animals) prevented the comparison between antimicrobial and 109

virulence profiles and the evaluation of their possible transmission routes between environments. Secondly, our data originated from short read sequencing analysis. Therefore, we could not determine the location of all ARGs identified and their association with MGEs. Moreover, we were not able to establish similarities/dissimilarities between F plasmids, potentially responsible for VAGs and ARGs carriage in our collection.

Despite these limitations, our study provided basic information about AMR and virulence determinants circulating in various environments in Italy. Further investigations can add a deeper understanding of AMR and virulence epidemiological traits in Gram-negative bacterial population in different environments.



Figure 4.1 A mid-point rooted, maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree of 279 commensal *E. coli* included in the study. Branches are coloured by clade and subclade (red: clade 1, subclade 1; orange: clade 1, subclade 2; black: clade2, subclade 1; blue: clade 2, subclade 2; sea green: clade 2, subclade 3; light green: clade 2, subclade 4). Phylogroups (inner ring), sequence types (middle ring) and sources (outer ring) are annotated according to the legend. Presumptive STs are shown with the same colour as their corresponding definitives.





Figure 4.2 Heat map depicting carriage of insertion sequences, plasmid incompatibility groups, ARGs and plasmid mediated QAC resistance genes in the strain collection. In the heatmap, sources are identified by different colours (light green = beef; companion animal = red; dairy = light blue; fishery = fuchsia; human = orange; mollusc = blue; poultry = yellow; rabbit = grey; swine = dark green; vegetable = violet; wild animal = brown; wild boar = cream). The most common STs observed in the collection are displayed with coloured circles (ST10 = blue; ST155 = red; ST847 = light sea green; ST69 = green; ST20 = fuchsia; ST23 = yellow; ST117 = dark green; ST216 = light green). Presumptive STs are shown with the same colour as their corresponding definitives.



Figure 4.3 Heat map depicting carriage of VAGs in the strain collection. In the heat map, sources are identified by different colours (light green = beef; companion animal = red; dairy = light blue; fishery = fuchsia; human = orange; mollusc = blue; poultry = yellow; rabbit = grey; swine = dark green; vegetable = violet; wild animal = brown; wild boar = cream). The most common STs observed in the collection are displayed with a coloured circles (ST10 = blue; ST155 = red; ST847 = light sea green; ST69 = green; ST20 = fuchsia; ST23 = yellow; ST117 = dark green; ST216 = light green). Presumptive STs are shown with the same colour as their corresponding definitives.



Figure 4.4 Schematic diagram (not to scale) of integron structures identified in 34 commensal E. coli. Arrows represent ORFs. Arrows with broken lines indicate hypothetical proteins. Vertical bars represent inverted repeats. Dashed double diagonal lines represent sequence scaffold breaks. Elements displayed are colour coded (ARGs = purple; IS elements = yellow; transposon elements = light blue).



Figure 4.4 ..\..



Figure 4.4 ..\..



Figure 4.4 ..\..





Pl25, ST155









Da5, Novel

Figure 4.4 ..\..



Rb7, ST20

Figure 4.4 ..\..

## 4.2. Phylo-typing methods in comparison

Among the collection, phylogroup evaluation was performed using: (Clermont *et al.*, 2015)

- *In silico* genome screening with ARIBA in order to detect 2 genes (*chuA* and *yjaA*) and 1 DNA fragment (TspE4.C2), targets of a triplex PCR (Clermont *et al.*, 2000) able to identify 4 different phylogroups (A, B1, B2, D);
- Laboratory PCR using a derivative of the triplex PCR method (Clermont *et al.*, 2000) characterised by a quadruplex PCR (targeting *arpA*, *chuA*, *yjaA* genes and TspE4.C2 DNA fragment), followed by possible additional testing (Clermont *et al.*, 2011; Clermont *et al.*, 2013). This method is able to detect 7 different phylogroups (A, B1, B2, C, D, E, F) and 5 cryptic lineages (clade I-II-III-IV-V).

Comparison of the data was implemented considering that some phylogroups/clades (E, F, clade I-II-II-IV-V) identified in Clermont *et al.* (2011, 2013) would be included in the 4 main phylogroups (A, B1, B2, D) in the original triplex phylogroup assignment method (Clermont *et al.*, 2000). Clermont *et al.*, (2015) provided a table of phylogroup correspondences between the two methods, hereafter summarised:

Triplex PCR (Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2000)	Quadruplex PCR and other allele-specific PCR genotypes (Clermont et <i>al.,</i> 2011; Clermont <i>et al.,</i> 2013)	
A	А	
	C	
	clade I-II-III-IV-V	
B1	B1	
B2	B2	
	clade I	
D	D	
	Е	
	F	

Table 4.1 Correspondences between phylogroups identified in the triplex and quadruplex PCR phylo-typing methods.

The comparison of the data obtained with both phylo-typing methods showed a complete concordance of the results. Only exeptions are represented by 4 isolates designated as unknown with the quadruplex PCR method and properly assigned to a phylotype with ARIBA.



Figure 4.5 Schematic representation of phylogroups identified with triplex PCR (the inner circle) and quadruplex PCR (the outer circle) phylo-typing methods in 279 strains.

## 4.3. Agreement between phenotypic resistance and ARGs identification

Discrepancies were observed for all the antimicrobials tested when comparing phenotypic and genetic resistance profiles of the strain collection. There were numerous cases in which phenotypic resistances were not explained by the identification of related ARGs and/or gene presence was not accompanied by the expected resistance phenotype (Figure 4.6.).

Generally, known antimicrobial genetic determinants complemented phenotypic resistance for tetracycline (91.5%), sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim (87.5%), chloramphenicol (76.9%), ampicillin (75%), nalidixic acid (71%). In most cases, phenotypic resistance to sulfisoxazole (58.7%) and enrofloxacin (50%) was accompanied by a relevant ARGs detection.

In contrast, resistance to streptomycin (40.9%), colistin (25%), ceftazidime (22.2%), ceftiofur (16%), gentamicin (12.7%) and ESBL production (8.3%) was often not confirmed by related ARGs presence. Considering meropenem, phenotypic resistance was not supported by ARG identification.

Two possible reasons for these discrepancies could be:

- Absence of the relevant resistance genes in the reference database;
- Involvement of other genetic mechanisms associated with phenotypic antimicrobial resistance such as efflux pump up-regulation.

AMR is a variable phenomenon, characterised by continuing genetic changes and rearrangements (deletion, insertions, inversions, duplications). It has been estimated that mutations could occur at a rate of 10<sup>-3</sup> - 10<sup>-5</sup> per cell per generation, accelerating antimicrobial resistance acquisition (Andersson *et al.*, 1998; Roth, 2011; Durão *et al.*, 2018). Genetic mutations and their accumulation in the genome



AMP: ampicillin; NA: nalidixic acid; ENR: enrofloxacin; CAZ: ceftazidime; EFT: ceftiofur; C: chloramphenicol; CN: gentamicin; S: streptomycin; MEM: meropenem; TE: tetracycline; ST: sulfisoxazole; SXT: trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole; COL: colistin; ESBL: extended spectrum beta-lactamase profile. are the force driving the constant AMR evolution (Weinreich *et al.*, 2006), also leading to the development of novel ARGs variants. Their occurrence and assembly have been frequently described in antimicrobial genetic determinants (Gniadkowski and infection, 2008).

ResFinder, used to identify horizontally-acquired ARGs in our collection, is able to detect 1862 different resistance genes from 12 different antimicrobial classes (Zankari *et al.*, 2012). Despite its continuous update (to include additional and novel variants of genetic determinants) it is possible that novel genes were not included in the databases at the time of the analysis.

The high number of strains showing genetically unexplained antimicrobial resistance could suggest the occurrence of important evolution events, leading to the emergence of new antimicrobial resistance genes. This is of particular concern, because of the involvement of different HP-CIAs (in particular ceftazidime, ceftiofur, colistin and meropenem) and ESBL producers. Further studies are required in order to understand the genetic mechanisms underlying these antimicrobial resistance phenotypes and to allow their detection.

Another program we have utilised is Pointfinder. It used to detect chromosomal point mutations associated with AMR but also has some limitations (Zankari *et al.*, 2017). For example, it doesn't allow the detection of chromosomal mutations in genes coding bacterial cell lipopolysaccharide-modifying enzymes (*pmrC*, *pmrE*, *phoP*, *phoQ*) or in associated negative regulators (*mgrB*, *crrB*), which could explain the phenotypic colistin resistance (not associated to related ARGs) identified in two isolates (Poirel *et al.*, 2017).

The antimicrobial genetic determinants identified in our collection are mostly genes encoding wellunderstood antimicrobial resistance mechanisms (Partridge *et al.*, 2009). However, in the environment AMR may arise through other pathways, involving other aspecific genetic "machinery" such as efflux pumps.

Efflux pumps are extremely widespread transport proteins involved in the extrusion of a wide range of molecules, including different antimicrobial classes (Webber and Piddock, 2003). Five groups of efflux pump have been reported (the ATP binding cassette superfamily - ABC, the major facilitator superfamily - MFS, the multidrug and toxic-compound extrusion family - MATE, the small multidrug

resistance (SMR) family - SMR and the resistance nodulation division family – RND) (Piddock, 2006). Among these categories, RND family and MFS superfamily represent some of the most implicated in AMR in *E. coli* (Slipski *et al.*, 2018). In particular, RND family are the most common in Gram-negative bacteria (Kumar and Schweizer, 2005) and have been associated to clinically significant MDR (Piddock, 2006).

The biocide gene screening (see pages 101-2) identified different genetic determinants involved in the expression of RND and MFS efflux pumps and related regulators (Figure 4.2.).

In particular, the presence of genes coding for the TolC-associated AcrAB/AcrEF and the MdfA/TolCassociated AcrD efflux pumps could explain our results, because of their potential involvement in resistance to beta-lactams (Ma *et al.*, 1994; Piddock, 2006) and aminoglycosides (Rosenberg *et al.*, 2000; Poole, 2005) respectively. However, phenotypic resistance is strictly related to efflux pump overexpression (influenced by different regulatory genes) (Piddock, 2006), which was not evaluated in this study.

These efflux pumps could also be involved in resistance to numerous other antimicrobials (Table 3.2.), explaining the inconsistencies of strains with ampicillin, nalidixic acid, enrofloxacin, chloramphenicol, tetracycline, sulfisoxazole and sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim phenotypic expression, without carriage of related antimicrobial genetic determinants.

Efflux pump	Phenotypic resistance	References
AcrAB (RND)	chloramphenicol, fluoroquinolones, fusidic acid, lipophilic beta- lactam antibiotics, nalidixic acid, novobiocin, rifampin and	Piddock <i>et al.,</i> 2006
AcrD (RND)	amikacin, gentamicin, neomycin, kanamycin, and tobramycin	Rosenberg et al., 2000
AcrEF (RND)	beta-lactams, novobiocin, erythromycin, chloramphenicol, tetracycline, fluoroquinolones	Ma et al., 1994
MdfA (MFS)	chloramphenicol, erytrhomycines, tetracyclines, fluoroquinolones	Poole <i>et al.,</i> 2005

Table 4.2 Efflux pumps of MFS superfamily and RND family and associated phenotypic antimicrobial resistance pattern.

Other specific resistance mechanisms (already reported in *Enterobacteriaceae*) not evaluated and potentially involved in colistin phenotypic resistance are:

- hyperproduction of capsule polysaccharide (CPS), which limited bacterial cell and polymyxin interaction, developing resistance (Campos *et al.*, 2004);
- porin activity, allowing diffusion of molecules across the bacterial cell. For example, the interaction between OmpD porin and the periplasmatic protein YdeI (regulated by the PhoPQ and PmrAB two-component systems) leads to an increase in polymyxin resistance (Pilonieta *et al.*, 2009).

Finally, for almost all antimicrobials (with the exception of ceftiofur, tetracycline and sulfamethozaxole/trimethoprim) a variable number of isolates carried ARGs without showing susceptibility to the related antimicrobials. This was most pronounced for colistin (4/8; 50%), enrofloxacin (28/70; 40%), nalidixic acid (15/69; 21.7%) and meropenem (1/3; 33,3%).

These findings could have different possible explanations. Expression of integron-associated ARGs (including those conferring resistance to aminoglycosides, chloramphenicol, trimethoprim, quinolones)(Partridge *et al.*, 2009) depends on their location in the integron structure. In particular, the proximity to the integron promoter (Pc) is essential for gene expression (Kaushik *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, ARGs located distal to the integron Pc could be weakly or not expressed. At the same time, ARGs typically not included in the integron structure (colistin, meropenem, quinolone resistance genes) could be silent because of the lack or the weakness of their promoter (Carattoli, 2001).

Lastly, other promoter-unrelated silencing mechanisms have been described in bacteria. Currently, little information is available aside from the involvement of silencer elements (AT-rich regions or plasmid centromeres) (Yarmolinsky, 2000) or chromosomal alteration (Enne *et al.*, 2006).



Figure 4.7 Heatmap depicting carriage (violet) of efflux pump associated genes identified in the strain collection. White colour indicates the absence of a specific gene. Colour coded indication of the strain origin (source) is shown before each isolate name.

## **4.4 References**

- AGNOLETTI, F., BRUNETTA, R., BANO, L., DRIGO, I. & MAZZOLINI, E. 2018. Longitudinal study on antimicrobial consumption and resistance in rabbit farming. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 51, 197-205.
- ALLEN, H. K., DONATO, J., WANG, H. H., CLOUD-HANSEN, K. A., DAVIES, J. & HANDELSMAN, J. 2010. Call of the wild: antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 8, 251.
- ANAISSIE, E. J., PENZAK, S. R. & DIGNANI, M. C. 2002. The hospital water supply as a source of nosocomial infections: a plea for action. *Arch Intern Med*, 162, 1483-92.
- ANDERSSON, D. I., SLECHTA, E. S. & ROTH, J. R. 1998. Evidence that gene amplification underlies adaptive mutability of the bacterial lac operon. *Science*, 282, 1133-5.
- BAILEY, J. K., PINYON, J. L., ANANTHAM, S. & HALL, R. M. 2010. Commensal Escherichia coli of healthy humans: a reservoir for antibiotic-resistance determinants. *J Med Microbiol*, 59, 1331-9.
- BAQUERO, F., LANZA, V. F., CANTÓN, R. & COQUE, T. M. 2015. Public health evolutionary biology of antimicrobial resistance: priorities for intervention. *Evol Appl*, 8, 223-39.
- BIELASZEWSKA, M., MELLMANN, A., ZHANG, W., KÖCK, R., FRUTH, A., BAUWENS, A., PETERS, G. & KARCH, H. 2011. Characterisation of the Escherichia coli strain associated with an outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome in Germany, 2011: a microbiological study. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 11, 671-6.

BONNEDAHL, J. & JÄRHULT, J. D. 2014. Antibiotic resistance in wild birds. Ups J Med Sci, 119, 113-6.

- BORTOLAIA, V., GUARDABASSI, L., TREVISANI, M., BISGAARD, M., VENTURI, L. & BOJESEN, A. M. 2010. High diversity of extended-spectrum β-lactamases in Escherichia coli isolates from Italian broiler flocks. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 54, 1623-6.
- BYWATER, R., DELUYKER, H., DEROOVER, E., DE JONG, A., MARION, H., MCCONVILLE, M., ROWAN, T., SHRYOCK, T., SHUSTER, D., THOMAS, V., VALLE, M. & WALTERS, J. 2004. A European survey of antimicrobial susceptibility among zoonotic and commensal bacteria isolated from foodproducing animals. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 54, 744-54.
- CAMPOS, J., MOURÃO, J., PESTANA, N., PEIXE, L., NOVAIS, C. & ANTUNES, P. 2013. Microbiological quality of ready-to-eat salads: an underestimated vehicle of bacteria and clinically relevant antibiotic resistance genes. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 166, 464-70.

- CAMPOS, M. A., VARGAS, M. A., REGUEIRO, V., LLOMPART, C. M., ALBERTÍ, S. & BENGOECHEA, J. A. 2004. Capsule polysaccharide mediates bacterial resistance to antimicrobial peptides. *Infect Immun*, 72, 7107-14.
- CARATTOLI, A. 2001. Importance of integrons in the diffusion of resistance. Vet Res, 32, 243-59.
- CARATTOLI, A., ZANKARI, E., GARCIA-FERNANDEZ, A., VOLDBY LARSEN, M., LUND, O., VILLA, L., MOLLER AARESTRUP, F. & HASMAN, H. 2014. In silico detection and typing of plasmids using PlasmidFinder and plasmid multilocus sequence typing. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 58, 3895-903.
- CARVALHO, A., BARBOSA, A., ARAIS, L., RIBEIRO, P., CARNEIRO, V. & CERQUEIRA, A. 2016. Resistance patterns, ESBL genes, and genetic relatedness of Escherichia coli from dogs and owners. *Braz J Microbiol*, 47, 150-8.
- CECCARELLI, D., KANT, A., VAN ESSEN-ZANDBERGEN, A., DIERIKX, C., HORDIJK, J., WIT, B., MEVIUS, D.
   J. & VELDMAN, K. T. 2019. Diversity of plasmids and genes encoding resistance to extended spectrum cephalosporin's in commensal Escherichia coli from Dutch livestock in 2007-2017. *Front Microbiol*, 10, 76.
- CLERMONT, O., BONACORSI, S. & BINGEN, E. 2000. Rapid and simple determination of the Escherichia coli phylogenetic group. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 66, 4555-8.
- CLERMONT, O., CHRISTENSON, J. K., DENAMUR, E. & GORDON, D. M. 2013. The Clermont E scherichia coli phylo-typing method revisited: improvement of specificity and detection of new phylogroups. *Environ Microbiol Rep*, 5, 58-65.
- CLERMONT, O., GORDON, D. & DENAMUR, E. 2015. Guide to the various phylogenetic classification schemes for Escherichia coli and the correspondence among schemes. *Microbiology*, 161, 980-8.
- CLERMONT, O., GORDON, D. M., BRISSE, S., WALK, S. T. & DENAMUR, E. 2011. Characterization of the cryptic Escherichia lineages: rapid identification and prevalence. *Environ Microbiol*, 13, 2468-77.
- CORTÉS-CORTÉS, G., LOZANO-ZARAIN, P., TORRES, C., CASTAÑEDA, M., SÁNCHEZ, G. M., ALONSO, C. A., LÓPEZ-PLIEGO, L., MAYEN, M. G. G., MARTÍNEZ-LAGUNA, Y. & ROCHA-GRACIA, R. D. C. 2016. Detection and molecular characterization of Escherichia coli strains producers of extendedspectrum and CMY-2 type beta-lactamases, isolated from turtles in Mexico. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis*, 16, 595-603.

- CORTÉS, P., BLANC, V., MORA, A., DAHBI, G., BLANCO, J. E., BLANCO, M., LÓPEZ, C., ANDREU, A., NAVARRO, F. & ALONSO, M. P. 2010. Isolation and characterization of potentially pathogenic antimicrobial-resistant Escherichia coli strains from chicken and pig farms in Spain. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 76, 2799-805.
- DA SILVA, G. J. & MENDONÇA, N. 2012. Association between antimicrobial resistance and virulence in Escherichia coli. *Virulence*, 3, 18-28.
- DARLING, A. E., JOSPIN, G., LOWE, E., MATSEN IV, F. A., BIK, H. M. & EISEN, J. A. J. P. 2014. PhyloSift: phylogenetic analysis of genomes and metagenomes. *PeerJ*, 2, e243.
- DE VERDIER, K., NYMAN, A., GREKO, C. & BENGTSSON, B. 2012. Antimicrobial resistance and virulence factors in Escherichia coli from Swedish dairy calves. *Acta Vet Scand*, 54, 2.
- DHANJI, H., DOUMITH, M., HOPE, R., LIVERMORE, D. M. & WOODFORD, N. 2011. IS Ecp1-mediated transposition of linked bla CTX-M-3 and bla TEM-1b from the IncI1 plasmid pEK204 found in clinical isolates of Escherichia coli from Belfast, UK. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 66, 2263-5.
- DOLEJSKA, M., CIZEK, A. & LITERAK, I. 2007. High prevalence of antimicrobial-resistant genes and integrons in Escherichia coli isolates from black-headed gulls in the Czech Republic. *J Appl Microbiol*, 103, 11-9.
- DOMÍNGUEZ, E., ZARAZAGA, M., SÁENZ, Y., BRIÑAS, L. & TORRES, C. 2002. Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli isolates obtained from healthy children in Spain. *Microb Drug Resist*, 8, 321-7.
- DOTTO, G., GIACOMELLI, M., GRILLI, G., FERRAZZI, V., CARATTOLI, A., FORTINI, D. & PICCIRILLO, A. 2014. High prevalence of oqxAB in Escherichia coli isolates from domestic and wild lagomorphs in Italy. *Microb Drug Resist*, 20, 118-23.
- DURÃO, P., BALBONTÍN, R. & GORDO, I. 2018. Evolutionary mechanisms shaping the maintenance of antibiotic resistance. *Trends Microbiol*, 26, 677-91.
- DZIVA, F. & STEVENS, M. P. 2008. Colibacillosis in poultry: unravelling the molecular basis of virulence of avian pathogenic Escherichia coli in their natural hosts. *Avian Pathol*, 37, 355-66.
- ECDC 2018a. Antimicrobial consumption. Annual epidemiological report for 2017. Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/antimicrobial-consumption-annualepidemiological-report-2017.

- ECDC 2018b. ECDC Surveillance Report. Surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in Europe 2017. *Available from: <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/surveillance-antimicrobial-</u> <u>resistance-europe-2017</u>.*
- ECONOMOU, V. & GOUSIA, P. 2015. Agriculture and food animals as a source of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria. *Infect Drug Resist*, 8, 49-61.
- EFSA 2016. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2014. *EFSA Journal*, 14(2): 4380. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2017a. ECDC/EFSA/EMA second joint report on the integrated analysis of the consumption of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from humans and food-producing animals. *EFSA Journal*, 15(7): 4872. Available from: https://www.efsa.europa.eu.
- EFSA 2017b. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2015. *EFSA Journal*, 15(2): 4694. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2018. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2016. *EFSA Journal*, 16(2): 5182. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EFSA 2019. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2017. *EFSA Journal*, 17(2): 5598. Available from: <u>https://www.efsa.europa.eu</u>.
- EL GARCH, F., DE JONG, A., BERTRAND, X., HOCQUET, D. & SAUGET, M. 2018. mcr-1-like detection in commensal Escherichia coli and Salmonella spp. from food-producing animals at slaughter in Europe. *J Vet Microbiol*, 213, 42-6.
- ELIOPOULOS, G. M., ELIOPOULOS, G. M. & ROBERTS, M. C. 2003. Tetracycline therapy: update. *Clin Infect Dis*, 36, 462-7.
- EMA 2019. European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption (ESVAC). Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/veterinary-regulatory/overview/antimicrobialresistance/european-surveillance-veterinary-antimicrobial-consumption-esvac (02/10/2019, date last accessed).

- ENNE, V. I., DELSOL, A. A., ROE, J. M., BENNETT, P. M. J. A. A. & CHEMOTHERAPY 2006. Evidence of antibiotic resistance gene silencing in Escherichia coli. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 50, 3003-10.
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION 2018. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2018/945 of 22 June 2018 on the communicable diseases and related special health issues to be covered by epidemiological surveillance as well as relevant case definitions. *Official Journal*, L 170/1, 06/07/2018.
- EWERS, C., BETHE, A., SEMMLER, T., GUENTHER, S. & WIELER, L. H. 2012. Extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing and AmpC-producing Escherichia coli from livestock and companion animals, and their putative impact on public health: a global perspective. *Clin Microbiol Infect,* 18, 646-55.
- EWERS, C., BETHE, A., STAMM, I., GROBBEL, M., KOPP, P. A., GUERRA, B., STUBBE, M., DOI, Y., ZONG, Z.
  & KOLA, A. 2014. CTX-M-15-D-ST648 Escherichia coli from companion animals and horses: another pandemic clone combining multiresistance and extraintestinal virulence? *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 69, 1224-30.
- FALLAH, F., KARIMI, A., GOUDARZI, M., SHIVA, F., NAVIDINIA, M., HADIPOUR JAHROMI, M. & SAJADI NIA, R. S. 2012. Determination of integron frequency by a polymerase chain reaction– restriction fragment length polymorphism method in multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli, which causes Urinary tract infections. *Microb Drug Resist*, 18, 546-9.
- FIERZ, L., CERNELA, N., HAUSER, E., NÜESCH-INDERBINEN, M. & STEPHAN, R. 2017. Characteristics of Shigatoxin-producing Escherichia coli strains isolated during 2010–2014 from human infections in Switzerland. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 1471.
- FREITAS-SILVA, J., INÁCIO, Â. S., MOURÃO, J., ANTUNES, P., MENDES, Â., DE CARVALHO, A. P., VASCONCELOS, V., PEIXE, L. & DA COSTA, P. M. 2018. Occurrence of mcr-1 in Escherichia coli from rabbits of intensive farming. *Vet Microbiol*, 227, 78-81.
- FURNESS, L. E., CAMPBELL, A., ZHANG, L., GAZE, W. H. & MCDONALD, R. A. 2017. Wild small mammals as sentinels for the environmental transmission of antimicrobial resistance. *Environ Res*, 154, 28-34.
- FVE 2016. Antimicrobial use in food-producing animals. Replies to EFSA/EMA questions on the use of antimicrobials in food-producing animals in EU and possible measures to reduce antimicrobial use. Available from: <a href="https://www.ema.europa.eu">https://www.ema.europa.eu</a>.

- GAZE, W., ABDOUSLAM, N., HAWKEY, P. & WELLINGTON, E. 2005. Incidence of class 1 integrons in a quaternary ammonium compound-polluted environment. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 49, 1802-7.
- GERBA, C. P. 2015. Quaternary ammonium biocides: efficacy in application. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 81, 464-9.
- GHODOUSI, A., BONURA, C., DI NOTO, A. M. & MAMMINA, C. 2015. Extended-Spectrum ss-Lactamase, AmpC-Producing, and Fluoroquinolone-Resistant Escherichia coli in Retail Broiler Chicken Meat, Italy. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 12, 619-25.
- GIACOPELLO, C., FOTI, M., MASCETTI, A., GROSSO, F., RICCIARDI, D., FISICHELLA, V. & PICCOLO, F. 2016. Antimicrobial resistance patterns of Enterobacteriaceae in European wild bird species admitted in a wildlife rescue centre. *Vet Ital*, 52, 139-44.
- GIUFRÈ, M., GRAZIANI, C., ACCOGLI, M., LUZZI, I., BUSANI, L. & CERQUETTI, M. 2012. Escherichia coli of human and avian origin: detection of clonal groups associated with fluoroquinolone and multidrug resistance in Italy. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 67, 860-7.
- GNIADKOWSKI, M. J. C. M. & INFECTION 2008. Evolution of extended-spectrum β-lactamases by mutation. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 14, 11-32.
- GREVSKOTT, D. H., SVANEVIK, C. S., SUNDE, M., WESTER, A. L. & LUNESTAD, B. T. 2017. Marine Bivalve Mollusks As Possible Indicators of Multidrug-Resistant Escherichia coli and Other Species of the Enterobacteriaceae Family. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 24.
- GUENTHER, S., EWERS, C. & WIELER, L. 2011. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases producing E. coli in wildlife, yet another form of environmental pollution? *Front Microbiol*, 2, 246.
- GUENTHER, S., GROBBEL, M., BEUTLICH, J., BETHE, A., FRIEDRICH, N. D., GOEDECKE, A., LÜBKE-BECKER, A., GUERRA, B., WIELER, L. H. & EWERS, C. 2010a. CTX-M-15-type extended-spectrum beta-lactamases-producing Escherichia coli from wild birds in Germany. *Environ Microbiol Rep*, 2, 641-5.
- GÜNDOĞDU, A., LONG, Y. B., VOLLMERHAUSEN, T. L. & KATOULI, M. 2011. Antimicrobial resistance and distribution of sul genes and integron-associated intl genes among uropathogenic Escherichia coli in Queensland, Australia. *J Med Microbiol*, 60, 1633-42.
- HANON, J. B., JASPERS, S., BUTAYE, P., WATTIAU, P., MEROC, E., AERTS, M., IMBERECHTS, H., VERMEERSCH, K. & VAN DER STEDE, Y. 2015. A trend analysis of antimicrobial resistance in

commensal Escherichia coli from several livestock species in Belgium (2011-2014). *Prev Vet Med*, 122, 443-52.

- HESP, A., VELDMAN, K., VAN DER GOOT, J., MEVIUS, D. & VAN SCHAIK, G. 2019. Monitoring antimicrobial resistance trends in commensal Escherichia coli from livestock, the Netherlands, 1998 to 2016. *Euro Surveill*, 24, 1800438.
- HOLVOET, K., SAMPERS, I., CALLENS, B., DEWULF, J. & UYTTENDAELE, M. 2013. Moderate prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in Escherichia coli isolates from lettuce, irrigation water, and soil. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 79, 6677-83.
- HORAKOVA, K., MLEJNKOVA, H. & MLEJNEK, P. 2008. Specific detection of Escherichia coli isolated from water samples using polymerase chain reaction targeting four genes: cytochrome bd complex, lactose permease, beta-D-glucuronidase, and beta-D-galactosidase. *J Appl Microbiol*, 105, 970-6.
- HUNT, M., MATHER, A. E., SÁNCHEZ-BUSÓ, L., PAGE, A. J., PARKHILL, J., KEANE, J. A. & HARRIS, S. R. 2017. ARIBA: rapid antimicrobial resistance genotyping directly from sequencing reads. *Microb Genom*, 3, e000131.
- JENSEN, A. N., STORM, C., FORSLUND, A., BAGGESEN, D. L. & DALSGAARD, A. 2013. Escherichia coli contamination of lettuce grown in soils amended with animal slurry. *J Food Prot*, 76, 1137-44.
- JOENSEN, K. G., SCHEUTZ, F., LUND, O., HASMAN, H., KAAS, R. S., NIELSEN, E. M. & AARESTRUP, F. M. 2014. Real-time whole-genome sequencing for routine typing, surveillance, and outbreak detection of verotoxigenic Escherichia coli. *J Clin Microbiol*, 52, 1501-10.
- JOENSEN, K. G., TETZSCHNER, A. M., IGUCHI, A., AARESTRUP, F. M. & SCHEUTZ, F. 2015. Rapid and easy in silico serotyping of Escherichia coli isolates by use of whole-genome sequencing data. *J Clin Microbiol*, 53, 2410-26.
- JOHNSON, T. J. & NOLAN, L. K. 2009. Pathogenomics of the virulence plasmids of Escherichia coli. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, 73, 750-74.
- JONES, K. E., PATEL, N. G., LEVY, M. A., STOREYGARD, A., BALK, D., GITTLEMAN, J. L. & DASZAK, P. 2008. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature*, 451, 990.
- KAESBOHRER, A., SCHROETER, A., TENHAGEN, B. A., ALT, K., GUERRA, B., APPEL, B. J. Z. & HEALTH, P. 2012. Emerging antimicrobial resistance in commensal Escherichia coli with public health relevance. *Zoonoses Public Health*, 59, 158-65.

- KAPER, J. B., NATARO, J. P. & MOBLEY, H. L. 2004. Pathogenic escherichia coli. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 2, 123.
- KAUSHIK, M., KUMAR, S., KAPOOR, R. K., VIRDI, J. S. & GULATI, P. 2018. Integrons in Enterobacteriaceae: diversity, distribution and epidemiology. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 51, 167-76.
- KHEIRI, R. & AKHTARI, L. 2016. Antimicrobial resistance and integron gene cassette arrays in commensal Escherichia coli from human and animal sources in IRI. *Gut Pathog*, 8, 40.
- KUMAR, A. & SCHWEIZER, H. P. 2005. Bacterial resistance to antibiotics: active efflux and reduced uptake. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 57, 1486-513.
- LABBATE, M., CASE, R. J. & STOKES, H. W. 2009. The integron/gene cassette system: an active player in bacterial adaptation. *Methods Mol Biol*, 532, 103-25.
- LARTIGUE, M.-F., POIREL, L. & NORDMANN, P. 2006. Diversity of genetic environment of bla CTX-M genes. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 234, 201-7.
- LEVERSTEIN-VAN HALL, M. A., M. BLOK, H. E., T. DONDERS, A. R., PAAUW, A., FLUIT, A. C. & VERHOEF, J. 2003. Multidrug resistance among Enterobacteriaceae is strongly associated with the presence of integrons and is independent of species or isolate origin. *J Infect Dis*, 187, 251-9.
- LEVERSTEIN-VAN HALL, M., DIERIKX, C., COHEN STUART, J., VOETS, G., VAN DEN MUNCKHOF, M., VAN ESSEN-ZANDBERGEN, A., PLATTEEL, T., FLUIT, A., VAN DE SANDE-BRUINSMA, N. & SCHARINGA, J. 2011. Dutch patients, retail chicken meat and poultry share the same ESBL genes, plasmids and strains. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 17, 873-80.
- LIEBERT, C. A., HALL, R. M. & SUMMERS, A. 1999. Transposon Tn21, flagship of the floating genome. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, 63, 507-22.
- LINDSTEDT, B.-A., FINTON, M. D., PORCELLATO, D. & BRANDAL, L. T. 2018. High frequency of hybrid Escherichia coli strains with combined Intestinal Pathogenic Escherichia coli (IPEC) and Extraintestinal Pathogenic Escherichia coli (ExPEC) virulence factors isolated from human faecal samples. *BMC Infect Dis*, 18, 544.
- LITERAK, I., DOLEJSKA, M., RADIMERSKY, T., KLIMES, J., FRIEDMAN, M., AARESTRUP, F. M., HASMAN, H. & CIZEK, A. 2010. Antimicrobial-resistant faecal Escherichia coli in wild mammals in central Europe: multiresistant Escherichia coli producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in wild boars. *J Appl Microbiol*, 108, 1702-11.

- LOUDON, I. 2008. The use of historical controls and concurrent controls to assess the effects of sulphonamides, 1936–1945. *J R Soc Med*, 101, 148-55.
- LYHS, U., IKONEN, I., POHJANVIRTA, T., RANINEN, K., PERKO-MÄKELÄ, P. & PELKONEN, S. 2012. Extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli in poultry meat products on the Finnish retail market. *Acta Vet Scand*, 54, 64.
- MA, D., COOK, D. N., HEARST, J. E. & NIKAIDO, H. 1994. Efflux pumps and drug resistance in gramnegative bacteria. *Trends Microbiol*, 2, 489-93.
- MADEC, J.-Y. & HAENNI, M. 2018. Antimicrobial resistance plasmid reservoir in food and foodproducing animals. *Plasmid*, 99, 72-81.
- MALUTA, R. P., LOGUE, C. M., CASAS, M. R. T., MENG, T., GUASTALLI, E. A. L., ROJAS, T. C. G., MONTELLI,
  A. C., SADATSUNE, T., DE CARVALHO RAMOS, M. & NOLAN, L. K. 2014. Overlapped sequence
  types (STs) and serogroups of avian pathogenic (APEC) and human extra-intestinal pathogenic
  (ExPEC) Escherichia coli isolated in Brazil. *PLoS One*, 9, e105016.
- MANGES, A. R., GEUM, H. M., GUO, A., EDENS, T. J., FIBKE, C. D. & PITOUT, J. D. 2019. Global extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli (ExPEC) lineages. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 32, e00135-18.
- MANGES, A. R. & JOHNSON, J. R. 2012. Food-borne origins of Escherichia coli causing extraintestinal infections. *Clin Infect Dis*, 55, 712-9.
- MARIANI-KURKDJIAN, P., LEMAITRE, C., BIDET, P., PEREZ, D., BOGGINI, L., KWON, T. & BONACORSI, S. 2014. Haemolytic-uraemic syndrome with bacteraemia caused by a new hybrid Escherichia coli pathotype. *New Microbes New Infect*, *2*, 127-31.
- MARTINEZ-FREIJO, P., FLUIT, A., SCHMITZ, F., GREK, V., VERHOEF, J. & JONES, M. 1998. Class I integrons in Gram-negative isolates from different European hospitals and association with decreased susceptibility to multiple antibiotic compounds. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 42, 689-96.
- MITCHELL, S. M., SUBBIAH, M., ULLMAN, J. L., FREAR, C. & CALL, D. R. 2015. Evaluation of 27 different biochars for potential sequestration of antibiotic residues in food animal production environments. *J Environ Chem Eng*, 3, 162-9.
- MOR-MUR, M. & YUSTE, J. 2010. Emerging bacterial pathogens in meat and poultry: an overview. *Food Bioproc Tech,* 3, 24.
- MORA, A., LÓPEZ, C., HERRERA, A., VISO, S., MAMANI, R., DHABI, G., ALONSO, M. P., BLANCO, M., BLANCO, J. E. & BLANCO, J. 2012. Emerging avian pathogenic Escherichia coli strains belonging 136

to clonal groups O111: H4-D-ST2085 and O111: H4-D-ST117 with high virulence-gene content and zoonotic potential. *Vet Microbiol*, 156, 347-52.

- MOURA, A., OLIVEIRA, C., HENRIQUES, I., SMALLA, K. & CORREIA, A. 2012. Broad diversity of conjugative plasmids in integron-carrying bacteria from wastewater environments. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 330, 157-64.
- MÜLLER, A., STEPHAN, R. & NÜESCH-INDERBINEN, M. 2016. Distribution of virulence factors in ESBLproducing Escherichia coli isolated from the environment, livestock, food and humans. *Sci Total Environ*, 541, 667-72.
- NAGAKUBO, S., NISHINO, K., HIRATA, T. & YAMAGUCHI, A. 2002. The putative response regulator BaeR stimulates multidrug resistance of Escherichia coli via a novel multidrug exporter system, MdtABC. *J Bacteriol*, 184, 4161-7.
- NISHINO, K. & YAMAGUCHI, A. 2001. Analysis of a complete library of putative drug transporter genes in Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol*, 183, 5803-12.
- ÖSTERBERG, J., WINGSTRAND, A., JENSEN, A. N., KEROUANTON, A., CIBIN, V., BARCO, L., DENIS, M., AABO, S. & BENGTSSON, B. 2016. Antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli from pigs in organic and conventional farming in four European countries. *PloS one*, **11**, e0157049.
- PARTRIDGE, S. R., KWONG, S. M., FIRTH, N. & JENSEN, S. O. 2018. Mobile genetic elements associated with antimicrobial resistance. *Clin Microbiol Rev,* 31, e00088-17.
- PARTRIDGE, S. R., TSAFNAT, G., COIERA, E. & IREDELL, J. 2009. Gene cassettes and cassette arrays in mobile resistance integrons. *FEMS Microbiol Rev*, 33, 757-84.
- PERRIN-GUYOMARD, A., BRUNEAU, M., HOUÉE, P., DELEURME, K., LEGRANDOIS, P., POIRIER, C., SOUMET, C. & SANDERS, P. 2016. Prevalence of mcr-1 in commensal Escherichia coli from French livestock, 2007 to 2014. *Euro Surveill*, 21.
- PETRI, W. 2011. Penicillins, cephalosporins, and other β-lactam antibiotics. In: Goodman and Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics. 12th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 1477-504. 1477-504.
- PIDDOCK, L. J. 2006. Multidrug-resistance efflux pumps? not just for resistance. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 4, 629.

- PILONIETA, M. C., ERICKSON, K. D., ERNST, R. K. & DETWEILER, C. S. 2009. A protein important for antimicrobial peptide resistance, YdeI/OmdA, is in the periplasm and interacts with OmpD/NmpC. *J Bacteriol*, 191, 7243-52.
- POIREL, L., DECOUSSER, J.-W. & NORDMANN, P. 2003. Insertion sequence ISEcp1B is involved in expression and mobilization of a blaCTX-M β-lactamase gene. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 47, 2938-45.
- POIREL, L., JAYOL, A. & NORDMANN, P. 2017. Polymyxins: antibacterial activity, susceptibility testing, and resistance mechanisms encoded by plasmids or chromosomes. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 30, 557-96.
- POIREL, L., NAAS, T. & NORDMANN, P. 2008. Genetic support of extended-spectrum β-lactamases. *Clin Microbiol Infect,* 14, 75-81.
- POOLE, K. 2005. Efflux-mediated antimicrobial resistance. J Antimicrob Chemother, 56, 20-51.
- PRAGER, R., FRUTH, A., SIEWERT, U., STRUTZ, U. & TSCHÄPE, H. 2009. Escherichia coli encoding Shiga toxin 2f as an emerging human pathogen. *Int J Med Microbiol*, 299, 343-53.
- PRAPASAWAT, W., INTARAPUK, A., CHOMPOOK, P., NAKAJIMA, C., SUZUKI, Y. & SUTHIENKUL, O. 2017. Antimicrobial resistance, integron, virulence gene, and multilocus sequence typing of Escherichia Coli isolates from postweaning piglets with and without diarrhea. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health*, 48, 1042-55.
- PRICE, M. N., DEHAL, P. S. & ARKIN, A. P. 2010. FastTree 2–approximately maximum-likelihood trees for large alignments. *PloS one*, *5*, e9490.
- RADHOUANI, H., SILVA, N., POETA, P., TORRES, C., CORREIA, S. & IGREJAS, G. 2014. Potential impact of antimicrobial resistance in wildlife, environment and human health. *Front Microbiol*, **5**, 23.
- RILEY, L. 2014. Pandemic lineages of extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli. *Clin Microbiol Infect,* 20, 380-90.
- ROCA, I., AKOVA, M., BAQUERO, F., CARLET, J., CAVALERI, M., COENEN, S., COHEN, J., FINDLAY, D., GYSSENS, I. & HEURE, O. 2015. The global threat of antimicrobial resistance: science for intervention. *New Microbes New Infect*, 6, 22-9.
- ROMERO, J. L., GRANDE BURGOS, M. J., PÉREZ-PULIDO, R., GÁLVEZ, A. & LUCAS, R. 2017. Resistance to antibiotics, biocides, preservatives and metals in bacteria isolated from seafoods: co-selection of strains resistant or tolerant to different classes of compounds. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 1650.

- ROSENBERG, E. Y., MA, D. & NIKAIDO, H. 2000. AcrD of Escherichia coli is an aminoglycoside efflux pump. *J Bacteriol* 182, 1754-6.
- ROTH, J. R. J. M. M. 2011. The joys and terrors of fast adaptation: new findings elucidate antibiotic resistance and natural selection. *Mol Microbiol*, 79, 279-82.
- SINGER, A. C., SHAW, H., RHODES, V. & HART, A. 2016. Review of antimicrobial resistance in the environment and its relevance to environmental regulators. *Front Microbiol*, *7*, 1728.
- SKURNIK, D., RUIMY, R., ANDREMONT, A., AMORIN, C., ROUQUET, P., PICARD, B. & DENAMUR, E. 2006. Effect of human vicinity on antimicrobial resistance and integrons in animal faecal Escherichia coli. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 57, 1215-9.
- SLIPSKI, C. J., ZHANEL, G. G. & BAY, D. C. J. T. J. O. M. B. 2018. Biocide selective TolC-independent efflux pumps in Enterobacteriaceae. *J Membr Biol*, 251, 15-33.
- SOUFI, L., ABBASSI, M. S., SÁENZ, Y., VINUÉ, L., SOMALO, S., ZARAZAGA, M., ABBAS, A., DBAYA, R., KHANFIR, L. & BEN HASSEN, A. 2009. Prevalence and diversity of integrons and associated resistance genes in Escherichia coli isolates from poultry meat in Tunisia. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 6, 1067-73.
- SOUSA, M., TORRES, C., BARROS, J., SOMALO, S., IGREJAS, G. & POETA, P. 2011. Gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) as carriers of SHV-12 and TEM-52 extended-spectrum beta-lactamasescontaining Escherichia coli isolates. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 8, 1139-41.
- SSR-ER 2006. Uso degli antimicrobici negli animali da produzione. Limiti delle ricette veterinarie per attività di farmacosorveglianza. . Available from: <u>https://assr.regione.emilia-romagna.it</u>.
- TOVAL, F., KÖHLER, C.-D., VOGEL, U., WAGENLEHNER, F., MELLMANN, A., FRUTH, A., SCHMIDT, M. A., KARCH, H., BIELASZEWSKA, M. & DOBRINDT, U. 2014. Characterization of Escherichia coli isolates from hospital inpatients or outpatients with urinary tract infection. *J Clin Microbiol*, 52, 407-18.
- VAN HOEK, A. H., VAN VELDHUIZEN, J. N., FRIESEMA, I., COIPAN, C., ROSSEN, J. W., BERGVAL, I. L. & FRANZ, E. 2019. Comparative genomics reveals a lack of evidence for pigeons as a main source of stx 2f-carrying Escherichia coli causing disease in humans and the common existence of hybrid Shiga toxin-producing and enteropathogenic E. coli pathotypes. *BMC Genomics*, 20, 271.

VAN SCHAIK, W. 2015. The human gut resistome. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 370, 20140087.

- VINCENT, C., BOERLIN, P., DAIGNAULT, D., DOZOIS, C. M., DUTIL, L., GALANAKIS, C., REID-SMITH, R. J., TELLIER, P. P., TELLIS, P. A. & ZIEBELL, K. 2010. Food reservoir for Escherichia coli causing urinary tract infections. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 16, 88.
- WANNAPRASAT, W., PADUNGTOD, P. & CHUANCHUEN, R. 2011. Class 1 integrons and virulence genes in Salmonella enterica isolates from pork and humans. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 37, 457-61.
- WEBBER, M. & PIDDOCK, L. J. J. O. A. C. 2003. The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 51, 9-11.
- WEINREICH, D. M., DELANEY, N. F., DEPRISTO, M. A. & HARTL, D. L. J. S. 2006. Darwinian evolution can follow only very few mutational paths to fitter proteins. *Science*, 312, 111-4.
- WHO 2019. Critically important antimicrobials for human medicine, 6th revision. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int</u>.
- YARMOLINSKY, M. J. C. O. I. M. 2000. Transcriptional silencing in bacteria. *Curr Opin Microbiol*, **3**, 138-43.
- YU, F., CHEN, X., ZHENG, S., HAN, D., WANG, Y., WANG, R., WANG, B. & CHEN, Y. 2018. Prevalence and genetic diversity of human diarrheagenic Escherichia coli isolates by multilocus sequence typing. *Int J Infect Dis*, 67, 7-13.
- ZANKARI, E., ALLESØE, R., JOENSEN, K. G., CAVACO, L. M., LUND, O. & AARESTRUP, F. M. 2017. PointFinder: a novel web tool for WGS-based detection of antimicrobial resistance associated with chromosomal point mutations in bacterial pathogens. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 72, 2764-8.
- ZANKARI, E., HASMAN, H., COSENTINO, S., VESTERGAARD, M., RASMUSSEN, S., LUND, O., AARESTRUP,
   F. M. & LARSEN, M. V. 2012. Identification of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. J Antimicrob Chemother, 67, 2640-4.

## 5. Conclusion

This PhD thesis provides an important overview of AMR in *E. coli* in Italy, delving deeper into the genetic mechanisms behind phenotypic resistance. The potential epidemiological role played by different environments (animal, food, human) in AMR maintenance and diffusion was explored. In particular, our study supported the role of food-producing animals as a reservoir of potential zoonotic pathogens, with variable antimicrobial resistance and virulence traits.

Our findings demonstrated a general wide diffusion of AMR in the different sources investigated. Among livestock, companion animals, wildlife and human, the most common phenotypic AMR profile was characterised by resistance to tetracycline, ampicillin, sulfisoxazole and aminoglycosides (streptomycin and gentamicin), confirming the general European AMR trend for these niches.

This resistance pattern was congruent with high selective pressure induced by common therapeutic antimicrobial treatments in the sources investigated (tetracycline, ampicillin, sulfisoxazole in food-producing animals; penicillin in humans and companion animals).

An exception was streptomycin/gentamicin resistance, which was widely observed among the collection, despite rare use in both animals and humans. The reasons behind the wide identification of phenotypic resistance to these antimicrobials require further investigation. However, the involvement and diffusion of plasmid-mediated complex antimicrobial genetic structures (like integrons) among the collection could have led to a co-selection and co-transmission of multiple ARGs (including those conferring resistance to aminoglycosides).

Notably, phenotypic resistance to different HP-CIAs (3-GCs, meropenem, colistin, quinolones) was detected among the collection, in particular in food-producing animals. High quinolone resistance was observed in rabbit and poultry strains. Swine carried the highest number of phenotypic colistin resistance isolates. However, colistin resistance gene *mcr1* was mainly identified in rabbit strains, although with no phenotypic expression. Beef, poultry, RTE vegetable, and human were the sources responsible for most 3-GC resistance and ESBL producers. Notably, meropenem resistance was observed in one swine and one human strain.

Phenotypic tetracycline, sulfonamides, quinolones, chloramphenicol and ampicillin resistance were generally explained by identification of related ARGs. However, discrepancies between phenotypic AMR pattern and antimicrobial genetic profile have been observed. In particular, most cases of phenotypic aminoglycosides, meropenem, 3-GCs resistance and ESBL profile did not have a genetic explanation.

This data could suggest the involvement of other genetic mechanisms leading to resistance (i.e. efflux pumps) or AMR evolutional events, responsible for the emergence and diffusion of new genetic variants of ARGs associated to these antimicrobial classes.

Finally, we identified different antimicrobial genetic determinants (in particular those conferring resistance to colistin), without corresponding phenotypic expression, suggesting the potential involvement of different gene silencing mechanisms.

Although the collection was represented by commensal *Escherichia coli*, worrisome genetic virulence traits have been observed. VAGs, typical of ExPEC pathotype, were widespread among all the sources investigated. Moreover, different pandemic (ST69, ST95, ST131) and emerging (ST10, ST23 ST58, ST117, ST405, ST648) ExPEC lineages were identified.

Rabbit and poultry represented the most worrisome sources, presenting the highest phenotypic antimicrobial resistance rate. Moreover, they carried the highest number of ARGs and VAGs among the collection.

Rabbit was suggested as a possible reservoir of colistin resistance *mcr1* gene. The identification of *mcr1* in strains isolated from rabbit meat highlighted the potential for its transmission through the food chain. Notably, rabbit harboured different potential hybrid pathotypes belonging to ST20 and ST40.

Poultry source was characterised by genetic virulence features, typical of ExPEC pathotype, and by different ExPEC lineages (ST10; ST23; ST69, ST117; ST131). Finally, it was suggested as a potential reservoir of ESBL producers, together with beef, RTE vegetable and human niches.
Overall antimicrobial resistance in companion animals was low. However, 4 MDR strains showed an important AMR pattern, with resistance up to 9 different antimicrobial classes. These findings are concerning, considering that potential transmission and exchange of AMR bacteria between pets and humans could be promoted by sharing the same household and by their frequent interaction.

Wildlife AMR profiles reflected those identified in the remaining collection. Moreover, an important number of ExPEC VAGs were identified. Our findings suggest the role of wildlife (in particular birds) in maintenance and diffusion of ARGs and VAGs between human-related and remote environments (and vice versa).

The 2 main limitations of our study are represented by the low sample size and the intrinsic features of the short read sequencing method. In the future, further analysis, grounded on our findings, could be performed to increase the population size and the representativeness of our data. Moreover, the potential assessment of long read sequencing analysis could allow an extensive evaluation of whole bacterial genomes, supplying important epidemiological information related to whole antimicrobial and virulence genetic pool and association with MGEs.

6. Supplementary Material

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Da1	milk	А														
EM1_Da2	in-line milk filter	B1														
EM1_Da3	in-line milk filter	E									_					
EM1_Da4	in-line milk filter	А														
EM1_Da5	faeces	С														
EM1_Da6	milk	С														
EM1_Da7	in-line milk filter	B2														
EM1_Da8	milk	С														
EM1_Da9	milk	B2														
EM1_Da10	milk	А														
EM1_Da11	intestine	А														
EM1_Da12	intestine	B1														
EM1_Da13	faeces	B1														
EM1_Da14	faeces	B1														
EM1_Da15	faeces	B1														
EM1_Da16	faeces	D									_					
EM1_Da17	faeces	А														
EM1_Da18	faeces	B1														
EM1_Da19	faeces	С														
EM1_Da20	faeces	B1														
EM1_Da21	milk	А			_	_										
EM1_Da22	intestine	А														
EM1_Da23	milk	B1														
EM1_Da24	caciotta cheese	А														
EM1_Da25	milk	B1														

Table S1 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from dairy source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	ТЕ	COL	ESBL
EM1_Be1	faeces	B1														
EM1_Be2	minced meat	С														
EM1_Be3	muscle	B1						_								
EM1_Be4	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be5	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be6	skin sponge	B1						_								
EM1_Be7	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be8	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be9	skin sponge	B1						_								
EM1_Be10	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be11	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be12	skin sponge	B1						_								
EM1_Be13	faeces	B1														
EM1_Be14	skin sponge	B1						_								
EM1_Be15	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be16	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be17	skin sponge	B1							_							
EM1_Be18	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be19	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be20	skin sponge	B1						_								
EM1_Be21	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be22	skin sponge	B1						_								
EM1_Be23	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be24	skin sponge	B1														
EM1_Be25	skin sponge	D														

Table S2 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from beef source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Wb1	diaphragm	B2														
EM1_Wb2	diaphragm	unknown														
EM1_Wb3	diaphragm	B2														
EM1_Wb4	diaphragm	Е														
EM1_Wb5	diaphragm	B1														
EM1_Wb6	diaphragm	Ε														
EM1_Wb7	diaphragm	Ε														
EM1_Wb8	diaphragm	Ε														
EM1_Wb9	diaphragm	B2														
EM1_Wb10	diaphragm	B2														
EM1_Wb11	diaphragm	B1														
EM1_Wb12	diaphragm	unknown														
EM1_Wb13	diaphragm	Ε														
EM1_Wb14	diaphragm	Ε														
EM1_Wb15	diaphragm	B2														
EM1_Wb16	diaphragm	B1														
EM1_Wb17	diaphragm	B2														
EM1_Wb18	diaphragm	Ε														
EM1_Wb19	diaphragm	Ε														
EM1_Wb20	diaphragm	Ε									_		_		_	
EM1_Wb21	diaphragm	Ε							_							
EM1_Wb22	diaphragm	Ε			_						_				_	
EM1_Wb23	diaphragm	unknown														
EM1_Wb24	diaphragm	clade I-II														
EM1_Wb25	diaphragm	clade I-II														

Table S3 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from wild boar source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	ТЕ	COL	ESBL
EM1_Ve1	spinach (RTE)	B1														
EM1_Ve2	celery	B1									-					
EM1_Ve3	rosemary (RTE)	E														
EM1_Ve4	arthicoke	B1														
EM1_Ve5	arugula (RTE)	unknown				_										
EM1_Ve6	artichoke	А														
EM1_Ve7	spinach	B1														
EM1_Ve8	parsley	B1														
EM1_Ve9	celery	B1														
EM1_Ve10	gentile salad	B1														
EM1_Ve11	roman salad	B2														
EM1_Ve12	spinach	B1														
EM1_Ve13	arugula (RTE)	B1														
EM1_Ve14	parsley	B1														
EM1_Ve15	celery	С									_					
EM1_Ve16	spinach	unknown														
EM1_Ve17	rosemary (RTE)	B1														
EM1_Ve18	rosemary (RTE)	B1														
EM1_Ve19	salad "roman"	B1														
EM1_Ve20	arugula (RTE)	B1														
EM1_Ve21	rosemary (RTE)	С									_					
EM1_Ve22	spinach	С											_		_	
EM1_Ve23	spinach (RTE)	С														
EM1_Ve24	parsley	С														
EM1_Ve25	rosemary (RTE)	С														

Table S4 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from vegetable source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Fs1	Salmo trutta	А														
EM1_Fs2	Salmo trutta	B1														
EM1_Fs3	Dicentrarchus labrax	С														
EM1_Fs4	Salmo salar	А														
EM1_Fs5	Engraulis encrasicolus	B1														
EM1_Fs6	Sardina pilchardus	С														
EM1_Fs7	Dicentrarchus labrax	А														
EM1_Fs8	Salmo salar	А														
EM1_Fs9	Sardina pilchardus	А														
EM1_Fs10	Engraulis encrasicolus	А														
EM1_Fs11	Trachurus Trachurus	E														
EM1_Fs12	Salmo salar	А														
EM1_Fs13	Mullus surmuletus	С														
EM1_Fs14	Sardina pilchardus	С														
EM1_Fs15	Sparus aurata	E														
EM1_Fs16	Sarpa salpa	А									_					
EM1_Fs17	Platichthys flesus	А						_								
EM1_Fs18	Sparus aurata	B1														
EM1_Fs19	Trisopterus capelanus	E														
EM1_Fs20	Engraulis encrasicolus	А											_			
EM1_Fs21	Sparus aurata	B1														
EM1_Fs22	Salmo trutta	B2				_		_					_			
EM1_Fs23	Engraulis encrasicolus	B1														
EM1_Fs24	Sardina pilchardus	B2														
EM1_Fs25	Gobius paganellus	С														

Table S5 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from fishery source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Ca13	faeces	B1														
EM1_Ca14	faeces	B2														
EM1_Ca15	faeces	С														
EM1_Ca16	faeces	B1													_	
EM1_Ca17	faeces	B2														
EM1_Ca18	faeces	B2														
EM1_Ca19	faeces	B1														
EM1_Ca20	faeces	B1				_		_			_		_			
EM1_Ca21	faeces	B1													_	
EM1_Ca22	faeces	С														
EM1_Ca23	faeces	E			_										_	
EM1_Ca24	faeces	B1														
EM1_Ca25	faeces	E														

Table S6 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from companion animal source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Sw1	faeces	С														
EM1_Sw2	faeces	B1														
EM1_Sw3	faeces	А														
EM1_Sw4	faeces	E									_					
EM1_Sw5	faeces	А														
EM1_Sw6	faeces	B1														
EM1_Sw7	faeces	А														
EM1_Sw8	faeces	А														
EM1_Sw9	faeces	А														
EM1_Sw10	faeces	С							_							
EM1_Sw11	faeces	А														
EM1_Sw12	faeces	B1														
EM1_Sw13	faeces	B1														
EM1_Sw14	faeces	С														
EM1_Sw15	faeces	B1														
EM1_Sw16	faeces	С														
EM1_Sw17	faeces	С														
EM1_Sw18	faeces	С														
EM1_Sw19	faeces	С														
EM1_Sw20	muscle	B1				_										
EM1_Sw21	sausage	B1														
EM1_Sw22	meat	B1														
EM1_Sw23	meat	С														
EM1_Sw24	minced meat	А							_		_					
EM1_Sw25	meat	А														

Table S7 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from swine source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Pl1	breast	С														
EM1_Pl2	thigh	B1														
EM1_Pl3	thigh	B1														
EM1_Pl4	thigh	B2													_	
EM1_Pl5	wing	F														
EM1_Pl6	wing	С														
EM1_Pl7	breast	E														
EM1_Pl8	hamburger	С														
EM1_Pl9	thigh	С														
EM1_Pl10	faeces	B1														
EM1_Pl11	meat	А									_				_	
EM1_Pl12	faeces	unknown														
EM1_Pl13	breast	С														
EM1_Pl14	thigh	F														
EM1_Pl15	hamburger	B1									_					
EM1_Pl16	wing	B1														
EM1_Pl17	wing	А														
EM1_Pl18	breast	E							_							
EM1_Pl19	thigh	F														
EM1_Pl20	breast	С													_	
EM1_Pl21	thigh	F														
EM1_Pl22	hamburger	F														
EM1_Pl23	breast	С														
EM1_Pl24	thigh	С									_					
EM1_Pl25	wing	B1														

Table S8 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from poultry source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Rb1	intestine	B1														
EM1_Rb2	intestine	B1														
EM1_Rb3	intestine	B1														
EM1_Rb4	intestine	B1														
EM1_Rb5	intestine	B1														
EM1_Rb6	intestine	B1			_											
EM1_Rb7	intestine	B1														_
EM1_Rb8	intestine	B1														
EM1_Rb9	intestine	B1			_											
EM1_Rb10	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb11	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb12	meat	B1			_										_	
EM1_Rb13	meat	D														
EM1_Rb14	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb15	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb16	liver	B1														
EM1_Rb17	meat	D														
EM1_Rb18	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb19	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb20	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb21	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb22	meat	B1														
EM1_Rb23	intestine	B2														
EM1_Rb24	intestine	B1														
EM1_Rb25	intestine	B1														

Table S9 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from rabbit source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Mo1	mussel	С														
EM1_Mo2	mussel	D														
EM1_Mo3	mussel	С														
EM1_Mo4	mussel	D														
EM1_Mo5	clam	С														
EM1_Mo6	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo7	clam	А														
EM1_Mo8	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo9	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo10	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo11	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo12	mussel	B1														
EM1_Mo13	mussel	B1														
EM1_Mo14	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo15	clam	А														
EM1_Mo16	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo17	mussel	B1														
EM1_Mo18	mussel	B1														
EM1_Mo19	mussel	B1														
EM1_Mo20	clam	B1														
EM1_Mo21	clam	E														
EM1_Mo22	clam	С														
EM1_Mo23	clam	B1			_											
EM1_Mo24	clam	D														
EM1_Mo25	clam	B1														

Table S10 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from mollusc source.

Strain	Matrices	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	TE	COL	ESBL
EM1_Hu1	faeces	А														
EM1_Hu2	faeces	B2														
EM1_Hu3	faeces	F														
EM1_Hu4	faeces	Е			_											
EM1_Hu5	faeces	А													_	
EM1_Hu6	faeces	F														
EM1_Hu7	faeces	С														
EM1_Hu8	faeces	Е											_			
EM1_Hu9	faeces	D														
EM1_Hu10	faeces	А														
EM1_Hu11	faeces	С														
EM1_Hu12	faeces	F														
EM1_Hu13	faeces	B1														
EM1_Hu14	faeces	А			_											
EM1_Hu15	faeces	B1														
EM1_Hu16	faeces	F														
EM1_Hu17	faeces	B2														
EM1_Hu18	faeces	А									_					
EM1_Hu19	faeces	F						_								
EM1_Hu20	faeces	А														
EM1_Hu21	faeces	F														
EM1_Hu22	faeces	С														
EM1_Hu23	faeces	Е														
EM1_Hu24	faeces	D														
EM1_Hu25	faeces	F														

Table S11 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from human source.

Strain	Animal	Phylogroup	AMP	NA	EFT	CAZ	С	ENR	CN	S	MEM	ST	SXT	ТЕ	COL	ESBL
EM1_Wa1	seagull	С														
EM1_Wa2	seagull	B1														
EM1_Wa3	heron	B1														
EM1_Wa4	roe deer	B2														
EM1_Wa5	Podiceps spp.	B1														
EM1_Wa6	roe deer	B1														
EM1_Wa7	fox	B1									_					
EM1_Wa8	roe deer	С														
EM1_Wa9	fox	B1														
EM1_Wa10	dolphin	А														
EM1_Wa11	fox	B1														
EM1_Wa12	badger	B1														
EM1_Wa13	fox	B2														
EM1_Wa14	fox	B1														
EM1_Wa15	fallow deer	B1														
EM1_Wa16	fallow deer	B1														
EM1_Wa17	carrion crow	B1											_			
EM1_Wa18	magpie	B1														
EM1_Wa19	magpie	B1														
EM1_Wa20	fallow deer	B1														
EM1_Wa21	turtledove	B1														
EM1_Wa22	turtledove	B1											_			
EM1_Wa23	stork	F														
EM1_Wa24	magpie	B2											_			
EM1_Wa25	pheasant	B1														

Table S12 Antimicrobic resistance pattern of *E. coli* isolated from wild animal source. Matrices: miscellaneous.

Strain	Source	Matrice	Sequence type	Serotype	NCBI ID
EM1_Da1	dairy	milk	1510	093:H19	SAMN11246364
EM1_Da2	dairy	in-line milk filter	Novel	088:H8	SAMN11246365
EM1_Da3	dairy	in-line milk filter	Novel	088:H31	SAMN11246366
EM1_Da4	dairy	in-line milk filter	398	08:H20	SAMN11246367
EM1_Da5	dairy	faeces	Novel	0123:H16	SAMN11246368
EM1_Da6	dairy	milk	10	ONT:H12	SAMN11246369
EM1_Da7	dairy	in-line milk filter	Novel	051:H37	SAMN11246370
EM1_Da8	dairy	milk	10	0107:HNT	SAMN11246371
EM1_Da9	dairy	milk	583	071:H6	SAMN11246372
EM1_Da10	dairy	milk	1510	093:H19	SAMN11246373
EM1_Da11	dairy	intestine	1303	ONT:H18	SAMN11246374
EM1_Da12	dairy	intestine	58	ONT:H27	SAMN11246375
EM1_Da13	dairy	faeces	155	08:H21	SAMN11246376
EM1_Da14	dairy	faeces	155	ONT:H45	SAMN11246377
EM1_Da15	dairy	faeces	155	ONT:H45	SAMN11246378
EM1_Da16	dairy	faeces	69	015:H18	SAMN11246379
EM1_Da17	dairy	faeces	1510	093:H19	SAMN11246380
EM1_Da18	dairy	faeces	278	0105:H7	SAMN11246381
EM1_Da19	dairy	faeces	1091	O53:H10	SAMN11246382
EM1_Da20	dairy	faeces	278	0105:H7	SAMN11246383
EM1_Da21	dairy	milk	731	015:H40	SAMN11246384
EM1_Da22	dairy	intestine	10	089*/0162:H9	SAMN11246385
EM1_Da23	dairy	milk	2328	054:H2	SAMN11246386
EM1_Da24	dairy	caciotta cheese	216	03:H4	SAMN11246387
EM1_Da25	dairy	milk	1125	0139:H19	SAMN11246388
EM1_Be1	beef	faeces	297	ONT:H37	SAMN11246389
EM1_Be2	beef	minced meat	10	013-053*/013_0135- 053*:H10-H11	SAMN11246390
EM1_Be3	beef	muscle	392	0109:H2	SAMN11246391
EM1_Be4	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246392
EM1_Be5	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246393
EM1_Be6	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246394
EM1_Be7	beef	carcass sponge	6345	083:H7	SAMN11246395
EM1_Be8	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246396
EM1_Be9	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246397
EM1_Be10	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246398
EM1_Be11	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246399
EM1_Be12	beef	carcass sponge	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246400
EM1_Be13	beef	faeces	2178	0170:H49	SAMN11246401
EM1_Be14	beef	carcass sponge	906	074:H8	SAMN11246402
EM1_Be15	beef	carcass sponge	906	074:H8	SAMN11246403
EM1_Be16	beef	carcass sponge	2280	0185:H16	SAMN11246404
EM1_Be17	beef	carcass sponge	187	0110:H2	SAMN11246405
EM1_Be18	beef	carcass sponge	1665	ONT:H2	SAMN11246406
EM1_Be19	beef	carcass sponge	58	058:H40	SAMN11246407
EM1_Be21	beef	carcass sponge	154	0154:H38	SAMN11246409

Table S13 Details of the strain collection.

Strain	Source	Matrice	Sequence type	Serotype	NCBI ID
EM1_Be22	beef	carcass sponge	101	0174:H40	SAMN11246410
EM1_Be23	beef	carcass sponge	1463	018ac*/018*:H7	SAMN11246411
EM1_Be24	beef	carcass sponge	58	ONT:H12	SAMN11246412
EM1_Be25	beef	carcass sponge	1665	ONT:H2	SAMN11246413
EM1_Wb1	wild boar	diaphragm	3553	0105:H32	SAMN11246414
EM1_Wb3	wild boar	diaphragm	141	02:H6	SAMN11246416
EM1_Wb4	wild boar	diaphragm	Novel	0151:H20	SAMN11246417
EM1_Wb5	wild boar	diaphragm	4623	ONT:H16	SAMN11246418
EM1_Wb6	wild boar	diaphragm	69*	017/044/077:H18	SAMN11246419
EM1_Wb7	wild boar	diaphragm	5913	087:H19	SAMN11246420
EM1_Wb8	wild boar	diaphragm	69*	017/044/077:H18	SAMN11246421
EM1_Wb9	wild boar	diaphragm	681	08:H10	SAMN11246422
EM1_Wb10	wild boar	diaphragm	680	0169:H1	SAMN11246423
EM1_Wb11	wild boar	diaphragm	13	049:H10	SAMN11246424
EM1_Wb12	wild boar	diaphragm	201	08:H19	SAMN11246425
EM1_Wb13	wild boar	diaphragm	5597	075:H31	SAMN11246426
EM1_Wb14	wild boar	diaphragm	973	011:H15	SAMN11246427
EM1_Wb15	wild boar	diaphragm	134*	ONT:H10	SAMN11246428
EM1_Wb16	wild boar	diaphragm	2522	ONT:H8	SAMN11246429
EM1_Wb17	wild boar	diaphragm	1170	ONT:H4	SAMN11246430
EM1_Wb18	wild boar	diaphragm	5597	075:H31	SAMN11246431
EM1_Wb19	wild boar	diaphragm	4541	0146:H28	SAMN11246432
EM1_Wb20	wild boar	diaphragm	Novel	09:H31	SAMN11246433
EM1_Wb21	wild boar	diaphragm	117	024:H4	SAMN11246434
EM1_Wb22	wild boar	diaphragm	Novel	ONT:H9	SAMN11246435
EM1_Wb23	wild boar	diaphragm	162	029:H9	SAMN11246436
EM1_Ve1	vegetable	spinach (RTE)	2280	0185:H16	SAMN11246439
EM1_Ve2	vegetable	celery	708	08:H19	SAMN11246440
EM1_Ve3	vegetable	rosemary (RTE)	1508	0172:H45	SAMN11246441
EM1_Ve4	vegetable	arthicoke	2313	ONT:H7	SAMN11246442
EM1_Ve5	vegetable	arugula (RTE)	1819	0166:H28	SAMN11246443
EM1_Ve6	vegetable	artichoke	191	048:H20	SAMN11246444
EM1_Ve7	vegetable	spinach	2005	ONT:H7	SAMN11246445
EM1_Ve8	vegetable	parsley	2161	0180:H14	SAMN11246446
EM1_Ve9	vegetable	celery	602	ONT:H21	SAMN11246447
EM1_Ve10	vegetable	gentile salad	348	0181:H28	SAMN11246448
EM1_Ve11	vegetable	roman salad	3601	08:H6	SAMN11246449
EM1_Ve12	vegetable	spinach	5296	0112ac:H20	SAMN11246450
EM1_Ve13	vegetable	arugula (RTE)	278*	0153_0178:H7	SAMN11246451
EM1_Ve14	vegetable	parsley	13	ONT:H10	SAMN11246452
EM1_Ve15	vegetable	celery	10	0113:H4	SAMN11246453
EM1_Ve17	vegetable	spinach	56	038:H21	SAMN11246455
EM1_Ve18	vegetable	rosemary (RTE)	40	0109:H21	SAMN11246456
EM1_Ve19	vegetable	rosemary (RTE)	164	ONT:H8	SAMN11246457
EM1_Ve20	vegetable	roman salad	3574	0105:H23	SAMN11246458
EM1_Ve21	vegetable	arugula (RTE)	48	081:H11	SAMN11246459

Strain	Source	Matrice	Sequence type	Serotype	NCBI ID
EM1_Ve22	vegetable	rosemary (RTE)	6223	021:H12	SAMN11246460
EM1_Ve23	vegetable	spinach	34	062:H30	SAMN11246461
EM1_Ve24	vegetable	spinach (RTE)	88	09:H19	SAMN11246462
EM1_Ve25	vegetable	parsley	48*	0184:H11	SAMN11246463
EM1_Fs1	vegetable	rosemary (RTE)	540	O9:H30	SAMN11246464
EM1_Fs2	fishery	Salmo trutta	446	013353_0103*/ 0103* :H21	SAMN11246465
EM1_Fs3	fishery	Dicentrarchus labrax	88	08:H17	SAMN11246466
EM1_Fs4	fishery	Salmo salar	216	010:H26	SAMN11246467
EM1_Fs5	fishery	Engraulis encrasicolus	2073	0180:H14	SAMN11246468
EM1_Fs6	fishery	Sardina pilchardus	34	O62:H30	SAMN11246469
EM1_Fs7	fishery	Dicentrarchus labrax	399	015:H12	SAMN11246470
EM1_Fs8	fishery	Salmo salar	399	015:H12	SAMN11246471
EM1_Fs9	fishery	Sardina pilchardus	635	08*/040:H25	SAMN11246472
EM1_Fs10	fishery	Engraulis encrasicolus	216	07:H39	SAMN11246473
EM1_Fs11	fishery	Trachurus Trachurus	1140	O38:H39	SAMN11246474
EM1_Fs12	fishery	Salmo salar	635	08*/040:H25	SAMN11246475
EM1_Fs13	fishery	Mullus surmuletus	1137	021:H25	SAMN11246476
EM1_Fs14	fishery	Sardina pilchardus	1137	021:H25	SAMN11246477
EM1_Fs15	fishery	Sparus aurata	132	ONT:H1	SAMN11246478
EM1_Fs16	fishery	Sarpa salpa	216	07:H39	SAMN11246479
EM1_Fs17	fishery	Platichthys flesus	216	019:H4	SAMN11246480
EM1_Fs18	fishery	Sparus aurata	212	018ac*/018*:H49	SAMN11246481
EM1_Fs19	fishery	Trisopterus capelanus	973	011:H15	SAMN11246482
EM1_Fs20	fishery	Engraulis encrasicolus	1408	013:H30	SAMN11246483
EM1_Fs22	fishery	Salmo trutta	3910	08:H33	SAMN11246485
EM1_Fs23	fishery	Engraulis encrasicolus	Novel	0112ac:H16	SAMN11246486
EM1_Fs24	fishery	Sardina pilchardus	Novel	08/030:H10	SAMN11246487
EM1_Fs25	fishery	Gobius paganellus	783	083:H9	SAMN11246488
EM1_Ca13	dog	faeces	155	086:H51	SAMN11246489
EM1_Ca15	dog	faeces	10	ONT:H16	SAMN11246501
EM1_Ca16	dog	faeces	327	023:H8	SAMN11246503
EM1_Ca17	dog	faeces	80	075:H7	SAMN11246504
EM1_Ca18	dog	faeces	372	02:H31	SAMN11246505
EM1_Ca19	dog	faeces	2521	ONT:H7	SAMN11246506
EM1_Ca20	dog	faeces	297	0149:H45	SAMN11246507
EM1_Ca21	dog	faeces	212	018ac*/018*:H49	SAMN11246508
EM1_Ca22	dog	faeces	410	08:H9	SAMN11246509
EM1_Ca23	dog	faeces	1629	ONT:H31	SAMN11246510
EM1_Ca24	cat	faeces	58	09:H9	SAMN11246511
EM1_Ca25	cat	faeces	297	049:H49	SAMN11246512
EM1_Sw1	swine	faeces	10	016:H48	SAMN11246513
EM1_Sw2	swine	faeces	641	09/030:H25	SAMN11246514
EM1_Sw3	swine	faeces	3744	0157:H42	SAMN11246515
EM1_Sw4	swine	faeces	5759	ONT:H20	SAMN11246516
EM1_Sw5	swine	faeces	100	0149:H10	SAMN11246517

Strain	Source	Matrice	Sequence type	Serotype	NCBI ID
EM1_Sw6	swine	faeces	20	0177:H49	SAMN11246519
EM1_Sw7	swine	faeces	faeces 100		SAMN11246520
EM1_Sw8	swine	faeces	10	098:H12	SAMN11246521
EM1_Sw9	swine	faeces	10	098:H12	SAMN11246522
EM1_Sw10	swine	faeces	206	ONT:H5	SAMN11246523
EM1_Sw11	swine	faeces	871	016:H5	SAMN11246524
EM1_Sw12	swine	faeces	641	O45:H10	SAMN11246525
EM1_Sw13	swine	faeces	410	015:H12	SAMN11246526
EM1_Sw14	swine	faeces	10	098:H12	SAMN11246527
EM1_Sw15	swine	faeces	7093	08:H14	SAMN11246528
EM1_Sw16	swine	faeces	410*	015:H12	SAMN11246529
EM1_Sw17	swine	faeces	10	089*/0162:H9	SAMN11246530
EM1_Sw18	swine	faeces	88	08/0160:H4	SAMN11246531
EM1_Sw19	swine	faeces	10*	098:H12	SAMN11246532
EM1_Sw20	swine	muscle	101	0109:H40	SAMN11246533
EM1_Sw21	swine	sausage	101	ONT:H21	SAMN11246534
EM1_Sw22	swine	meat	795	076:H7	SAMN11246535
EM1_Sw23	swine	meat	10	069:H32	SAMN11246536
EM1_Sw24	swine	minced meat	1434*	08*/040:H27	SAMN11246537
EM1_Sw25	swine	meat	399	025:H12	SAMN11246538
EM1_Pl1	poultry	breast	23	078:H4	SAMN11246539
EM1_Pl2	poultry	thigh	101	088:H8	SAMN11246540
EM1_Pl3	poultry	thigh	359	0115:H21	SAMN11246541
EM1_Pl4	poultry	thigh	131	025:H4	SAMN11246542
EM1_Pl5	poultry	wing	117	0143:H4	SAMN11246543
EM1_Pl6	poultry	wing	744	089*/0162:H9	SAMN11246544
EM1_Pl7	poultry	breast	57	011:H25	SAMN11246545
EM1_Pl8	poultry	hamburger	23	078:H4	SAMN11246546
EM1_Pl9	poultry	thigh	48	08/0152:H11	SAMN11246547
EM1_Pl10	poultry	faeces	162	08/0134*/046*:H19	SAMN11246548
EM1_Pl11	poultry	meat	10*	016:H48	SAMN11246549
EM1_Pl12	poultry	faeces	155	08:H20	SAMN11246550
EM1_Pl13	poultry	breast	23	078:H4	SAMN11246551
EM1_Pl14	poultry	thigh	117	0161:H4	SAMN11246552
EM1_Pl15	poultry	hamburger	2614	0138:H28	SAMN11246553
EM1_Pl16	poultry	wing	297	0149:H8	SAMN11246554
EM1_Pl17	poultry	wing	93	07:H4	SAMN11246555
EM1_Pl18	poultry	breast	69	017/044/077:H18	SAMN11246556
EM1_Pl19	poultry	thigh	117	0102:H4	SAMN11246557
EM1_Pl20	poultry	breast	1286	016:H32	SAMN11246558
EM1_Pl21	poultry	thigh	117	035:H4	SAMN11246559
EM1_Pl22	poultry	hamburger	117	0161:H4	SAMN11246560
EM1_Pl23	poultry	breast	10	ONT:H48	SAMN11246561
EM1_Pl24	poultry	thigh	48*	025*:H11	SAMN11246562
EM1_Pl25	poultry	wing	155	029:H10	SAMN11246563
EM1_Rb1	rabbit	intestine	40	0109:H21	SAMN11246564

Strain	Source	Matrice	Sequence type	Serotype	NCBI ID
EM1_Rb2	rabbit	intestine	20	54Cigleris_0128ab*/0128ac* :H2	SAMN11246565
EM1_Rb3	rabbit	intestine	40	0109:H21	SAMN11246566
EM1_Rb4	rabbit	intestine	20	54Cigleris_0128ab*/0128ac* :H2	SAMN11246567
EM1_Rb5	rabbit	intestine	1642	08:H7	SAMN11246568
EM1_Rb6	rabbit	intestine	40	0109:H21	SAMN11246569
EM1_Rb7	rabbit	intestine	20	0145:H2	SAMN11246570
EM1_Rb8	rabbit	intestine	1611	0125ab:H19	SAMN11246571
EM1_Rb9	rabbit	intestine	297	085:H8	SAMN11246572
EM1_Rb10	rabbit	meat	533	076:H14	SAMN11246573
EM1_Rb11	rabbit	meat	20	049:H2	SAMN11246574
EM1_Rb12	rabbit	meat	129	O104:H7	SAMN11246575
EM1_Rb13	rabbit	meat	706*	085:H1	SAMN11246576
EM1_Rb14	rabbit	meat	906	O150:H8	SAMN11246577
EM1_Rb16	rabbit	liver	351	018ac*/018*:H7	SAMN11246579
EM1_Rb17	rabbit	meat	501	017/044/077:H1	SAMN11246580
EM1_Rb18	rabbit	meat	224	0102:H23	SAMN11246581
EM1 Rb19	rabbit	meat	111	O8:H49	SAMN11246582
EM1 Rb20	rabbit	meat	539	ONT:H28	SAMN11246583
EM1 Rb21	rabbit	meat	1431	08:H19	SAMN11246584
EM1 Rb22	rabbit	meat	40	0109:H21	SAMN11246585
EM1 Rb23	rabbit	intestine	491	054:H45	SAMN11246586
EM1 Rb24	rabbit	intestine	1727	083:H7	SAMN11246587
EM1 Mo1	mollusc	mussel	10	O9:H9	SAMN11246589
EM1 Mo2	mollusc	mussel	69	015:H6	SAMN11246590
EM1 Mo3	mollusc	mussel	23	O8:H30	SAMN11246591
EM1 Mo4	mollusc	mussel	1406	051:H14	SAMN11246592
EM1 Mo5	mollusc	clam	10	013:H11	SAMN11246593
EM1 Mo6	mollusc	clam	661	0174:H2	SAMN11246594
EM1 Mo7	mollusc	clam	540	O9:H30	SAMN11246595
EM1 Mo8	mollusc	clam	3576*	08/0113:H7	SAMN11246596
EM1 Mo9	mollusc	clam	345	08/0134*/046*:H21	SAMN11246597
EM1 Mo10	mollusc	clam	2521	0147:H7	SAMN11246598
EM1 Mo11	mollusc	clam	442	091:H21	SAMN11246599
EM1 Mo12	mollusc	mussel	6188	ONT:H8	SAMN11246600
EM1 Mo13	mollusc	mussel	6096	039:H28	SAMN11246601
EM1 Mo14	mollusc	clam	4481	ONT:H7	SAMN11246602
EM1 Mo15	mollusc	clam	398	0159:H21	SAMN11246603
EM1 Mo16	mollusc	clam	4088	0113:H7	SAMN11246604
EM1 Mo17	mollusc	mussel	602	ONT:H21	SAMN11246605
EM1 Mo18	mollusc	mussel	446	ONT:H8	SAMN11246606
EM1 Mo19	mollusc	mussel	Novel	0148:H8	SAMN11246607
EM1 Mo20	mollusc	clam	2768	065:H19	SAMN11246608
EM1 Mo21	mollusc	clam	69	015:H18	SAMN11246609
EM1 Mo22	mollusc	clam	34	092.H33	SAMN11246610

Strain	Source	Matrice	Sequence type	Serotype	NCBI ID
EM1_Mo23	mollusc	clam	101	055:H12	SAMN11246611
EM1_Mo24	mollusc	clam	69	025:H4	SAMN11246612
EM1_Mo25	mollusc	clam	942	039:H28	SAMN11246613
EM1_Hu1	human	faeces	Novel	07:H4	SAMN11246614
EM1_Hu2	human	faeces	95	01:H7	SAMN11246615
EM1_Hu3	human	faeces	59	01:H7	SAMN11246616
EM1_Hu4	human	faeces	69	015:H18	SAMN11246617
EM1_Hu5	human	faeces	165	080:H19	SAMN11246618
EM1_Hu6	human	faeces	657	0183:H18	SAMN11246619
EM1 Hu7	human	faeces	10*	078:H12	SAMN11246620
EM1_Hu8	human	faeces	543	0169:H9	SAMN11246621
EM1_Hu9	human	faeces	69	015:H18	SAMN11246622
EM1_Hu10	human	faeces	Novel	0159:H5	SAMN11246623
EM1_Hu11	human	faeces	48	088:H5	SAMN11246624
EM1_Hu12	human	faeces	420*	0134*/046*:H31	SAMN11246625
EM1_Hu13	human	faeces	20	54Cigleris_0128ab*/ 0128ac*:H2	SAMN11246626
EM1_Hu14	human	faeces	398	08:H20	SAMN11246627
EM1_Hu15	human	faeces	155	FJ539194_028ac_042*/ 028ac_042*:H21	SAMN11246628
EM1_Hu16	human	faeces	59	01:H7	SAMN11246629
EM1_Hu17	human	faeces	95	01:H7	SAMN11246630
EM1_Hu18	human	faeces	1072	04:H4	SAMN11246631
EM1_Hu19	human	faeces	59	01:H7	SAMN11246632
EM1_Hu20	human	faeces	Novel	0187:H11	SAMN11246633
EM1_Hu21	human	faeces	457	011:H25	SAMN11246634
EM1_Hu22	human	faeces	10	0168:H4	SAMN11246635
EM1_Hu23	human	faeces	405	0102:H6	SAMN11246636
EM1_Hu24	human	faeces	69	08*/025:H4	SAMN11246637
EM1_Hu25	human	faeces	59	01:H7	SAMN11246638
EM1_Wa1	seagull	miscellaneous	23	08/0160:H12	SAMN11246639
EM1_Wa2	seagull	miscellaneous	4388	0180:H14	SAMN11246640
EM1_Wa3	heron	miscellaneous	155	0109:H51	SAMN11246641
EM1_Wa4	roe deer	miscellaneous	7900	08/0147:H5	SAMN11246642
EM1_Wa5	Podiceps spp.	miscellaneous	162*	045:H2	SAMN11246643
EM1_Wa6	roe deer	miscellaneous	2614	0138:H28	SAMN11246644
EM1_Wa7	fox	miscellaneous	2602	08:H16	SAMN11246645
EM1_Wa8	roe deer	miscellaneous	23	08/08:H9	SAMN11246646
EM1_Wa9	fox	miscellaneous	2522	ONT:H8	SAMN11246647
EM1_Wa10	dolphin	miscellaneous	216	07:H39	SAMN11246648
EM1_Wa11	fox	miscellaneous	4054	088:H28	SAMN11246649
EM1_Wa12	badger	miscellaneous	2354	0103:H21	SAMN11246650
EM1_Wa13	fox	miscellaneous	136	08:H10	SAMN11246651
EM1 Wa14	fox	miscellaneous	5177*	088:H25	SAMN11246652
EM1 Wa15	fallow deer	miscellaneous	Novel	ONT:H19	SAMN11246653
EM1_Wa16	fallow deer	miscellaneous	392	08:H2	SAMN11246654
_ EM1_Wa17	carrion crow	miscellaneous	4392	0149:H8	SAMN11246655

Strain	Source	Matrice	Sequence type	Serotype	NCBI ID
EM1_Wa18	magpie	miscellaneous	847	ONT:H2	SAMN11246656
EM1_Wa19	magpie	miscellaneous	4198	075:H38	SAMN11246657
EM1_Wa20	fallow deer	miscellaneous	196	08:H7	SAMN11246658
EM1_Wa21	turtledove	miscellaneous	2521	ONT:H7	SAMN11246659
EM1_Wa22	turtledove	miscellaneous	20	54Cigleris_0128ab* /0128ac*:H2	SAMN11246660
EM1_Wa23	stork	miscellaneous	648	025:H4	SAMN11246661
EM1_Wa24	magpie	miscellaneous	5825	0148:H39	SAMN11246662
EM1_Wa25	pheasant	miscellaneous	155	037:H10	SAMN11246663